Programming and Software Reference LMD MCode

LMD MDrive Motion Control LMD MDrive Ethernet TCP/IP LMD Motion Module

Publication LMD-MCODE-V2.06 03/2022







The information provided in this documentation contains general descriptions and/or technical characteristics of the performance of the products contained herein. This documentation is not intended as a substitute for and is not to be used for determining suitability or reliability of these products for specific user applications. It is the duty of any such user or integrator to perform the appropriate and complete risk analysis, evaluation and testing of the products with respect to the relevant specific application or use thereof.

Neither Novanta IMS nor any of its affiliates or subsidiaries shall be responsible or liable for misuse of the information contained herein. If you have any suggestions for improvements or amendments or have found errors in this publication, please notify us.

You agree not to reproduce, other than for your own personal, noncommercial use, all or part of this document on any medium whatsoever without permission of Novanta IMS, given in writing. You also agree not to establish any hypertext links to this document or its content.

Novanta IMS does not grant any right or license for the personal and noncommercial use of the document or its content, except for a non-exclusive license to consult it on an "as is" basis, at your own risk. All other rights are reserved.

All pertinent state, regional, and local safety regulations must be observed when installing and using this product. For reasons of safety and to help ensure compliance with documented system data, only the manufacturer should perform repairs to components.

When devices are used for applications with technical safety requirements, the relevant instructions must be followed. Failure to use Novanta IMS software or approved software with our hardware products may result in injury, harm, or improper operating results.

Failure to observe this information can result in injury or equipment damage.

For information on the availability of products, go to https://novantaims.com/

The information contained in the present document is subject to change without notice. The technical characteristics of the devices described in the present document also appear online. The characteristics that are presented in the present document should be the same as those characteristics that appear online. In line with our policy of constant improvement, we may revise content over time to improve clarity and accuracy. If there is a difference between the document and online information, use the online information as reference. All details provided are technical data which do not constitute warranted qualities.

Some of the product designations are registered trademarks of their respective owners, even if this is not explicitly indicated.

Table of Contents

		•
Safety Info	ormation	5
About this	s Manual	9
	Writing Conventions and Symbols	9
	Documents and Software	
	Website Directory	11
Chapter 1	Introduction to LMD MCode	12
	Operational Modes	
	Basic Components of LMD MCode	13
	Program Structuring	
	Commonly Used Variables and Instructions	17
Chapter 2	Command Summary	26
	Command Compatibility	
	Math Functions	
	Commands	33
	Math, Logic, and Trigonometric Operators	122
Chapter 3	Software, Programming, and Application Notes	131
	LMD Software Suite (LSS)	132
	Party Mode Communications	
	Programming the I/O	
	Factors Impacting Motion Commands	
	LMM PWM Configuration	148
Chapter 4	Hybrid Motion Technology (hMT)	152
	hMT Overview	153
	hMT Modes of Operation	155
	Position Make-up	
	Locked Rotor	
	hMT Specific Error Codes	
	Glossary of Terms	
Appendix	A Sample Programs	161
	Move on an Input	
	Change Velocity During a Move	
	Binary Mask	
	Closed Loop	
	Oleand Lean with Llaming	
	Input Inp	
	Analog Speed Control	170 171
	Analog Slew with Stall Detect	171
	Analog olew with otall delect	112

Multiple Position Trips	
Analog to Time Delay	176
MDrive Input Test	
MDrive Output Test	177
Trip on Falling and Rising Edge	
Trip on Time	179
Appendix B Error Codes	180
LMD Error Codes	
LMD Motion Module Error Codes	

Important Information

NOTICE Read these instructions carefully, and look at the equipment to become familiar with the device before trying to install, operate, service, or maintain it. The following special messages may appear throughout this documentation or on the equipment to warn of potential hazards or to call attention to information that clarifies or simplifies a procedure.



The addition of this symbol to a "Danger" or "Warning" safety label or message indicates that an electrical hazard exists which will result in personal injury if the instructions are not followed.



This is the safety alert symbol. It is used to alert of potential personal injury hazards. Obey all safety messages and labels that follow this symbol to avoid possible injury or death.

A DANGER

DANGER indicates a hazardous situation which, if not avoided, **will result** in death or serious injury.

A WARNING

WARNING indicates a hazardous situation which, if not avoided, **could result** in death or serious injury.

ACAUTION

CAUTION indicates a hazardous situation which, if not avoided, **could result** in minor or moderate injury.

NOTICE

NOTICE is used to address practices not related to physical injury.

CyberSecurity Standards and Certification

Novanta IMS follows local regulations and uses additional industry established frameworks to conform to cyber security standards. Novanta IMS also takes an active part in the evolution of today's industrial cyber security standards, contributing to these standards and frameworks.

In accordance with US California Senate Bill No. 327, and under direct guidance from Novanta, Novanta IMS has implemented a level of cyber-secure protection in the Ethernetbased Liberty MDrive (LMD) product line in order to protect these devices from outside cyber attacks. By choosing to disable these features, the user is acknowledging their acceptance of potential unauthorized outside access.

Qualification of Personnel

Electrical equipment should be installed, operated, serviced, and maintained only by qualified personnel. No responsibility is assumed by Novanta IMS for any consequences arising out of the use of this material.

A qualified person is one who has skills and knowledge related to the construction and operation of electrical equipment and its installation, and has received safety training to recognize and avoid the hazards involved.

Intended Use

The product may only be used in compliance with all applicable safety regulations and directives, the specified requirements, and the technical data.

Prior to using the product, perform a risk assessment in view of the planned application. Based on the results, the appropriate safety measures must be implemented.

Since the product is used as a component in an entire system, ensure the safety of persons by means of the design of this entire system (e.g., machine design).

Operate the product only with the specified cables and accessories. Use only genuine accessories and spare parts. The product must NEVER be operated in explosive atmospheres (e.g., hazardous locations, Ex areas).

Any use other than the use explicitly permitted is prohibited and can result in hazards.

Electrical equipment should be installed, operated, serviced, and maintained only by qualified personnel.

Product Related

A DANGER

HAZARD OF ELECTRICAL SHOCK, EXPLOSION, OR ARC FLASH

Remove all power from all devices before connecting or disconnecting inputs or outputs to any terminal or installing or removing any hardware.

Failure to follow these instructions will result in death or serious injury.

When the system is started, the drives are usually out of the operator's view and cannot be visually monitored.

A DANGER

EQUIPMENT OPERATION

Only start the system if there are no persons in the zone of operation.

Failure to follow these instructions will result in death or serious injury.

Drives may perform unintended movements because of incorrect wiring, incorrect parameter settings, incorrect data, or other errors. Further, interference (e.g., electromagnetic interference (EMI)) may cause unpredictable responses in the system.

A WARNING

UNINTENDED MOVEMENT

- Carefully install the wiring in accordance with the electromagnetic compatibility (EMC) requirements.
- Do not operate the drive system with unknown parameter settings or data.

Failure to follow these instructions can result in death, serious injury, or equipment damage.

The designer of any control scheme must consider the potential failure modes of control paths and, for certain critical functions, provide a means to achieve a safe state during and after a path failure. Examples of critical control functions are emergency stop, overtravel stop, power outage, and restart.

AWARNING

LOSS OF CONTROL

- Separate or redundant control paths must be provided for critical functions.
- System control paths may include communication links. Consideration must be given to the implication of unanticipated transmission delays or failures of the link.
- Observe all accident prevention regulations and local safety guidelines.¹
- Each implementation of the product must be individually and thoroughly tested for proper operation before being placed into service.

Failure to follow these instructions can result in death, serious injury, or equipment damage.

For USA: Additional information, refer to NEMA ICS 1.1 (latest edition), "Safety Guidelines for the Application, Installation, and Maintenance of Solid State Control" and to NEMA ICS 7.1, (latest edition), "Safety Standards for Construction and Guide for Selection, Installation, and Operation of Adjustable-Speed Drive Systems"

Drives may perform unintended movements due to mechanical damage to connectors. Mechanical damage to the connectors may cause erratic or uncontrolled operation. Installation with a bent or broken mounting flange, motor shaft, or misaligned coupling may cause unintended behavior and possible destruction of system components as a result.

LOSS OF CONTROL, ERRATIC OPERATION AND DESTRUCTION OF MECHANICS

- Do not drop product.
- Leave product in protective packaging until ready for use.
- Carefully inspect connectors prior to installation in a system for mechanical damage.
- Carefully inspect motor shaft and ensure shaft rotates freely without binding.

Failure to follow these instructions can result in death, serious injury, or equipment damage.

Opening Liberty MDrive (LMD) heat sinks can affect factory-set encoder alignment and impact Hybrid Motion Technology (hMT) performance. Tamper seals are used to ensure factory hardware settings remain unaltered and match the encoder alignment set during the manufacturing process. If a seal is broken, the LMD product warranty is void.

AWARNING

UNINTENDED EQUIPMENT OPERATION

- Do not open the LMD housing for any reason.
- Contact a Novanta IMS service representative if the product exhibits unexplained, erratic, or incorrect operation.

Failure to follow these instructions can result in death, serious injury, or equipment damage.

When working on the wiring, inserting or removing connectors may cause unintended behavior and possible destruction of the system components.

UNINTENDED BEHAVIOR

Remove all power before working on the wiring.

Failure to follow these instructions can result in injury or equipment damage.

Radial (side) loading or axial (thrust) impacts on the shaft may result in premature bearing failure.

NOTICE

EXCESSIVE RADIAL OR AXIAL LOADS

- Do not place unsupported radial or side loads on motor shaft.
- Do not allow the shaft to be subject to impact forces or otherwise struck by external objects.
- Failure to follow these instructions can result in equipment damage.

About this Manual



This manual covers the structure, syntax and use of the LMD MCode programming and control language for the LMD products developed and sold by Novanta IMS.

Writing Conventions and Symbols

Work Steps

If work steps must be performed consecutively, this sequence of steps is represented as follows:

- Special prerequisites for the following work steps
- Step 1
- Specific response to this work step
- Step 2

If a response to a work step is indicated, this allows for verification that the work step has been performed correctly.

Unless otherwise stated, the individual steps must be performed in the specified sequence.

Bulleted Lists

The items in bulleted lists are sorted alphanumerically or by priority. Bulleted lists are structured as follows:

- Item 1 of bulleted list
- Item 2 of bulleted list
 - Subitem for 2
 - Subitem for 2
- Item 3 of bulleted list

Making Work Easier

Information on making work easier is highlighted by this symbol:



Sections highlighted this way provide supplementary information on making work easier.

Parameters

Parameters are shown as follows

RC Motor Run Current

Units of Measure

Measurements are given in both imperial and metric values. Metric values are given in parenthesis.

Examples:

1.00 in (25.4 mm) 100 oz-in (70 N-cm)

Documents and Software

The latest version of this document, supporting documentation, and software is available for download from: <u>https://novantaims.com/dloads/</u>

The following user's manuals are available for the LMD MCode devices:

- Product hardware manual describes the technical data and installation of the product.
- · Product software manual describes the configuration and programming of the product.

NOTICE: For the MDrivePlus or MForce Motion Control product, see the MCode Programming and Reference Manual for MDrivePlus and MForce products.

Product Software

LMD Software Suite (LSS)

The LSS Manual documents the installation and use of the programming tool for the LMD Motion and Ethernet products.

Associated Ethernet Protocols

The LMD Ethernet TCP/IP products support multiple industrial networking protocols:

- Modbus/TCP
- EtherNet/IP
- Profinet IO
- MCode/TCP

Documentation for these protocols is available in separate manuals. The LSS is the program used to commission, program and operate the LMD Motion products. The supporting documents and software can be downloaded from: <u>https://novantaims.com/dloads/</u>

Instructions for installation and use of this software may be found in the LSS product manual.

LMD MCode Compatible Product List

LMD Programmable Motion Control

Integrated LMD Programmable Motion Control communicates over an RS-422/485 serial interface.

LMD MCode/TCP

LMD MCode/TCP is the LMD MCode language adapted to communicate over Ethernet TCP/IP networks. The function and usage are identical as with LMD Motion Control products with the exception that the commands related to RS-422/485 communication and serial party mode are disabled. LMD MCode/TCP connects to TCP or UDP port 503. Multidrop addressing is done using IPv4.

LMD Motion Module (Motion Control)

Uses an adaptation of LMD MCode for use with the LMD Motion Module communicating via the UART. Functional differences are:

- Closed loop hMTechnology functions not supported
- Adds PWM tuning functionality
- Analog input is not configurable in software

Website Directory

NOTE: Direct links are subject to change as website updates occur. Each of the websites below can also be accessed through menu options on the Novanta IMS Main Page: <u>https://novantaims.com/</u>

Downloads: https://novantaims.com/dloads/

Resources: https://novantaims.com/resources/

Certifications and Listing Information: https://novantaims.com/dloads/certificationssustainability/

Contact and Support: <u>https://novantaims.com/contacts/</u>

CyberSecurity Information: https://novantaims.com/all-products/cybersecurity/

Knowledge Based Solutions: https://knowledge.imshome.com/s/

Chapter 1 Introduction to LMD MCode

What's in this Chapter?

This section will acquaint the user with basics of LMD MCode programming and the simple 1 and 2 character mnemonics which make up the LMD MCode programming language.

This chapter includes the following topics:

Торіс	Page
Operational Modes and Basic Components of LMD MCode	13
Program Structuring	
Commonly Used Variables and Instructions	

Operational Modes

There are two operational modes for the LMD MCode compatible products: Immediate and Program.

- 1. **Immediate**: Commands are issued to and executed directly by the controller by user input into the terminal window.
- 2. **Program Execution Mode**: Program Execution Mode is used to input user programs into the motion controller, which can be stored for execution at a later time.

Basic Components of LMD MCode

There are five basic components of the LMD MCode Programming Language, they are:

- 1. Instructions
- 2. Variables
- 3. Flags
- 4. Keywords
- 5. Math functions

Instructions

An instruction results in an action. There are four types of instructions:

Motion

Motion instructions are those that lead to the movement of a motor. The syntax for these commands is as follows: type the command followed by a space or an equal sign, and then position data. <u>Example</u>: Type MA 2000 or MA=2000 and press Enter to move the motor to an absolute position of 2000.

I/O

An I/O instruction results in the change of parameters or the state of an input or output. The syntax for these commands are as follows: type the command then a space or an equal sign, then the data and press Enter. Example: O2=0 or O2 0 sets output 2 to 0.

Program

A program instruction allows program manipulation. The syntax of these varies due to the nature of the command. <u>Examples</u>: PG 100 toggles the system into program mode starting at address 100; BR LP, I1=1, which branches to a program location labeled LP if input 1 is true.

System

A system instruction is an instruction that can only be used in immediate mode to perform a system operation such as program execution (EX) or listing the contents of program memory (L). <u>Examples</u>: EX 100 executes a program located at address 100 of program memory space, or EX K1 executes a location labeled K1.

Variables

A Variable is identified by a mnemonic and allows the user to define or manipulate data. These can also be used with the math functions to manipulate data. There are two classes of variables: factory-defined and user-defined. There are 336 user program labels and variables available. The syntax for each variable may differ.

Factory Defined Parameters, Registers, Keywords, and Reserved Words

These cannot be deleted and may only have the values modified where applicable. When an FD (Factory Default) instruction executes, these functions are reset to their factory default values.

There are two types of factory defined functions:

- Read/Writable: These can have the value altered to affect events inside or outside of a
 program. For example A (Acceleration variable) can be used to set the Acceleration, or
 P (Position variable) can be used to set the position counter.
- Read Only: These contain data that can be viewed or used to affect events inside a program. For example, V (Velocity variable) registers the current velocity of the motor in microsteps/sec (if EE=0) or encoder counts/sec (if EE=1).

User Defined Variables

The VA instruction allows the user to assign a name to a user variable (32-bit integer).

The restrictions for this command are:

- 1. Using a name that already exist as an MCode mnemonic is disallowed and will result in an *Error 24, Illegal data entered* if attempted.
- 2. In naming user variables, the first character must be alpha. It must be followed by 1 alpha character OR a number from 0 to 31.

With these the user can define a variable to store and retrieve data and perform math functions. When the FD (Factory Defaults) instruction is given, these variables will be deleted! There are two types of user defined variables:

- Global variables: global variables are variables that are defined outside of a program. The benefit to using a global variable is that no user program memory is required. For example, the user can define a variable called SP for speed by entering VA SP into the terminal. The user can then set that variable equal to the value of a read only variable V (velocity) by entering SP = V into the terminal.
- **Local variables**: this type of user defined variable is defined within a program and can only affect events within that program. It is stored in RAM. Note a local variable is not static, but is erased and declared again each time a program is executed.

Flags

Flags show the status of an event or condition. A flag only has one of two possible states: either 1 or 0. Unlike variables, there are only factory defined flags.

Factory Defined Flags

Factory defined flags are part of the MCode operating system and may not be deleted. When an FD (Factory Defaults) instruction executes given, these flags are returned to their factory default state. There are two types of factory defined flags:

- **Read/Writable**: This kind of flag is user alterable. They are typically used to set a condition or mode of operation for the device. For example EE = 1 would enable encoder operation, or EE = 0 would disable the encoder functions.
- **Read Only**: Read Only flags cannot be changed by the user. They only give the status of an event or condition. Typically this type of flag would be used in a program in conjunction with the BR (Branch Instruction) to generate an if/then event based on a condition. For example, the following line of code in a program BR SP, MV = 0 would cause a program to branch to a subroutine named "SP" when the MV, the read only moving flag, is false.

Keywords

Keywords operate in conjunction with the PR and IP instructions to indicate or control variables and flags. For instance, PR UV would print the state of all the user-defined variables to the screen. IP would restore all the factory variables from the NVM.

Math Functions

The LMD products are capable of either integer math or double-precision floating point math.

Math functions are used to perform various arithmetic functions on numeric data stored in registers or variables.

Supported functions are: +, -, *, ÷, >, <, =, <=, >=, <>, AND, OR, XOR, NOT.

For floating point calculations, eight (8) registers are provided (F1 - F8). Available floating point math functions are: ABS, SIN, COS, TAN, ARCSIN, ARCCOS, ARC-TAN, PI, SQRT, LOG₂, LOG₁₀

NOTE: Floating-point calculations may only be performed using the registers provided (F1-F8). Registers R1-R4, MCode variables and user variables declared using the VA instruction are only capable of integer math.

Program Structuring

Proper structuring of the LMD MCode application ensures the ability to work efficiently and aids in troubleshooting the program. The following figure illustrates how the application can be blocked out to group the global system declarations, the program main body, and the subroutines.



Programming Aids

Motion Control Interface

One of the most powerful tools available is the Motion Control Interface module of the LMD Software Suite (LSS). The Motion Control Interface is a visual IDE (Integrated Development Environment) for developing, debugging, simulating and deploying LMD MDrive programs written in LMD MCode.

It features a program text editor, terminal emulation, program simulation and graphing. Program development may be accomplished by direct entry or by selecting an action and filling out a dialog.

User Labels

The LMD MCode programming language allows for 336 user labels for programs, subroutines, and user variables and flags. A label consists of 2 characters, the first of which must be a letter, the second may be alphanumeric. A label cannot use the same character combination as any of the mnemonics used in the LMD MCode programming language. For purpose of this manual we have used the following example labels: Program label (G)......Example: G1, G8, Ga Subroutine label (K).....Example: K7, K2, Ks User variable label (Q).....Example: Q3, Q9, Qz

Label Example:

Comments

LMD MCode allows for comments to be inserted in the program code. The comment character for the LMD MCode language is the Apostrophe ('). The device will ignore the text string following the apostrophe. Please note that the maximum length of a single line of program code is 64 characters, this includes program text, spaces and comments.

Using comments will assist in trouble shooting the program.

Programming Reference

Chapter 2, "Command Summary" on page 26 contains detailed explanations and usage examples of each mnemonic in the LMD MCode Programming Language. These are organized alphabetically.

Appendix A, "Sample Programs" on page 161 contains a number of fully commented example programs that can be used to learn the basics of programming and using the various functions of the LMD MCode compatible device.

Commonly Used Variables and Instructions

Variables

MS (Microstep Resolution)

MS (Microsteps Resolution) defines the resolution of the stepping motor.

Motor rotation:	1.8° per step (200 steps/rev.)
Microsteps/step:	MS
Microsteps/rev:	MS * 200
MS default:	256 microsteps/full steps or 256 * 200 = 51200 microsteps/rev
To read:	PR MS
To write:	MS= <integer></integer>
Notes:	MS values are predefined to 20 resolutions. See command details

All motion variables use this value.

P (Position)

P indicates the position in either steps or encoder counts depending upon the enable/disable state of encoder functions.

Open loop/AS>0:	Position from Counter 1 (C1) in microsteps
Encoder enabled:	Position from Counter 2 (C2) in encoder counts
To read:	PR P
To write:	P=0 will clear the position

VI (Initial Velocity)

Initial velocity in steps per second.

Default:	If EE= 0 - 1000 steps/sec, If EE=1 - 78 steps/sec
To read:	PR VI
To write:	VI= <integer></integer>
Notes:	VI will return an error if set to a value greater than VM. The size of the step is a function of MS

VM (Maximum Velocity)

Maximum or final velocity in steps per second.

Default:	If EE= 0 - 768000 steps/sec If EE=1 - 60000 steps/sec
To read:	PR VM
To write:	VM= <integer></integer>
Notes:	VM will return an error if set to a value less than VI. The size of the step is a function of MS

A (Acceleration)

Acceleration in steps per second².

Default:	If EE= 0 - 1000000 steps/sec ² If EE=1 - 78125 steps/sec
To read:	PRA
To write:	A= <integer></integer>
Notes:	The velocity of the motor increases by <a> every second until VM, or the veloc- ity commanded by a slew (SL)

D (Deceleration)

Deceleration in steps per second².

Default:	If EE= 0 - 1000000 steps/sec ² If EE=1 - 78125 steps/sec
To read:	PR D
To write:	D= <integer></integer>
Notes:	The velocity of the motor decreases by <d> every second until VI, or the veloc- ity commanded by a slew (SL)</d>

Refer to the following graphic to see the correlation between the commonly used variables when applied to motion control:



Motion Instructions

Motion instructions cause the motor to move or affect the movement of the motor. There are a few factors to consider when programming motion commands. Linear distances, the number of revolutions, degrees of rotation and timed moves can be calculated and programmed from these factors.

- All motion is programmed in either microsteps or encoder counts. When the encoder is disabled (EE=0), or hMTechnology is enabled (AS=1/2/3), motion is expressed in microsteps. In encoder mode, (EE=1), the motion commands are expressed in encoder counts.
- For example, using the default microstep resolution setting (MS=256): MR 51200 indexes the axis one revolution
- In encoder mode (EE=1) with a 1000 line (4000 count) encoder, the following applies MR 4000 indexes the axis one revolution.
- All motion is directly affected by the motion commands and variables. There are some factors impacting motion instructions. Chapter 3, "Software, Programming, and Application Notes" on page 131, covers these factors in detail.

MA (Move Absolute)

Move to an absolute position relative to a defined zero position.

For example, type the following commands followed by pressing enter:

```
P=0 'set the current position to 0 (zero)
MA 20000 'move 20000 steps from 0 in the positive direction
PR P 'the terminal screen will read 20000
MA 3000 'from the 20000 position, move in reverse to a position
'3000 steps from 0
PR P 'the terminal screen will read 3000
```

Absolute moves are always relative to 0 (zero).

To program moves in the minus direction, type the minus sign (-) before the value.

MR (Move Relative)

Move the number of steps programmed relative to current position.

For example, type the following commands followed by pressing enter:

Relative moves are cumulative and are either added to or subtracted from the current position.

To program moves in the minus direction, type the minus sign (-) before the value.

SL (Slew Axis)

Move at a constant velocity.

SL 200000 'the motor moves at a constant velocity 200000 'steps per second

- The slew command overrides the VM (maximum velocity) parameter.
- The value of the slew command may be changed "on the fly".
- It is possible to program moves in the minus direction by typing the minus sign (-) before the value.

H (Hold)

An H (hold command) should typically follow any MA or MR commands in a program so that program execution is suspended until the motion is complete.

Below is a usage example.

```
PG 100'enter program mode at address 100LB M1'label program M1MR 20000'set mode to relative, move relative 20000 stepsH'hold until motion completesMR -20000'move relative -20000 stepsH'hold until motion completesE'end programPG'exit program mode
```

A delay time value (1 to 65000 milliseconds) may be programed with the hold command.

NOTE: There are circumstances where holding up program execution is not desired.

I/O Instructions

Is (Input Setup)

This command configures the Line, Type and Active state of inputs 1-4.

Туре	Function	Description
0	General Purpose	Typical usage: to trigger events within a program
1	Home	When active triggers the homing routine as defined by the homing variable (HM)
2	Limit plus (+)	Functions as specified by the limit variable (LM). Results in an <i>Error</i> 83: <i>Positive limit reached</i> when a + limit activates.
3	Limit minus (—)	Functions as specified by the limit variable (LM). Results in an <i>Error 84: Negative limit reached</i> when a — limit activates.
4	G0	Executes a program at address 1 upon activation.
5	Soft stop	Stops motion with deceleration and halts program execution. If the pro- gram is paused (PS), the input is ignored.
6	Pause	Pause/resume program with motion.
7	Jog plus (+)	When active, jogs the motor in the positive direction at maximum velocity (VM). The jog enable (JE) flag must be active (JE=1) for this to function.

Туре	Function	Description	
8	Jog minus (—)	When active, jogs the motor in the minus direction at maximum velocity (VM). The jog enable (JE) flag must be active (JE=1) for this to function.	
11	Reset	When set as a RESET input, the action is equivalent to a CTRL+C (^C) entered into a terminal. Note: If the input is in a sourcing configuration, active when high, ground the input first, or a reset occurs.	
High s	High speed capture input - available on input 1 only		
12	Capture	When set as a capture input is a momentary high-speed input that operates with the Trip Capture (TC) variable to run a subroutine upon the trip. It features variable input filtering ranging from 50 nS to 12.9 μ S.	
Clock i	Clock input options - paired on inputs 3 and 4 only		
13	Step/Direction	Step clock (IN3) and direction (IN4) inputs	
14	Encoder A/B	Encoder channel A (IN3) and B (IN4) inputs for following	
15	Step Up/Down	Step up (IN3) and down (IN4) inputs	

The syntax for setting up an input is

Is = <input #>, <type>, <active>

Set input 1 as general purpose active low	ls =1,0,0
Set input 2 as jog+ active high	ls =2,7,1
Set inputs 3 and 4 as Limit +/Limit –, active low	ls =3,2,0 ls =4,3,0
Set input 1 as a capture input active high	ls =1,12,1

- Only input 1 may be set to the Capture function
- LMD NEMA 17 (42 mm) models are not equipped with Input 1
- Inputs may be set globally or locally (inside a program)
- The syntax to read the settings of the inputs is PR Is
- Clock input types (13, 14, 15) are only available on models with Firmware 6.001+

I<1-4> (Read Input State)

Used to retrieve the value of an individual input.

PR I1 reads the logic state of input 1 and display it in the terminal window.

BR K5, I2=0 branches to the program address tabled K5 when Input 2 is LOW

IN (Read Inputs as Group)

Used to read the decimal equivalent of the 4-bit binary nibble represented by all inputs collectively.

NOTE: Input 4 is the Most Significant Bit.

OS (Output Setup)

Sets the function of an output.

Туре	Function	Description
16	General Purpose	Defines the output as a general purpose user output
17	Moving	Activates when the axis is in motion
18	Error	Indicates a software error condition occurred
19	Stall	Indicates a stalled condition exists. Stall detection mode (SM) must be enabled, and hMT must be off (AS=0), and encoder functions must be enabled (EE=1)
20	Velocity changing	Indicates when the axis is accelerating or decelerating
21	Locked rotor*	Indicates a locked rotor condition exists
23	Moving to position	Indicates when the axis is moving to a specified position
24	hMT active*	Indicates as when hMTechnology is active
25	Make-up active*	Indicates when position make-up is in process
29	Attention	Configurable to trigger on an attention event as defined by the AO variable
Availab	le on output 3 only	
28	Trip	Indicates a trip condition (Output 3 ONLY, active low only)
*Grayed cells indicate an hMTechnology function, applicable to closed loop LMD products only.		
Outputs 1 and 2 are not available on LMD NEMA 17 (42mm) products.		

The syntax for setting up an output is:

Os = <output #>, <type>, <active>

Set output 1 as general purpose active low	Os =1,16,0
Set output 2 as moving active high	Os =2,17,1
Set input 3 as a trip output active high	Os =3,28,1

- Only output 3 may be set to the trip function
- Outputs may be set globally or locally (inside a program)
- The syntax to read the settings of the outputs is PR Os

O <1 - 3> (Set Output)

Used to set the state of an output point.

O2=1 will set Output 2 TRUE

OT (Set Output Total)

Used to set the 3 bit binary equivalent of the decimal number represented by all 3 outputs collectively. Note the output 3 is the most significant bit.

OT=5 will set the outputs to 101

System Instructions

The following system instructions will be used frequently.

CP (Clear Program Memory)

The CP instruction is used to clear program memory space. CP must be followed by a save command S.

FD (Restore Factory Defaults)

The FD instruction is used to return the device to its factory default state.

ESC (Stop Motion and Program)

<esc> The ESCAPE key will stop the user program and stop the motor instantaneously (without deceleration).

CTRL+C (Software Reset)

CTRL+C will reboot the unit. This includes reloading of the programs stored in nonvolatile memory into RAM and executing any program residing at label SU (Start Up).

Program Instructions

PG (Begin Program Mode)

This instruction toggles the device into or out of program mode.

PG 200	'Enter program mode at address 200
XXXXX	'Program starting at address 200
XXXXX	'
XXXXX	'
PG	'Exit program mode

LB (User Label)

LMD MCode also offers the user the convenience of naming programs, subroutines and processes to ease in branching from one part of a program to another, or calling a subroutine.

These labels, once set, will act as pointers to locations in program memory space.

The LB, or label instruction, allows the user to assign a 2 character name to a program or branch process within a program or subroutine.

The restrictions for this command are:

- 1. A label cannot be named after an instruction, variable or flag.
- 2. The first character must be alpha, the second character may be alpha or a number from 0 to 31.
- 3. A program labeled SU will run on power-up

NOTE: Any program labeled "SU" will execute on power-up.

PG 10	'Enter program mode at address 10
LB k1	'Label command will name the program K1
XXXXX	'Program named by LB command xxxxx
XXXXX	T
PG	'Exit program mode

BR (Branch)

Used to branch conditionally or unconditionally into another routine.

PG 30	'Enter program mode at address 30
LB K1	'Label command will name the program
XXXXX	
XXXXX	'Program named by LB command
XXXXX	
BR K1	'Unconditional branch to Program Label K1
PG	'Exit program mode

E (End Program)

Designates the end of a program.

PG 15	'Enter program mode at address 15
LB K1	'Label command will name the program
XXXXX	
XXXXX	'Program named by LB command
XXXXX	
BR K1	'Unconditional branch to Program Label K1
E	'End Program
PG	'Exit program mode

CL (Call Subroutine)

Used to call a subroutine conditionally or unconditionally into another routine.

PG 45	'Enter program mode at address 45
LB K1	'Label command will name the program
XXXXX	
XXXXX	'Program named by LB command
XXXXX	
CL X1	'Unconditional call to subroutine label X1
E	'End program
PG	'Exit program mode
' [SUBROUT]	INES]
LB X1	'Label subroutine X1
XXXXX	'Subroutine named by LB command
RT	'Return from subroutine

RT (Return From Subroutine)

Required to return from a subroutine to the program.

PG 100	'Enter program mode at address 100
LB K1	'Label command will name the program
XXXXX	
XXXXX	'Program named by LB command
XXXXX	
CL X1	'Unconditional call to subroutine label X1
E	'End program
PG	'Exit program mode
'[SUBROUTI	INES]
LB X1	'Label subroutine X1
XXXXX	'Subroutine named by LB command
RT	'Return from subroutine

H (Hold Program Execution)

Delays program execution in milliseconds.

```
PG 25
          'Enter program mode at address 25
          'Label command will name the program
LB K1
xxxxx
xxxxx
          'Program named by LB command
XXXXX
          'Hold 2 seconds before execution of program
н 2000
          'Unconditional branch to Program Label K1
BR K1
Е
          'End Program
PG
          'Exit program mode
```

PR (Print)

Outputs specified text and parameter values to a terminal or terminal software on a host PC.

PG 150	'Enter program mode at address 150
LB K1	'Label command will name the program
XXXXX	
XXXXX	'Program named by LB command
XXXXX	
н 2000	'Hold 2 seconds before execution.
PR "Position ="	, P 'Print position
BR K1	'Uncond branch to Program Label K1
E	'End Program
PG	'Exit program mode

VA (Define User Variable)

Command used to define a user variable consisting of 2 alphanumeric characters.

PG VA	65 Q1	'Enter program mode at address 65 'Define user variable Q1
LB	К1	'Label command will name the program
x	xxxx	
x	xxxx	'Program named by LB command
x	xxxx	
H	2000	'Hold 2 seconds before execution
\mathbf{P}	R "Position ="	, P 'Print position
B	R K1, Q1<10	'Cond branch to K1 if Q1 less than 10
E		'End Program
PG		'Exit program mode

Chapter 2 Command Summary

What's in this Chapter?

LMD MCode supports multiple families of motion control devices. Not all instructions, variables and flags apply to all motion control products. This chapter covers the Commands, each command's compatibility with LMD Motion and Ethernet TCP/IP products, and an explanation of each command.

This chapter includes the following topics:

Торіс	Page
Command Compatibility	27
Math Functions	32
Commands	33
Math, Logic, and Trigonometric Operators	122

Command Compatibility

All LMD Products

The commands listed in the following table are compatible with all LMD Motion and Ethernet TCP/IP products. Some function of the command may differ slightly between products. Attention should be paid to the command details for compatibility notes.

Mnemonic	nonic Function Access Usage Type Notes						Compatibility			
Abbreviation Access: RO Usage: I - Im	ns = Read only, RW = Read/Write, RC mediate, P = Program, I/P = Imme	C = Read/Cle diate or prog	ear, WO=Wi gram	rite only, CMD=Con	nmand/Instruction	LMD(O)	LMD(C)	LMD(A)	LMM	
A	Acceleration	RW	I/P	Variable	—	~	~	~	~	
<u>AB</u>	Absolute Value	—	I/P	Advanced Math/ Trigonometry	Firmware Version 6.001 +	~	\checkmark	~	~	
AJ	Acceleration Jerk	RW	I/P	Variable	Firmware Version 6.001 +	~	~	~	~	
AL	List All Parameters	RO	I	Instruction	—	~	~	~	~	
<u>AO</u>	Attention Output Mask	RW	I/P	Variable	Certain attention events are product specific.	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark	
<u>AT</u>	Acceleration Type	RW	I/P	Variable	Firmware Version 6.001 +	~	~	\checkmark	\checkmark	
<u>AV</u>	Approximate Velocity	RO	I/P	Variable	Firmware Version 6.001 +		\checkmark	\checkmark		
<u>BE</u>	Backlash Enable	RW	I/P	Flag	Firmware Version 6.001 +	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	
<u>BL</u>	Backlash Amount	RW	I/P	Variable	Firmware Version 6.001 +	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	
<u>BM</u>	Backlash Mode	RW	I/P	Variable	Firmware Version 6.001 +	~	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	
<u>BP</u>	Break Point	CMD	I/P	Instruction	—	~	~	~	~	
BR	Branch	CMD	Р	Instruction	—	\checkmark	\checkmark	~	\checkmark	
<u>BY</u>	Program Executing (busy)	RO	I	Flag	—	~	~	~	~	
<u>C_</u>	Arc Cosine	_	I/P	Advanced Math/ Trigonometry	Firmware Version 6.001 +	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark	
<u>C1</u>	Counter 1 (motor count)	RW	I/P	Variable	—	~	~	~	~	
<u>C2</u>	Counter 2 (encoder)	RW	I/P	Variable	LMD Closed Loop LMM Encoder required		\checkmark	~	~	
<u>CE</u>	Software Reset Enable/Disable	RW	I/P	Flag	—	~	~	~	~	
<u>CL</u>	Call Subroutine	CMD	Р	Instruction	—	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark	
<u>CP</u>	Clear Program memory	CMD	1	Instruction	—	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark	
<u>CS</u>	Cosine	_	I/P	Advanced Math/ Trigonometry	Firmware Version 6.001 +	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark	
<u>CW</u>	Clock Width	RW	I/P	Variable	_	~	~	~	~	
D	Deceleration	RW	I/P	Variable	_	~	~	~	~	
<u>D<1-4></u>	Digital Input Filter	RW	I/P	Variable	_	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	
<u>D5</u>	Analog Input Filter	RW	I/P	Variable	—	~	~		~	
<u>DB</u>	Encoder Deadband	RW	I/P	Variable	Encoder required		~	~	~	
<u>DC</u>	Decrement Variable	WO	I/P	Instruction	_	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	
DE	Drive Enable/Disable	RW	I/P	Flag	—	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	
DJ	Deceleration Jerk	RW	I/P	Variable	—	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	
DT	Deceleration Type	RW	I/P	Variable	Firmware Version 6.001 +	~	~	~	~	
E	End Program	CMD	I/P	Instruction	—	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	
<u>EE</u>	Encoder Enable/Disable	RW	I/P	Flag	Encoder required		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	
EF	Error Flag	RO	I/P	Flag	_	~	~	\checkmark	~	
EL	Encoder Lines	RW	I/P	Variable	_				\checkmark	
EM	Echo Mode	RW	I/P	Variable	_	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	
ER	Error Register	RC	I/P	Variable	_	~	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	
ES	Escape <esc> Mode</esc>	RW	I/P	Variable	_	~	~	~	~	
EX	Execute Program	CMD	1	Instruction		~	~	~	\checkmark	
<u>F<1-8></u>	Floating Point Register	RW	I/P	Variable	Firmware Version 6.001 +	~	\checkmark	\checkmark	~	

Mnemonic	Inemonic Function Access Usage Type Notes		Compatibility						
Abbreviation Access: RO Usage: I - Im	n s = Read only, RW = Read/Write, RC mediate, P = Program, I/P = Imme	c = Read/Cle diate or proo	ear, WO=Wi gram	ite only, CMD=Con	nmand/Instruction	LMD(O)	LMD(C)	LMD(A)	LMM
<u>FC</u>	Filter Capture Input	RW	I/P	Variable	Not applicable to LMDxx42	\checkmark	\checkmark	~	\checkmark
<u>FD</u>	Restore Factory Defaults	CMD	I	Instruction	—	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark
<u>FL</u>	Following Mode Enable	RW	I/P	Flag	Firmware Version 6.001 +	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark
<u>FM</u>	Filter Motion Inputs	RW	I/P	Variable	Firmware Version 6.001 +	\checkmark	\checkmark	~	\checkmark
<u>FS</u>	Index Offset Setting	RW	I/P	Variable	Firmware Version 6.001 + Encoder required		\checkmark	~	\checkmark
<u>FT</u>	Reserved	—	_	—	—	—	—	—	—
H	Hold Program Execution	CMD	Р	Instruction	_	~	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
<u>HC</u>	Hold Current	RW	I/P	Variable	_	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
HE	Home to Index Offset	WO	I/P	Instruction	Firmware Version 6.001 + Encoder required		\checkmark	~	\checkmark
<u>н</u>	Home to Index	WO	I/P	Instruction	Encoder required		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
<u>HM</u>	Home to Home Switch	WO	I/P	Instruction	—	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
HT	Hold Current Delay	RW	I/P	Variable	_	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark
<u> <1-4></u>	Read Input 1 - 4	RO	I/P	Variable	—	~	~	~	\checkmark
<u>15</u>	Read Analog Input	RO	I/P	Variable	—	~	\checkmark		\checkmark
<u>16</u>	Read Encoder Index Mark	RO	I/P	Variable	Encoder required		\checkmark	~	\checkmark
<u>I7-I13</u>	Reserved	—	_	_	_	_	_	—	_
<u>IC</u>	Increment Variable	CMD	I/P	Instruction	_	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark
<u>IF</u>	Variable Input Pending	RC	I/P	Flag	—	~	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
<u>IN</u>	Read Inputs as Group	RO	I/P	Keyword	—	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark
<u>IP</u>	Initialize Parameters	WO	I/P	Instruction	_	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark
<u>IS<1-4></u>	Input 1 - 4 Setup	RW	I/P	Instruction	Clock input types (13, 14, 15) available with Firmware 6.001+; No I1 on LMD NEMA 17 (42 mm)	~	V	~	~
<u>IS 5</u>	Analog Input Setup	RW	I/P	Instruction	Analog input on the LMM is not configurable.	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark
<u>IS 6</u>	Encoder Index Setup	RW	I/P	Instruction	Encoder required		\checkmark	~	\checkmark
IT	Internal Temperature	RO	I/P	Keyword	—	\checkmark	\checkmark	~	\checkmark
IV	Input to Variable	CMD	Р	Instruction	_	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark
<u>JE</u>	Jog Enable/Disable	RW	I/P	Flag	—	~	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
L	List Program Space	CMD	I	Instruction	—	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark
<u>L_</u>	Logarithm (Base 10)	_	I/P	Advanced Math/ Trigonometry	Firmware Version 6.001 +	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark
LB	Label	CMD	Р	Instruction		~	~	~	~
<u>LK</u>	Lock Program	RW	I/P	Flag	—	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark
<u>LM</u>	Limit Mode	RW	I/P	Variable	—	~	~	~	\checkmark
<u>LO</u>	Logarithm (Base e)	_	I/P	Advanced Math/ Trigonometry	Firmware Version 6.001 +	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark
<u>LS</u>	Software Limit	RW	I/P	Variable	Firmware Version 6.001 +	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark
MA	Move Absolute	WO	I/P	Instruction	_	~	~	~	\checkmark
MD	Motion Mode	RO	I/P	Variable	_	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark
MP	Moving to Position	RO	I/P	Flag	_	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark
MR	Move Relative	WO	I/P	Instruction	_	~	~	~	\checkmark
<u>MS</u>	Microstep Resolution	RW	I/P	Variable	_	~	~	~	~
MT	Motor Settling Delay Time	RW	I/P	Variable	_	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark
MV	Moving	RO	I/P	Flag	_	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark
NE	Numeric Enable/Disable	RW	I/P	Variable	_	~	~	~	\checkmark

Mnemonic	ic Function Access Usage Type Notes		Notes	Compatibility					
Abbreviation Access: RO = Usage: I - Im	ns = Read only, RW = Read/Write, RC mediate, P = Program, I/P = Imme	c = Read/Cle diate or prog	ear, WO=Wi gram	rite only, CMD=Con	nmand/Instruction	LMD(O)	LMD(C)	LMD(A)	LMM
<u>0<1-3></u>	Set Output Number	WO	I/P	Instruction	—	~	~	~	\checkmark
<u>OE</u>	On Error Handler	WO	I/P	Instruction	—	~	~	~	\checkmark
<u>OF</u>	Output Fault	RO	I/P	Variable	—	~	~	~	
<u>0S<1-3></u>	Setup Outputs 1 to 3	RW	I/P	Instruction	LMD NEMA 17 (42 mm) has O3 only. LMD(A) NEMA 23 (57 mm) and NEMA 34 (85 mm) do not have an O2. Some hMT specific func- tions not available on all products	~	~	~	~
<u>T0</u>	Write All Outputs	WO	I/P	Instruction	LMD NEMA 17 (42 mm) has O3 only.	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark
P	Position Counter	RW	I/P	Instruction	_	~	~	~	~
<u>PC</u>	Captured Position	RW	I/P	Instruction	—	\checkmark	~	~	\checkmark
<u>PF</u>	Print Format	RW	I/P	Variable	Firmware Version 6.001 +	~	~	~	\checkmark
<u>PG</u>	Program Mode	CMD	I/P	Instruction	_	\checkmark	~	\checkmark	\checkmark
<u>PI</u>	Value of Pi 3.141592654	_	I/P	Advanced Math/ Trigonometry	Firmware Version 6.001 +	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark
<u>PK</u>	Reserved	_	_	—	_	_	_	—	_
<u>PM</u>	Position Maintenance	RW	I/P	Flag	Encoder required		~	~	\checkmark
<u>PN</u>	Part Number	RO	I/P	Variable	_	~	~	~	\checkmark
<u>PR</u>	Print Specified Data/Text	wo	I/P	Instruction	—	~	~	~	\checkmark
<u>PS</u>	Pause Program	CMD	I/P	Instruction	_	~	~	~	\checkmark
<u>PW</u>	PWM Mask Setting	RW	I/P	Variable	LMM Only				\checkmark
<u>R<1-4></u>	User Register	RW	I/P	Variable	—	~	~	~	\checkmark
<u>RA</u>	Radians/degrees	RW	I/P	Variable	Firmware Version 6.001 +	~	~	~	\checkmark
<u>RC</u>	Run Current	RW	I/P	Variable	—	~	~	~	\checkmark
<u>RD</u>	Reverse Direction	CMD	I/P	Variable	—	~	~	~	\checkmark
<u>RP</u>	Referenced Position	RO	I/P	Variable	—	~	~	~	\checkmark
<u>RS</u>	Resume Program	CMD	I	Instruction	—	~	~	~	\checkmark
<u>RT</u>	Return from Subroutine	CMD	Р	Instruction	—	~	~	~	\checkmark
<u>S</u>	Save Program/Parameters	WO	I/P	Instruction	—	~	~	~	~
<u>s_</u>	Arc Sine	—	I/P	Advanced Math/ Trigonometry	Firmware Version 6.001 +	~	~	~	~
<u>SA</u>	Step Angle	RW	I/P	Variable	—				\checkmark
<u>SC</u>	System Configuration Test	WO	I/P	Instruction	—		~	~	
<u>SF</u>	Stall Factor	RW	I/P	Variable	Encoder required LMD Closed Loop		\checkmark	~	~
<u>SI</u>	Sine	_	F1 = SI F2	Advanced Math/ Trigonometry	Firmware Version 6.001 +	~	✓	~	~
<u>SL</u>	Slew at Velocity	WO	I/P	Instruction	_	\checkmark	~	\checkmark	\checkmark
<u>SM</u>	Stall Detect Mode	RW	I/P	Variable	Encoder required LMD Closed Loop		~	~	~
<u>SN</u>	Serial Number	RO	I/P	Keyword	_	~	✓	~	\checkmark
<u>SQ</u>	Square Root	_	I/P	Advanced Math/ Trigonometry	Firmware Version 6.001 +	~	~	~	~
ST	Stall Flag	RO	I/P	Flag	Encoder required LMD Closed Loop		\checkmark	~	~
<u>SU</u>	Start Up	CMD	I/P	Keyword		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
I_	Arc tangent	_	I/P	Advanced Math/ Trigonometry	Firmware Version 6.001 +	~	~	~	~
<u>TC</u>	Trip on Capture	RW	I/P	Variable	-	~	✓	~	\checkmark

Mnemonic	Function	Access	Usage	Туре	Notes		Compa	tibility	
Abbreviation Access: RO Usage: I - Im	ns = Read only, RW = Read/Write, RC mediate, P = Program, I/P = Imme	C = Read/Cle diate or prog	ear, WO=Wı gram	rite only, CMD=Con	nmand/Instruction	LMD(O)	LMD(C)	LMD(A)	LMM
TE	Trip Enable	RW	I/P	Variable	Specific product limitations	\checkmark	\checkmark	~	\checkmark
<u>TG</u>	Tangent	—	I/P	Advanced Math/ Trigonometry	Firmware Version 6.001 +	~	~	~	~
<u>11</u>	Trip on Input	RW	I/P	Variable	—	\checkmark	\checkmark	~	\checkmark
<u>TM</u>	Trip on Main Power Loss	RW	I/P	Variable	—	~	~	~	~
TP	Trip on Position	RW	I/P	Variable	—	~	~	~	~
<u>TR</u>	Trip on Relative	RW	I/P	Variable	—	~	\checkmark	~	~
Ш	Trip on Time	RW	I/P	Variable	—	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark
<u>UG</u>	Upgrade Firmware	WO	I/P	Instruction	—	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
<u>UV</u>	User Variables	RO	I/P	Keyword		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
V	Current Velocity	RO	I/P	Keyword	—	~	~	~	~
<u>VA</u>	Define User Variable	CMD	I/P	Instruction	—	~	~	~	~
<u>VB</u>	Abs Encoder Backup Voltage	RO	I/P	Variable	Absolute Encoder only			~	
<u>VC</u>	Velocity Changing	RO	I/P	Flag	—	~	~	~	~
<u>VI</u>	Initial Velocity	RW	I/P	Variable	—	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark
<u>VM</u>	Max. Velocity	RW	I/P	Variable	—	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark
VR	Version	RO	I/P	Keyword	_	~	~	~	\checkmark
<u>VT</u>	Read Voltage	RO	I/P	Keyword	—	~	~	~	~
WT	Warning Temperature	RW	I/P	Variable	—	\checkmark	~	~	~

LMD Serial Products

The commands listed in following table apply specifically to LMD Motion products with a serial interface (RS-422/485/UART).

- LMD Motion Control (P/N LMDxM)
- LMD Motion Module (P/N LMM-15-M)

These commands will return an *Error 37: Command/Variable/Flag not available* if used with any other product.

Mnemonic	Function	Access	Usage	Туре	Compatibility					
Abbreviations Access: RO = R Usage: I - Imme	Read only, RW = Read/Write, RC = R ediate, P = Program, I/P = Immediate	LMD(O)	LMD(C)	LMD(A)	LMM					
BD	BAUD Rate	RW	I/P	Variable	~	~	✓	~		
<u>СК</u>	Checksum Mode	RW	I/P	Variable	~	~	✓	~		
DG	Disable Global Response	RW	I/P	Flag	~	~	✓	~		
<u>DN</u>	Device Name	RW	I/P	Variable	~	~	~	~		
<u>PY</u>	Party Mode Enable	RW	I/P	Variable	~	~	~	~		
QD	Device Queued	RW	1	Flag	\checkmark	~	~	~		
<u>SC</u>	System Configuration Test	WO	IP	Instruction		~	\checkmark			

LMD Motion Module

The commands listed in the following table apply specifically to LMD Motion Module.

LMD Motion Module (P/N LMM-15-M)

These commands will return an *Error 37: Command/Variable/Flag not available* if used with any other product.

Mnemonic	Function	Access	Usage	Туре	Notes	Compatibility			
Abbreviations Access: RO = R Usage: I - Imme	Read only, RW = Read/Write, RC = R diate, P = Program, I/P = Immediate	LMD(O)	LMD(C)	LMD(A)	LMM				
<u>PW</u>	PWM Mask				\checkmark				
<u>SA</u>	Step Angle	RW	I/P	Variable	—				\checkmark

hMTechnology Specific

The commands listed in the following table apply specifically to LMD closed loop and absolute products with the hMTechnology functions.

- LMD Motion Control (P/N LMDCMxxx and LMDAMxxx)
- LMD Ethernet TCP/IP (P/N LMDCExxx and LMDAExxx)

These commands will return an *Error 37: Command/Variable/Flag not available* if used on open loop or LMD Motion Module products.

Mnemonic	Function	Access	Usage	Туре	Notes	Compatibility			
Abbreviations Access: RO = F Usage: I - Imme	Read only, RW = Read/Write, RC = F ediate, P = Program, I/P = Immediate	LMD(O)	LMD(C)	LMD(A)	LMM				
AF	hMT Status	RO	I/P	Flag	—		~	~	
AS	hMT Mode	RW	I/P	Variable	—		~	~	
<u>CB</u>	Control Bounds	RW	I/P	Variable	—		~	~	
CF	Clear Locked Rotor	CMD	I/P	Instruction	—		~	~	
LD	Lead Limit	RW	I/P	Variable	—		~	\checkmark	
LG	Lag Limit	RW	I/P	Variable	—		~	~	
LL	Position Lead/Lag Register	RO	I/P	Variable	—		~	\checkmark	
<u>LR</u>	Locked rotor	RO	I/P	Flag	—		~	\checkmark	
LT	Locked Rotor Timeout	RW	I/P	Variable	—		~	~	
ME	Makeup Frequency	RW	I/P	Variable	—		~	~	
<u>MU</u>	Position Makeup Mode	RW	I/P	Variable	—		~	\checkmark	
TA	Trip on hMT Status	RW	I/P	Variable	_		~	~	
TD	Torque Direction	RW	I/P	Variable	—		~	\checkmark	
<u>TQ</u>	Torque Percent	RW	I/P	Variable	—		~	\checkmark	
<u>TS</u>	Torque Speed	RW	I/P	Variable	—		~	~	
<u>VF</u>	Torque Velocity Filter	RW	I/P	Variable	—		\checkmark	\checkmark	

The MCode math, comparison, logic, and trigonometric operators shown in the following table are compatible with all LMD Motion Control and Ethernet TCP/IP products. The advanced floating point math and trigonometric functions are the ONLY available in models with Firmware Version 6.001 +.

NOTE: Math and trigonometric functions performed outside the floating point registers (F1 - F8) will be rounded down to the nearest integer.

Onerster	Eurotion	lloose	Compatibility					
Operator	Function	Usage	LMD(O)	LMD(C)	LMD(A)	LMM		
+	Add Two Variables and/or Flags	R1 + R2	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark		
-	Subtract Two Variables and/or Flags	R1 - R2	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark		
*	Multiply Two Variables and/or Flags	R1 * R2	~	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		
/	Divide Two Variables and/or Flags	R1/R2	~	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		
<>	Not Equal	R1 <> R2	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark		
=	Equal	R1 = R2	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark		
<	Less Than	R1 < R2	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark		
<=	Less Than or Equal	R1 <= R2	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark		
>	Greater Than	R1 > R2	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark		
>=	Greater Than or Equal	R1 >= R2	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark		
&	AND (Bitwise)	R1 = R2 & R3	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark		
	<u>OR (Bitwise)</u>	R1 = R2 R3	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark		
٨	XOR (Bitwise)	R1 = R2 ^ R3	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark		
!	NOT (Bitwise)	R1 = R2 ! R3	~	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		
	Floating point and trigonomet	ric functions - Firmware Ver	sion 6.001 -	+				
AB	Absolute Value	F1 = AB R1	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		
CS	Cosine	F1 = CS F2	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		
C_	Arc Cosine	$F1 = C_F2$	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		
LO	Logarithm (Base e)	F1 = LO F2	~	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		
L_	Logarithm (Base 10)	$F1 = L_F2$	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark		
PI	Value of Pi 3.141592654	F1 = PI	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark		
SI	Sine	F1 = SI F2	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark		
SQ	Square Root	F1 = SQ F2	~	\checkmark	~	\checkmark		
S_	Arc Sine	$F1 = S_F2$	~	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		
TG	Tangent	F1 = TG F2	~	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		
T_	Arc tangent	$F1 = T_F2$	~	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		

Commands

Mnemonic		Function		Function	Group		Access	Usag	ge		
Α	S	et/Read Acceleratio	n	Motion va	ariable		RW	Program/In	nmediate		
Compatibility:	LMD(O)	ID(C) LMD(A) LMM	N	lotes: —				<u>^</u>			
DESCRIPTION Defines the accord	eleration rat	te when changing ve	elocity.								
If the value of A default linear ac reach VM from a	is 768000 s celeration ty an Initial Vel	steps per second², tl ype. If the VM (Maxi locity (VI) of 0 (axis	he motor imum Ve stopped)	accelerates at a locity) is set at 76).	rate of 7680 8000 micros	000 st steps	teps per second,	ond², every sec it takes 10 sec	ond at the onds to		
The primary fact able) flag. Wher counts/sec ² . Wh	The primary factor determining the range and units applied to the acceleration profile is the logic state of the EE (Encoder Enable) flag. When disabled (EE =0), acceleration is measured in steps/sec ² . When enabled (EE =1), the value represents encoder counts/sec ² . When EE is changed, A , D , VI and VM are recalculated.										
Secondary factor angle and sinus value to comper	Secondary factors impacting acceleration is the configuration of AT (Acceleration Type) and AJ (Acceleration Jerk). AT adds triangle and sinusoidal S-curve capability to the default linear acceleration type. The AJ variable allows the user to set a constant value to compensate for load oscillations.										
Clo	ock Mode	66 to 1100 X 106	Unito	Clock Mode	steps/sec ²	2	Default	Clock Mode	1000000		
Range:	Encoder	85937496	Units:	Encoder	counts/see	C ²	Delault: -	Encoder	78125		
Syntax: A= <i< td=""><td>nteger>, PF</td><td>RA</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></i<>	nteger>, PF	RA									
CODE EXAMPL	ES				RE	LATE	ED				
A=20000	Set acceler	ration to 20000 step	s/sec ²		AJ ((Accel	<u>Jerk)</u>	EE (Encoder Enal	<u>ole)</u>		
A=Q1	A=Q1 Set acceleration to be equal to user variable Q1 AT (Accel Type) VI (Initial Velocity)										
PR A	Print accele	eration value			<u>D (C</u>	Decelei	ration)	VM (Max Velocity	2		
NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS											
Class Instance Att				ibute Data	Туре						
Ethernet/IP	0x66	1	0>	(01 UD	NT	Mo	abus/ICP	0x0000			

Mnemonic	F	unction	Fu	nction Group		Acces	s	Usage
AF	Read	d hMT status		Status Flag		RO		Program/Immediate
Compatibility:	MD(O) LMD(C)) LMD(A) LN	M Notes: —	_				
DESCRIPTION					Sta	itus Code		Condition
the case where mul	tiple status co	us code reflectin	g the last nivi l ne returned resi	status event. In ult will repre-	1		limit reached	
sent the sum of the	active status of	conditions.		ont	2		Lag li	mit reached
The hMT will initializ	e following a	power up/reset	of the system.	This results in	4		Maxin	num lead/lag limit reached
the AF flag showing	a status code	e '128' (hMT Init	ialization Comp	plete) following	8		Locke	d rotor
a power up/reset of	the system.			16		Hybri	d mode is active	
Example: PR AF re	turns a status	code of 133, in) (Lead Limit)	32		vare fault condition exists		
and LL (Max. Lead/	Lag Limit) wer	re reached.			64		At zer	0
					128		hMT i	nitialization complete
					256	hMT initialization error		nitialization error
Range: See ab	ove		Units: —			Default:	_	
Syntax: PR AF,	BR <label add<="" td=""><td>dress>, AF = <v< td=""><td>alue></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></v<></td></label>	dress>, AF = <v< td=""><td>alue></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></v<>	alue>					
CODE EXAMPLES						RELATED)	
PR AF Prir	nt the status of	f AF to the term	inal			AO (Attention	<u>n Outp</u> ı	<u>ut)</u>
BR Q1,AF&2 Bra	nch to Q1 if A	F not 0 - indicat	ing LG (Lag Lir	nit) is reached		AS (hMT Mod	<u>de)</u>	
CL Q1,AF=132 Cal	I subroutine Q	Q1 if a lead or lag		TA (hMT Stat	us Trip	<u>)</u>		
NETWORK PROTO		ALENTS						
Ethermet/ID	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type				0.000
Ethernet/IP 0x6A 1 0x01 UINT						Modbus/TCP 0x008F		

Mnomonio	1	Function		notion Group	A	lloago				
	0.5		ru	nction Group	Access					
AJ		Celeration Jerk	M	otion variable	RVV	Program/Immediate				
Compatibility:	D(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A) LMM	Notes: Fi	Notes: Firmware 6.001+						
Acceleration Jerk is jerk variable only imple adjusted to any ir The motion logic in t	the rate of o pacts the m nteger value he LMD pro	change of acceler notion profile when e between 0 and oduct	ration, or, the de n an S-curve ac 127 to compens	erivative of accele cceleration type (<i>i</i> sate for load oscil	eration with respect to AT=2 or AT=3) is sele lations.	o time. The acceleration ected. The jerk value may				
samples 256 data por celeration ramp. The represents the numb either side of the cer tion table, at which the at a constant, linear value defined by A (oints during value app per of data p nter of the a ne accelera acceleratio Acceleratio	the ac- lied to AJ points on accelera-	DP128	DP19	127					
Example: As shown in this graphic, with AJ=64, the Acceleration ramp will be constant for 128 samples, or 64 samples on either side of the ramp center. AJ=64 AJ=0 AJ=64 A AJ=0 Time										
Range: 0 to 127 Units: Default: 0										
Syntax: AJ= <val< td=""><td>ue>, PR A.</td><td>J</td><td></td><td></td><td>· · · ·</td><td></td></val<>	ue>, PR A.	J			· · · ·					
CODE EXAMPLES				RELATED	A (Acceleration)	AT (Accel Type)				
AJ=32 Set	acceleratio	n jerk to 32		D (Deceleration)	DT (Decel Type)	DJ (Decel Jerk)				
PR AJ Rea	d the value	of AJ to the term	inal window	VI (Initial Velocity)	VM (Max Velocity)					
NETWORK PROTO	COL EQUI	VALENTS								
Ethernet/IP	Class 0x66	Instance 1	Attribute 0x14	Data Type USINT	Modbus/TCP	Refer to the Modbus/TCP User Manual for Mfg Specific Function Codes				
		· · · · · ·								
Mnemonic		Function	Fu	nction Group	Access	Usage				
AL	List	All Parameters		Instruction	RO	Immediate				
Compatibility:	0(0) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: -	-	•					
DESCRIPTION			•							
The AL keyword is u gram.	ised with th	ie PR (PRINT) ins	struction to print	t the value/state o	of all variables and fla	igs to the terminal pro-				
NOTE: The PR AL o	command c	an not be perform	ned during prog	ram execution						
Range: —			Units: —		Default: —					
Syntax: PR AL										
CODE EXAMPLES	CODE EXAMPLES RELATED									

PR AL	Read the value	of all parameter	s to the terminal	window	FD (Factory Defaults)	IP (Initialize Parameters)					
NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS											
Ethornot/ID	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type	Modbuo/TCP						
Ethernet/IP	—	—	—	—	wioubus/TCP	_					

Mnemonic		Function		Fur	Function Group		Access	Usage	
AO	Set/Rea	Set/Read Attention Output Mask		I/	I/O variable		RW	Program/Immediate	
Compatibility: LMD(O) LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM Notes: T				s: Trigge	rigger events vary with hMT				
DESCRIPTION									
The AO variable will define the condition(s) on which the attention output triggers LED 2, or to the output point assigned to the Attention Output function.									
If multiple conditions need to trigger the output, the result is additive.				Ма	ask	Description		LED Color (Green = Default)	
Example:						Error flag		Red	
Lead limit (4) and Lag limit (8), AO will equal 12, Moving flag (16384) and Stall Flag (32768), AO will equal 49152						Locked rotor*			
						Lead limit*			
						Lag limit*			
NOTE : Available trigger events will vary depend on the model LMD Motion Control product.						hMT active*			
						Calibr	ration active*		
				64		Over temperature			
				128	8	Software error			
				256	6	At zero cross			
				512	2	Curre	nt reduction active		
				102	24	Make	-up active*		
				204	48	Drive disabled (DE=0)*			
				409	96	Warni	ing temperature		
				819	92	Voltag	ge warning		
				163	384	Moving flag			
				32	768	Stall flag*			
					536	Position Referenced			
						*encoder required for function			
Range: 0 - 4,2	294,967,295		Units:	_			Default: 0		
Syntax: AO= <mask></mask>									
CODE EXAMPLES					RELATED				
AO=512 Attention active when at hold current level				<u>0<</u>	O<1-3> (Set Output)				
PR AO Return the AO mask value to the terminal				<u> </u>	OS (Output Setup)				
NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS									
Ethernet/IP	Class	Instance	Attribute	•	Data Type	Modbus/TCP Refer to Manual Function		Refer to the Modbus/TCP User	
	0x67	1	0x01		UINT			Ianual for Mfg Specific	
Mnemonic		Function			Function Group	,	Access	Usage	
--	--------------	-------------------	------------	--	--	--	--	---	--
AS	Set/R	ead hMT Mode	Select		Motion Variable		RW	Program/Immediate	
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM	No	tes:	-				
DESCRIPTION									
Sets the operating	mode for hM	ITechnology dev	ice to one	of fou	r modes: Off, Fixe	ed Cu	rrent, Variable C	Current and Torque.	
These modes will determine the operational			Mode				Operation		
characteristics of the closed loop LMD Motion			0	hMT	inactive (default): Mot	tor perfo	orms as a traditional	stepper.	
product. NOTE: MS (Microstep Resolution) cannot be set lower than ten (10) when hMTechnology is enabled.			1	Fixed hold of	current mode, motor current (HC) variables	current	will be as specified	by the run current (RC) and	
			2	Variable current mode, motor current will vary as needed to move/position the los with a maximum current level established by the run current (RC) variable					
			3	Torqu load a maxir IMPC - Mot - Lim	e mode, motor torque at the maximum torqu num speed as specifi PRTANT: ion will commence I it inputs do not func	e and sp ie specified by th IMMEDI	beed will vary as nee fied by the set torque ne set torque speed v ATELY upon setting torque mode.	ded to move/position the e percent variable (TQ) at the variable (TS). g AS=3 without warning.	
Range: 0 - 3			Units:	_			Default: 0		
Syntax: AS=<	mode>, PR A	S							
CODE EXAMPLE	S				RELATED		AV (Actual hMT Vel	ocity) RC (Run Current)	
AS=2 S	et the hMT m	ode to variable c	urrent		HC (Hold Current)		LR (Locked Rotor)	MF (Makeup Freq)	
PR AS Return the hMT mode setting to the te				inal	MU (Position Makeu	up)	TD (Torque Dir) MS (Microstep reso	<u>TQ (Torque %)</u> lution)	
NETWORK PROT									
Class Instance			Attrib	ute	Data Type		Madhua/TOD		
Ethernet/IP	0x6A	1	0x0	2	USINT		wodbus/TCP	0x008E	

Changing hMT mode to torque mode (AS=3) will result in immediate motion at the velocity specified by the torque speed (TS) variable.

AWARNING

EXECUTION OF MOTION

• Motion will occur immediately if AS=3

Failure to follow these instructions can result in death, serious injury or equipment damage.

Mne	emonic		Function			Function Group)	Access	Usage	
	AT	Set/R	Set/Read Acceleration Type			Motion Variable		RW	Program/Immediate	
Compat	ibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Not	tes: Fi	irmware 6.001+				
DESCRI	IPTION									
Defines products	Defines the type of acceleration profile used when a move is executed. There are three (3) acceleration types available for LMD products: Linear (constant), triangle s-curve and sinusoidal s-curve.									
∨м —				-			1			
				Тур	be	Accel Ramp		Des	scription	
locity		المعر		1	Li	inear (Default)	Cons veloc	Constant smooth (linear) acceleration from initial to max velocity.		
Ve		a server		2	T	riangle	Trian	gle s-curve profile.		
			linear (AT = 1) triangle s-curve (AT = 2) sinusoidal s-curve (AT =	3	s	inusoidal	The s s-curv startir	inusoidal s-curve pro ve. The main differen ng or stopping.	file is very similar to the triangle ce is that it has less jerk when	
VI 🗠	-	Т	ime	_						
Range:	1- 3			Units:				Default: 1 -	Linear	
Syntax:	AT=	<type>, PR AT</type>								
CODE E	XAMP	LES				RELATED		A (Acceleration)	AJ (Acceleration Jerk)	
AT=3		Set the Acceleration type to sinusoidal s-curve						DJ (Decel Jerk)	DT (Decel Type)	
PR AT		Return the con	figured accelerat	ion type		VI (Initial Velocity		VM (Max Velocity)		
NETWO	NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS									
		Class	Instance	Attribu	ıte	Data Type			Refer to the Modbus/TCP User	
Ether	net/IP	0x66	1	0x15	5	USINT	1	Modbus/TCP	Manual for Mfg Specific Function Codes	

Mnemonic		Function	Fu	unction Group	Usage					
AV	Approx	imate hMT Veloc	ity I	hMT Variable	Program/Immediate					
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: F	irmware 6.001+						
DESCRIPTION										
AV reads the approximate axis velocity when hMT is enabled. The granularity of the output is based upon the setting of the VF (Velocity Filter).										
Range: —	Default: —									
Syntax: PR AV [BR/CL] <label address="">, AV<math><num></num></math></label>										
CODE EXAMP	ES					RELATED				
PR AV	Print the a	actual hMT veloc	ity			AS (hMT Mode)				
0	the hM7	velocity is zero				VF (Velocity Filter)				
BR Q1,AV>100	00 Condition	al branch to Q1	when AV is grea	ater than 10000						
NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS										
Eth ann a t/ID	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type	Madhara (TOD	Refer to the Modbus/TCP User				
Ethernet/IP	0x6A	1	0x12	DINT	woabus/ICP	Function Codes				

Mnemonic		Function		Function Gr	oup	Access	Usage
BD	Set/Rea	d Serial BAUD R	late	Communications \	/ariable	RW	Program/Immediate
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A) LMM	Note LMD	es: Programmable M Motion Module (Sei	otion Contr ial RS-422/	ol LMD and 485/UART	only)
DESCRIPTION							
This variable se	s the baud rate	ne Mo	de Operation				
baud rate is set	by indicating th	e first two digits	of the desir	ed rate as shown in	the table be	low. 48	4800 bps
In order for the i	ew baud rate t	o take effect, the	user must	issue the S (SAVE) i	nstruction a	and 96	9600 bps (default)
	ween the comm		the device	must be sensidered	to allow it t	19	19200 bps
to interpret a co	mmand and res	spond to the host	before ser	idina a subsequent c	command.	38	38000 bps
				3		11	115200 bps
The time betwee	en requests is c	lependent on the	command	and the correspondi	ng respons	e from the o	device.
The BD comma queried.	nd is incompati	ble with LMD TC	P/IP produ	cts. If used, an <i>Error</i>	37: Comma	and not ava	ilable will result when
NOTES:							
 When placin 19200 bps. 	g the product ir	nto firmware upgr	ade mode	UG (Upgrade Firmwa	are) the dev	vice will auto	omatically set the BAUD to
 When the base 	ud is changed,	it MUST be mate	ched in Mo	tion Control Interface	·		
Range: See	table above		Units:		Def	ault: 96	(9600 bps)
Syntax: BD	= <mode>, PR</mode>	BD					
CODE EXAMPI	ES				REI	ATED	
BD=48 Set serial baud rate to 4800 bits per second CK (Checks)							EM (Echo mode)
PR BD	Upgrade)						
NETWORK PR	TOCOL EQU	VALENTS					
Ethormot//D	Class	Instance	Attribut	e Data Type	Mad		

Mnemonic		Function		Function Group	Acces	s	Usage			
BE	Set/F	Read Backlash E	nable	Motion Flag	RW		Immediate/Program			
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Not	es: Firmware 6.001+	•	!				
DESCRIPTION										
The BE flag ena	bles the backla	sh compensatior	n feature.		State		Meaning			
Backlash is the nut on a leadscr	amount of mecl ew may require	0	Disable (default	backlash compensation						
direction change the opposite dire	direction change, several steps would again be required before the actual motion in the opposite direction would begin.						backlash compensation			
LMD Motion Products are able to compensate for that amount using the BM (Back- lash Compensation Mode) and BL (Backlash Compensation Amount) variables, eliminating any positional errors due to backlash.										
Range: 0/1			Units:		Default:	0				
Syntax: BE=	<0/1> PR BE		0							
CODE EXAMPL	ES				RELATED)				
BE=1	Enable backlas	sh compensation			BL (Backlash	Amount	<u>t)</u>			
PR BE	Return the stat	e of the backlash	n compens	ation enable flag	BM (Backlast	<u>h Mode)</u>				
NETWORK PRO	TOCOL EQUI	VALENTS								
	Class	Instance	te Data Type	Me alburg (Tr		Refer to the Modbus/TCP User				
⊏tnernet/IP	0x66	1	0x16	BOOL	woabus/1		Function Codes			
				P						
Masaala		Function		Europetican Original			11			

Mnemonic		Function		Function Group		Access		Usage		
BL	Set/Rea	d Backlash Amou	unt	Motion Variable		RW	Imr	mediate/Program		
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Not	es: Firmware 6.001+						
DESCRIPTION								BL -		
This variable rep sation employed encoder function	resents the am in motor steps s are enabled	nount of backlash , or in encoder co (EE =1).	compen- ounts if							
The BL variable it is assumed to I always be progra and is only requi Mode 1 (BM =1 -	The BL variable is signed. If no sign precedes the value, it is assumed to be positive. The minus (-) symbol must always be programmed, The sign indicates the direction and is only required when using Backlash Compensation Mode 1 (BM =1 - Mechanical Compensation).									
Range: ±2147	483648		Units:	steps / counts		Default:	0			
Syntax: BL= <s< td=""><td>steps> PR BL</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></s<>	steps> PR BL									
CODE EXAMPL	ES						RELATED	0		
BL=25600	Set backlash c	ompensation amo	ount to 1/2	revolution @ MS=256	6 (moto	r steps)	BE (Backlas	<u>h Enable)</u>		
BL=2000	Set backlash c	ompensation amo	ount to 1/2	revolution @ EE=1 (e	encoder	r counts)	BM (Backlas	<u>sh Mode)</u> r Enable)		
PR BL	PR BL Return the amount of backlash compensation to the terminal									
NETWORK PRO	NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS									
Ethornot/IP	Class	Instance	Attribu	te Data Type	. N		Refer to	o the Modbus/TCP User		
Ethernet/IP	0x66	1	0x17	DINT	IV		Functio	on Codes		

Mnemonic		Function	Fu	nction Group	Access	Usage				
BM	Set/Rea	ad Backlash Mode	M	otion Variable	RW	Program/Immediate				
Compatibility:	D(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: Fi	rmware 6.001+						
DESCRIPTION										
The BM (Backlash Mode) variable sets the mode of operation for backlash compensation, either mathematical (mode 0) or me- chanical (mode 1). Backlash compensation must be enabled using the BE (Backlash Enable) flag in order to function.										
Mode 0: Mathematical Compensation When mathematical backlash compensation has been employed, the value of BL (Backlash Amount) is added to each change of direction. On each reversal move, the controller outputs the programmed move plus the backlash units to the driver, taking up the backlash from the change in direction, and completes the move to the correct position.										
The figure below illu	strates Mod	le 0 operation using t	he assumpt	ion that backlash is ta	ken up before th	ne first move:				
1. Move 🕕 is +10	0k steps			MCode parame	ters					
 2. Move ② is -50k steps. When the motor reverses direction, there are 1000 steps of backlash where no physical motion occurs. When Move ② executes on the reversal of direction, the value of BL (1000) is added to the value of the motion command: MA 50000 + 1000 results in a total motor move distance of 51000 steps, though the load only moves 50000 steps. The Position Counter (P) records the total move distance of 51000. MCode parameters BE=1										
3. Move 3 is -50 during Move 2	k steps. Bec , Move 3	ause the backlash w is uncompensated.	as taken up		50k					
4. Because the nex	xt move, Mo	ve 4, is a reversal	of direction,	BL is again added to	the +100000 st	eps of Move 4				
Mechanical backlash compensation always "loads" the axis in the direction of the sign (\pm) of the BL . A move in the direction opposite to that indicated by the sign (\pm) has the value specified by BL added to it. A separate move is then made relative to the sign (\pm) to take up the backlash amount and "load" the axis. Whenever possible, program more backlash than there actually is. The figure below illustrates Mode 1 operation using the assumption that backlash is taken up and the axis "loaded" in the plus										
(+) direction before	the first mov	e:								
 Move is plus NOTE: Wheney pensation value removal and pression 	s (+) 100k sto ver possible, e than the ac oper axis "lo	eps. always enter a large ctual to ensure prope ading."	er com- r backlash	MCode parameters BE=1 'enable B BL=15000 'set back BM=1 'set back	backlash compen klash amount to klash mode to n	nsation 5 15k steps mechanical				
 The example in mechanical bac (or some value 	the figure al klash, set B greater thar	bove assumes 10k si SL (Backlash Amount n 10000).	teps of) to 15000	15k-	100k					
 Move (2) indexe 10k steps backle ment of the axis (2) is opposite of compensatio Because of the unit overshoot. 	es the axis n ash, the (un s would only the sign of th n is added g physical bac	ninus (-) 100k steps I icompensated) phys be 90k steps. Since he compensation, 15 giving a sum of 115k cklash, the result wo	out due to ical move- Move k sites steps. uld be a 5		₹ 2 - 100k + 10k + 5	k – 10k Mech. Backlash				
 On execution of the correct posi 	Move 3, the tion and "loa	he axis moves back ad" the axis again.	in the plus (+) direction 15k steps	 10k to take up 	backlash and 5k to go to				
Range: 0/1		Uni	ts: —		Default: 0					
Syntax: BM= <mo< td=""><td>de> PR BN</td><td>N</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></mo<>	de> PR BN	N								
CODE EXAMPLESBM=1Set back	lash comper	nsation mode to 1: m	echanical c	ompensation	RELATED	le <u>)</u>				
PR BM Return th	e mode sett	ting for backlash com	pensation t	o the terminal	BL (Backlash Amou	<u>int)</u>				
NETWORK PROTO		VALENTS			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					
Ethernot/ID	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type		Refer to the Modbus/TCP User				
	0x66	1	0x18	BOOL		Function Codes				
LMD-MCODE-V2.06						41				

Mnemonic		Function	Fu	Usage						
BP		Break Point	Prog	gram Instruction	CMD	Program/Immediate				
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: -	-	÷	·				
DESCRIPTION										
The Break Point mizing the LMD N	nstruction is a 1Code prograi	i debugging tool u ms.	ised to set brea	k points within a p	program to assist in t	roubleshooting and opti-				
The program must execute in either trace or single-step mode for the BP instruction to take effect. The program executes for the number of times specified by the count, then goes into single-step mode at the address or label specified by BP . Press the spacebar to step through the program if in single-step mode.										
While a program is running; typing BP without a value will break a program and allow the spacebar to step through the program where it is. As if a BP was set.										
To disable the bre	ak point, set l	3P=0.								
Range: —			Units: —		Default: —					
Syntax: BP <	abel/address>	>, <count></count>								
CODE EXAMPLI	S					RELATED				
BP X1,3 E	reak at label 2	X1 after 3 cycles				EX (Execute program)				
EX P1,2	xecute progra	am P1 in single-st	ep mode							
NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS										
Ethorpot/IP	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type						
EtherneviP	—		—	—	woubus/TCP	_				

Mnemonic		Function	Fu	nction Group	Access	Usage					
BR		Branch	Prog	gram Instruction	CMD	Program/Immediate					
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: -	-							
DESCRIPTION											
The branch inst also be used to	The branch instruction is used to perform a conditional or unconditional branch to a location in an LMD MCode program. It can also be used to perform loops and IF THEN logic within a program. There are two types of branch instructions:										
<u>Conditional Branch</u> There are two parameters to a conditional branch instruction. The first parameter specifies an address or user label where pro- gram execution should continue when the condition defined by the second parameter occur. The second parameter defines the condition, which may include flag states, variable values or logical functions. Only one condi- tion may exist.											
Example condit	Example conditions defining the second parameter include:										
Input logic st	ates: I1=0 (Inpu	t 1 is LOW), I2=1	(Input 2 is HIG	H)							
Flag logic sta	ates: ST=1 (Axis	is stalled)									
Variable valu	es (user or facto	ory): V1<=10 (Us	er Variable V1 is	s less than/equal	to 10)						
Unconditional B In an uncondition specified by the	<u>ranch</u> nal branch, the first parameter.	second paramete	er is not specifie	d, and then the e	xecution continues	at the label or address					
Range: —			Units: —		Default: -	_					
Syntax (Condit	i onal): B	R <label address<="" td=""><td>>, [VAR/FLG/IN</td><td>]<math><condition< td=""><td>on></td><td></td></condition<></math></td></label>	>, [VAR/FLG/IN] $on>$	on>						
Syntax (Uncon	ditional): B	R <label address<="" td=""><td>></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></label>	>								
CODE EXAMP	CODE EXAMPLES RELATED										
BR Q1 Unconditional branch to labeled location Q1 CL (Call Subroutine)											
BR Q1,11=1	Conditional bra	nch to labeled lo	cation Q1 when	input 1 is equal t	o 1	EX (Execute Program)					
NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS											
Ethorpot/IP	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type							
	_		_		WIGUDUS/TCF						

Mnemon	ic	Function	Fu	Function Group Access Usage						
BY	Progra	m Busy (executin	g)	Status Flag	RO	Immediate				
Compatibility: LMD(0) LMD(c) LMD(A) LMM Notes:										
DESCRIPTIO	DESCRIPTION									
The BY flag indicates the status of program execution: (0) program is not executing or (1) program running.										
Range: 0.	nge: 0/1 Units: — Default: —									
Syntax: P	R BY									
CODE EXAM	PLES			RELATED						
PR BY	Return the sta	te of the busy flag)	E (End Program)	<u>EX (</u>	(Execute progra	m) PG (Program Mode)			
NETWORK P	ROTOCOL EQU	IVALENTS					·			
Ethornot//F	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type	Mag		0.0004			
	0x64	1	0x07	BOOL		ubus/ICP	UXUUU4			

Mnemonic		Function		Function Gro	A gu	ccess	Usage	
C1	Read/Se	t Counter 1 (Mol	tor Counts)	Motion Variable	es RW	1	Program/Immediate	
Compatibility:	(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: —	-				
DESCRIPTION			I					
This variable contain supplies the position encoder or EE (Enco	s the 32-bi count for F der Enable	t integer count of (Position Count e) is set to zero (f the clock pulse ter) when the LM 0/disabled).	s generated by th 1D Motion produc	ne LMD M0 ct is operat	Code comp ing in open	atible device. Counter 1 loop mode without an	
Rollover behavior: When C1 reaches its direction, C1 rolls ov count and counts up <u>Example</u> :	limit in eith er to the lin or down fro	ner the plus (+) c nit value of the o om there.	or minus(-) pposite signed	The following program snippet illustrates the declaration of a user variable, Xr, to function as a rollover counter. The motion runs until C1 reaches a predetermined value, then calls a subroutine to increment the rollover counter variable, then zero C1 before returning to the program. This snippet may be adapted to duplicate this functionality with the C2 (Encoder Counter) variable and P (Position Counter) by replacing the C1 references to the appropriate variable.				
■ C1 = 2147483647	', its plus (+) upper limit		Global variables:				
Enter a plus (+) m	ove of 1 m	otor count		VA Xr=0		Define user and set value	variable Xr (Rollover Counter) e to 0	
limit.	tums -214	7483648, the mi	nus (-) lower	Program contents:				
Absolute Encoder r	note:			PG 1 LB X1		Enter progra program X1	am mode @address 1, name	
LMD products with a	a multi-turn	absolute encode	er read the	'***Motion*** Motion code block			block	
counts/rev).		z, in encoder co		CL X2, C1>=2000 BR X1	000000	Call named s than/equal a	subroutine X2 when C1 greater signed value	
in motor steps, and a	, P, will rea	o the shaft positi ommands are is:	on from C1 sued in motor	'***Subroutine*	**			
Steps. On powering or perform a calculation steps, then load C1	orming a sc converting with that va	offware reset, the of the C2 count value, synchronizir	LMD will alue to motor	LB X2 IC Xr PR Xr Increment the rollover counter register, res PR C1 C1 to zero, return from subroutine X2 C1=0 RT			ne rollover counter register, reset return from subroutine X2	
counters.				E End, exit program mode				
NOTE : Do not modify synchronize the C1/0 counters are resynce	y the count C2 relations ed via a pov	er values during ship and may cau wer cycle or soft	system operatic use position erro ware reset.	n. Changing the ors do to a discrep	value of C pancy betw	1 during no veen actual	ormal operation will de- I and reported until the	
Range: -214748	3648 to +2	147483647	Units: mote	orcounts	Defa	ult: —		
Syntax: C1= <cou< td=""><td>unts> PR</td><td>C1 BR <label a<="" td=""><td>address>, C1=<</td><td>counts></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></label></td></cou<>	unts> PR	C1 BR <label a<="" td=""><td>address>, C1=<</td><td>counts></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></label>	address>, C1=<	counts>				
CODE EXAMPLES							RELATED	
C1=10000		Set the value of	f counter 1 to 10	000			C2 (Counter 2)	
PR C1		Read the value	of counter 1 to	the terminal			EE (Encoder Enable)	
BR Q1, C1=51200	0	Conditional bra	nch to named lo	ocation Q1 when counter 1 = value P (Position Counter)			P (Position Counter)	
CL X5, C1=51200	0	Conditional call	to named subro	outine X5 when co	ounter 1 =	value		
NETWORK PROTO		VALENTS						
Ethernot/IP	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type	Mod			
	0x68	1	0x01	DINT	woul		0.0000 - 0.0000	

Enabling the encoder (EE=1) or modifying the data in Motor Counter C1 or Encoder Counter C2 on LMD models with a multi-turn absolute encoder during operation will desynchronize the relationship between the counters and the Absolute encoder counter, causing a discrepancy between reported and actual shaft position.

ACAUTION UNINTENDED OPERATION Do not modify, manually or by program, counters C1 or C2 during operation. Do not move outside the range of the counter, either by setting it manually or by rolling over the counter on LMD models with an absolute encoder. Failure to follow these instructions can result in injury or equipment damage.

•

Mnemonic		Function Function Group Access								
C2	Read/S	et Counter 2 (En	coder Counts)	Motion Variabl	les	RW	Program/Immediate			
Compatibility:	MD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A) LMM	Notes: LMD Clos LMM with	ed loop encoder						
DESCRIPTION										
This variable contais enabled (EE=1)	This variable contains the 32-bit integer value of the encoder counts read by the LMD MCode compatible device. When encoder is enabled (EE=1), C2 provides the position count for P (Position Counter).									
Rollover behavior:										
When C2 reaches its limit in either the plus (+) or minus(-) direction rolls over to the limit value of the opposite signed count and counts up or down from there. <u>Example</u> :										
■ C2 = 21474836	■ C2 = 2147483647, its plus (+) upper limit									
Enter a plus (+)	move of 1 e	ncoder count								
Issuing PR C2	returns -214	7483648, the mi	nus (-) lower lim	it.						
Range: -1677	'2160 to +16	7772160	Units: enco	oder counts		Default: —				
Syntax: C2= <c< td=""><td>ounts> PR</td><td>C2 BR <label a<="" td=""><td>address>, C2=<</td><td>counts></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></label></td></c<>	ounts> PR	C2 BR <label a<="" td=""><td>address>, C2=<</td><td>counts></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></label>	address>, C2=<	counts>						
CODE EXAMPLE	6						RELATED			
C2=10000	Set the va	alue of counter 2	to 10000				C1 (Counter 1)			
PR C2	Read the	value of counter	2 to the termina	I			EE (Encoder Enable)			
BR Q1,C2=40000	Condition	al branch to nam	ned location Q1 v	when counter 2 =	value		EL (Encoder Lines)			
CL X5, C2=40000 Conditional call to named subroutine X5 when counter 2 = value							P (Position Counter)			
NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS										
Ethernet/IP	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type	P	Modbus/TCP	0x0007 - 0x0008			
Fuenent	0x69	1	0x01	DINT	ľ		0,0007 - 0,0000			

Enabling the encoder (EE=1) or modifying the data in Motor Counter C1 or Encoder Counter C2 on LMD models with a multi-turn absolute encoder during operation will desynchronize the relationship between the counters and the Absolute encoder counter, causing a discrepancy between reported and actual shaft position.

UNINTENDED OPERATION

- Do not modify, manually or by program, counters C1 or C2 during operation.
- Do not move outside the range of the counter, either my setting it manually or by rolling over the counter on LMD models with an absolute encoder.

Failure to follow these instructions can result in injury or equipment damage.

Mnemonic		Function			Fur	nction Gro	oup	Access	Usage		
СВ	Read/S	Set Control Boun	nds (fo	r hMT)	Mc	tion Varia	ble	RW	Program/Immediate		
Compatibility:		C) 🔲 LMD(A) 📕 LMM		Notes: —	-						
DESCRIPTION The CB (Contro used to tune the	l Bounds) varia e control toleran	ble defines the o ce, optimizing th	perati e devi	onal tolera ce for torq	nce fo ue, sp	r the close eed, or ba	ed loop lance	o hMTechnology d torque-speed	. The four (4) settings a performance.		
The setting repr and the stator w	esents a range vithin the tolerar	value in full motonce by the particu	or step ular me	os. The hM ode setting	ITechn J.	ology feat	ure ke	eps the relation	ship between the rotor		
For example, C tor relationship speed performa	For example, CB =0 provides the tightest control bounds for optimal torque performance. The hMT algorithm keeps the rotor-sta- tor relationship within 1.1 full steps. CB =3 opens the performance gap between the rotor and the stator to 1.7 steps for better speed performance.										
CB (Control Bo	unds) is only ap	applicable when hMTechnology is in Setting						Ol	peration		
fixed or variable current modes (AS=1 or AS=2). 0 ± 1.1 motor full ste								motor full steps prov	ides optimal torque performant		
When hMT torque mode (AS=3) is active, control bounds are pre-							motor full steps (defa	ault) best overall balanced			
defined at 1.1 motor steps (CB =0) and may not be adjusted.						2	± 1.5	motor full steps	mance		
						3	± 1.7	motor full steps prov	ides optimal speed performanc		
	LAG*			±2 FUL	L STE	EPS —			AD*		
		3 1-2		0)		1-2	3 0			
	STALL		Co	ontrol Bou	nds M	odes					
	*L L	AG: rotor is behind EAD: rotor is ahead	l stator d of sta	(accelerating tor (decelera	g or tra ating or	nsient load) overhauling	g load)	1			
Range: 0-3			Unit	s: —				Default: 1			
Syntax: CB	= <mode> PR (</mode>	СВ									
CODE EXAMPLES RELATED									RELATED		
CB=2	Set the control	bounds mode fo	r hMT	to 1.5 mot	tor full	steps			AS (hMT Mode)		
PR CB	Return the con	trol bounds mode	e to th	e terminal							
NETWORK PR	OTOCOL EQUI	VALENTS									
	Class	Instance	Α	ttribute	Da	ata Type					
Ethernet/IP	0x6A	1		0x03	L	JSINT	1	Modbus/ICP	0x0091		

Mnemonio	:		Function		Function Grou	р	Access	Usage		
CE		Software	e reset enable/o	disable	Configuration fla	ag	R/W	Program/Immediate		
Compatibility:	LMD(O)	LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Note	es: —					
DESCRIPTION										
This setup flag will configure the device to respond or not respond to a CTRL+C software reset.										
	Mode									
	0	Disable	ed, LMD device will							
	1 Enabled (default) CTRL+C entry will assert a software reset, stopping motion and running programs. Un- saved user variables and data will be lost.							ams. Un-		
	2	Is addre	essable in party mo	de (PY=1), C	TRL+C will respond the sar	ne as CE	E=1 when not in party	/ mode.		
Range: 0 -	- 2			Units:	—		Default: 1 (enabled)		
Syntax: CE	= <mode></mode>	, PR CE	<u>.</u>							
CODE EXAMP	LES					REL	ATED			
CE=0	Disable r	esponse	e to software re	set comma	and CTRL+C	<u>DN (</u>	Device Name)			
PR CE Return the software reset mode to the terminal						PY (Party Mode)				
NETWORK PR	OTOCOL	EQUIV	ALENTS							
Class Instance			Instance	Attribut	te Data Type		Madhua/TCD	0.0000		
Ethernet/IP 0x64 1 0x01 BOOL Modbus				woabus/TCP	0x0009					

Mnemonic		Function		Function Group		Access	Usage			
CF	Clear L	ocked Rotor Erro	r	hMT instruction		CMD	Program/Immediate			
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C	C) LMD(A) LMM	Note	es: —						
DESCRIPTION The CF instructi	on clears a lock	ked rotor fault and	re-enables	s the output bridge.						
A locked rotor is indicated by the LR (Locked Rotor) flag, the assertion of an <i>Error 104: hMT Locked Rotor</i> , or by a latched state on the Attention Output, if so configured using the AO (Attention Output Mask) variable.										
A power cycle w	ill also clear a l	ocked rotor.								
Range: —			Units:	—		Default: —				
Syntax: CF										
CODE EXAMPL	ES				REL	ATED	AS (hMT Mode)			
CF Clear locked rotor condition, re-enable output bridges LR (Locked Rotor) LT (Locked Rotor Timeout)										
NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS										
Ethermot//D	Class	Instance	Attribute	e Data Type	ype					
Etnernet/IP	0x6A	1	0x04	BOOL	Modbus/TCP 0x0093					

Mnemonic	:	Fun	ction			Functio	n Gro	oup			Acces	5		Usage	
СК	(Checksum	mode selec	ct		Configurat	on Va	ariable	Э	1	R/W		Progra	m/Imme	diate
Compatibility:	LMD(O)	_MD(C)	(A) LMM		Note	es: —						!			
DESCRIPTION This setup varia	able config	ures the de	evice to ope	erate i	n che	cksum mo	de.								
In this mode, a	opending tl	ne ASCII	Command	М	R	<space></space>	5	1	2	0	0		+	7-bits	\rightarrow
character repre	senting the	e value of	ASCII:	77	82	32	53	49	50	48	48	sum \rightarrow	439		
the checksum i	s required	following	Action:	Conve	ert to th	ne sum to bina	ary						1	1011	0111
Action: One's complement the result						0	0100	1000							
Io calculate the checksum, using Action: Adding one results in a two's complement						0	0100	1001							
MR 51200 (move relative one Action: Or result with 128							0	1100	1001						
revolution):		0110	Result:	Result: Checksum (decimal) = 201											
			ASCII Table	SCII Table lookup DEC 201 provides check sum character =											
			Enter MR 51200 [ALT] +0201 OR paste MR 51200 ź into the active terminal window to execute command via checksum mode								via				
To assist in calculating the checksum, we have provided a Microsoft® Excel spreadsheet wh checksum and displays the checksum character. See the Resource Download portion of this Checksum Calculator.						eet which of this tab	calculates le to down	the load the							
	Mode					Oper	ration							1	
	0	Checksum r	node disabled	(defaul	t)									1	
	1	Puts the dev sum to follow the characte (0x15 – Che successful)	vice into check w the comman ers in the comme cksum verifica when the comm	sum mo ds. The nand "C Ition fail mand c	ode. W check DR" ed lure) if orrectly	hen enabled, sum is the 2's with 128 (Hex the checksum / processes (r	all com comple = 0x80 is inco io error	munica ement)). The prrect of).	ations v of the 7 comma r an AC	vith the 7-bit su and is a CK (0x0	device r m of the acknowle 6 - chec	equire a c ASCII val edged with ksum verit	check- ue of all n an NAK fication		
	2	Enables che is running, echoed.	ecksum mode. NAK is only ec	Howev hoed if	er, "NA an erro	K" only sent for occurs. In in	or bad o nmedia	checks ite moc	um. "A le, both	CK" is ACK o	not echo or NAK c	ed if a pro haracters	ogram are		
Range: 0-2				Unit	s:	_				Def	ault:	0 (dis	abled)		
Syntax: CK	= <mode>,</mode>	PR CK													
CODE EXAMP	LES								REL	ATE	D	RESC	OURCE	DOWNL	OAD
ск=1 Enal	ole checks	um verifica	tion in mod	e 1: A	CK a	nd NAK alv	ways s	sent	<u>BD (</u>	BAUD	Rate)	Checks	sum Calcu	lator (*.xls)	<u>()</u>
PR CK Retu	irn the sele	cted check	ksum mode	to the	e term	ninal									
NETWORK PR	OTOCOL	EQUIVALE	INTS												
	Class	1	Instance	A	ttribut	te D	ata Ty	pe					0000		
Ethernet/IP	0x64		1		0x01		BOOL	_	Modbus/TCP 0x0009						

Mnemonic		Function	Fu	nction Group		Access	Usage			
CL	Ca	all Subroutine	Proç	gram Instruction		CMD	Program			
Compatibility:	MD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: -	-						
DESCRIPTION This instruction is u multiple places rath	sed to invok er than repe	e a subroutine w eating code withir	rithin a program, n a program.	allowing the use	er to se	gment code an	d call a subroutine from			
There are two parameters to the CL (Call Subroutine) instruction.										
The first parameter specifies the program address or label of the subroutine to be invoked if the second parameter, the condi- tion, is satisfied. If the second parameter is not used or blank, the subroutine indicated by the first parameter is always invoked.										
The second parameter defines the condition. This setting includes variables and flags, as well as logical and input functions, that are to be evaluated. There can only be one condition.										
The subroutine mu dress line following	st end with a the line invo	an RT (Return) in oking a subroutin	struction. The R e call.	T instruction will	cause	program execu	tion to return to the ad-			
Range: —			Units: —			Default: —				
Syntax (Condition	al): (0	conditional) CL <	abel/address>,	[VAR/FLG/IN] <m< td=""><td>ath><c< td=""><td>condition></td><td></td></c<></td></m<>	ath> <c< td=""><td>condition></td><td></td></c<>	condition>				
Syntax (Uncondit	onal): (ւ	unconditional) CL	<a>label/address	>						
CODE EXAMPLES	;						RELATED			
CL Q3 Un	conditionally	call subroutine	at labeled location	on Q3			<u>BR (Branch)</u>			
CL Q3,I1=1 CC	CL Q3, I1=1 Conditionally call subroutine at labeled location Q3 when input 1 is 1. RT (Return from Subroutine)									
NETWORK PROT	DCOL EQUI	VALENTS								
Ethernet/IP	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type	Data Type Modbus/TCP					
Luienieur	_	—		_						

Mnemonic		Function	Fu	Function Group		Usage	
СР	Clear	Program Memory	/ Pro	gram Instruction	CMD	Immediate	
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: -	_			
DESCRIPTION Clears the progra and executed dire variables or flags.	n space in th ctly from NVN	e non-volitile mer /I. The CP instruc	nory (NVM) as tion will empty	specified by the inst program memory or	ruction parameter. nly. It will not erase	Programs are stored globally declared user	
A save command	(S) must be i	Parameter	Operation				
CP (Clear Program	n).	0	Retain user variables				
Issuing an FD (Fa	ctory Default	s) will also clear p	program memor	y space.	1	Delete user variables	
CP may be used	ith a parame	eter to determine	whether or not t	to leave user variab	les.		
Range: —			Units: —		Default: —		
Syntax: CP <	abel/address	> CP					
CODE EXAMPLE	S					RELATED	
СР С	ear all of pro	gram memory an	d save			FD (Factory Defaults)	
S		IP (Initialize Parameters)					
CP 0,P1 C	<u>S (Save)</u>						
NETWORK PRO	OCOL EQUI	VALENTS					
Class Instance		Instance	Attribute	Data Type		Refer to the Modbus/TCP User	
Ethernet/IP	_	_		_	Modbus/TCP	Manual for Mfg Specific Function Codes	

				Eurotian Crown					
Mnemonic		Function		Fu	nction Group		Acce	SS	Usage
CW	Clock W	/idth for Trip Outp	out	I	I/O Variable		RW	/	Program/Immediate
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	N	otes: —					
DESCRIPTION:									
CW sets the pulse width duration for the trip output in 50 nanosecond increments. The trip output will be active for the duration specified by the CW variable.							on Trij	- 100 nS	
Range: 0 - 2	55		Units:	50 n	Sec	·	Default:	10	(x 50 nSec)
Svntax: CW=	<time>. PR C</time>	W							. ,
	ES								RELATED
CW=100 Set Trip output clock width to 5000 nSec (100 * 50 nS)								PC (Position Capture)	
PR CWRead the value of CW to the terminal100Clock width is 100 nSec									
NETWORK PRO	TOCOL EQUI	VALENTS							
	Class	Instance	Attril	Attribute Data Type				0.0005	
Etnernet/IP	0x64	1	0x0	02	USINT Modbus/TCP 0x0				UXUUUE

Mnemo	nic	Function		Function Gro	oup	Access	Usa	ge			
D		Set/Read Deceleratio	n	Motion variat	ole	RW	Program/In	nmediate			
Compatibili	ty: LMD(0)	LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM	Not	es: —							
DESCRIPTI	ON										
Defines the rate of 7680	deceleration 0 steps per s	rate when changing ve econd, every second a	elocity. If the at the defau	e value of D is 76 Ilt linear accelera	800 steps po tion type.	er second ² , the	e motor decelera	ates at a			
The primary able) flag. W counts/sec ² .	The primary factor determining the range and units applied to the deceleration profile is the logic state of the EE (Encoder En- able) flag. When disabled (EE =0) deceleration is measured in steps/sec ² . When enabled (EE =1) the value represents encoder counts/sec ² . When EE is changed, A , D , VI and VM are recalculated.										
The second adds triangle constant val	The secondary factors impacting deceleration is the configuration of DT (Deceleration Type) and DJ (Deceleration Jerk). DT adds triangle and sinusoidal S-curve capability to the default linear deceleration type. The DJ variable allows the user to set a constant value to compensate for load oscillations.										
Dangal	Clock Mode	66 to 1100 X 10 ⁶	Unito	Clock Mode	steps/sec ²	Default	Clock Mode	1000000			
Kaliye.	Encoder	85937496	Units.	Encoder	counts/sec ²	Delault.	Encoder	78125			
Syntax:	D= <integer></integer>	PR D									
CODE EXA	MPLES				1	RELATED					
D=2000	Set dece	leration to 2000 steps	/sec ²		<u>I</u>	A (Acceleration)	DJ (Decel	Jerk)			
PR D	PR D Print deceleration to the terminal screen DT (Decel Type) EE (Encoder Enable)										
2000	decele	eration is set to 2000 s	teps/sec ²		Δ	/I (Initial Velocity)	<u>VM (Max V</u>	<u>'elocity)</u>			
NETWORK	PROTOCOL	EQUIVALENTS									
Ethorpot	Clas	s Instance	Attribu	te Data Typ	be N		0,0018 0,0010				
Ethernet	0x6	6 1	0x02	0x02 UDINT			020010 - 020019				

Mnemon	c	Function	Functio	on Group	Access	Usage					
D1 - D	4 Read/Se	et Digital Input Fil	ter I/O V	ariable	RW	Program/Immediate					
Compatibility	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: —								
DESCRIPTIO	DESCRIPTION										
Variable defines the time in milliseconds that the input is allowed to settle following a state transition, a factor common to me- chanical switches.											
Filtering is ap	iltering is applied separately to each input.										
Range: 0	Range:0 (no filtering) - 255Units:millisecondsDefault:0										
Syntax: D	[1-4]= <time> PR</time>	2 D[1-4]									
CODE EXAM	PLES					RELATED					
D2=50	Set the digital f	ilter of input 2 to	50 msec			D5 (Analog Filter)					
PR D2 50	Read the value Filtering for i	of D2 to the tern nput 3 is 50 msec	ninal c			I[1-4] (Read Input 1-4) IS (Input Setup)					
NETWORK P	NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS										
	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type		0x000F					
Ethernet/IF	Dernet/IP 0x67 1 0x02 - 0x05 USINT Modbus/TCP				CP 0x0010 0x0011 0x0012						

Mnemonic		Function		Function Grou	ip Access		Usage		
D5	Set	/Read Analog In	put Filter	I/O Variable	RW	Pr	Program/Immediate		
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: -	-					
DESCRIPTION									
The Analog Filt below, where D 4095.	The Analog Filter is a continuously updating process. A running average (Aa) is performed by computing the equation shown below, where D5 (Analog Filter) is a value between 0 and 1000 and I5 (Read Analog Input) is the current reading between 0 and 4095.								
Aa = ((Aa * (D5	Aa = ((Aa * (D5 - 1)) + I5) / D5								
Range: 0 –	- 1000		Units: milli	seconds	Default: 0				
Syntax: D5	= <counts> PR</counts>	D5							
CODE EXAMP	LES						RELATED		
D5=50	Set the analog	filter to 50 count	S				D[1-4] (Input Filter)		
PR D5Read the value of D5 to the terminal50the analog filter is set to 50						I[1-4] (Read Input) IS (Input Setup)			
NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS									
Ethorpot/ID	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type			12		
0x67 1 0x1			0x06	UINT	woubus/TCP	0X0013			

Mnemonio		Function	Fu	nction Group		Access	Usage				
DB	Enc	oder Deadband	M	otion Variable		RW	Program/Immediate	3			
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: LN	s: LMM operability requires connected and configured encoder							
DESCRIPTION											
This variable defines the plus (+) and minus (-) length of the encoder dead-band in encoder counts.											
A move completenance) is ena	A move completes when motion stops within the range defined by the DB (Encoder Deadband) parameter. If PM (Position Main- tenance) is enabled, (PM=1), the position corrects when pushed outside of DB value once in position.										
Encoder function	Encoder functions must be enabled (EE=1) for the DB to take effect.										
Range: 0 -	- 65000		Units: cour	nts		Default: 1					
Syntax: DB	= <counts>, PR</counts>	DB									
CODE EXAMP	LES			RELATED							
DB=10	Set the encode	er deadband to ±	10 counts	C2 (Counter 2)		EE (Encoder Enab	le) PM (Position Maint.)				
PR DB	minal	SM (Stall Mode)		ST (Stall Flag)	SF (Stall Factor)						
NETWORK PR	NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS										
Ethormot//D	Class Instance Attribu		Attribute	Data Type			0,0014				
Emernet/IP	0x69	1	0x02	UINT	Modbus/ICP		0x001A				

Mnemonic		Function	Fu	nction Group		Access	Usage			
DC	Dec	rement Variable		Instruction		WO	Program/Immediate			
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes:	otes: —						
DESCRIPTION										
Decrements the	specified facto	ry or user variab	le by one (1).							
Attempting to decrement an unspecified or read-only variable results in an Error 25: variable is read-only.										
Attempting to decrement a mode select or configuration variable, for example MS (Microstep Resolution) results in an Error 26: attempting to increment or decrement an illegal variable.										
Range: —			Units: —			Default: —				
Syntax: DC	<var></var>									
CODE EXAMP	ES			RELATED						
DC V1 Decrement user variable V1 IC (Increment Variable) VA {Create User Var}										
NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS										
Ethornot/ID	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type		Modbus/TCP	0,001P			
Emerneuip		_		—						

Masaasia	1	Function Eunction Group Access Usage										
winemonic		Function		Fu	nctio	n Group		Access	Usage			
DE	Drive	e Enable/disable		Configuration Flag				RW	Program/Immediate			
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Not	Notes: —								
DESCRIPTION												
Enables (1- default) or disables (0) the drive output bridges.												
Issuing a motion	n command, for	example, MA (M	ove	Mo	de			Operation				
Absolute), MR (Move Relative),	SL (Slew), or an	y homing	0		Bridge outputs	s disable	ed. Attempting moti	on results in an Error 94.			
Error 94: attem	oting motion whi	ile the drive is dis	abled.	1		Bridge outputs enabled (default).						
Range: 0/1			Units:	_			0	Default: 1 -	Enabled			
Syntax: DE	= <mode></mode>	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·										
CODE EXAMP	LES				REL	ATED						
DE=0	Set drive enabl	ed state to 0 (dis	abled)		-							
NETWORK PR	NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS											
Class Instance Attri					D	ata Type			0,0010			
Ethernet/IP	Ethernet/IP 0x64 1			0x03 BOOL		BOOL	Moabus/ICP		0x001C			

Mnemonic		Function		Func	tion Group		Access	Usage		
DG	Enab respor	le/disable global nse in party mode	e	Configuration Flag			RW	Program/Immediate		
Compatibility:	D(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	No	tes : Seria	al RS-422/485	mode	els and LMM onl	у		
DESCRIPTION										
Enables or disables device response to global commands made while in party mode (PY=1). In the default state (DG=1) the device executes global commands without sending back a response. By setting DG=0, that device responds global commands.										
The asterisk charac										
commands. Comma	ands preced	ed by this charac	ter will	0	Enable global re	esponse	to commands (com	mands echo back to terminal)		
system that has DG	= 0.	compatible devic		1	Disable global re back to terminal	esponse)	e to commands (defa	ult — command does not echo		
Note: DG only impa	icts operatio	on when the devi	ce is in se	erial party	mode (PY=1)).				
Range: 0/1			Units:				Default: 1			
Syntax: DG= <m< td=""><td>iode> <dn< td=""><td>>DG=0</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></dn<></td></m<>	iode> <dn< td=""><td>>DG=0</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></dn<>	>DG=0								
CODE EXAMPLES								RELATED		
DG=0 Enable g	lobal respor	nse to commands	6					DN (Device name)		
aDG=0 Enable g	lobal respor	nse to commands	s on name	ed device	e "a"			PY (Party Mode)		
NETWORK PROTO	COL EQUI	VALENTS								
	Class	Instance	Attrib	ute	Data Type					
Ethernet/IP	_	—	_		—		woabus/TCP			

Mnemonic		Function		Function Group		Access	Usage
DJ	Read/Se	et Deceleration J	erk	Motion Variable		RW	Program/Immediate
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Note	s: Firmware 6.001+	1		
DESCRIPTION							
Deceleration Je	rk is the rate of	change of Decel	eration, or,	the derivative of Dec	eleratio	on with respect	to time.
The Deceleration	n jerk variable	only impacts the	motion prof	ile when an S-curve I	Decele	eration type (DT	=2 or DT =3) is selected.
The jerk value r the LMD produc	nay be adjusted t samples 256	l to any integer va data points during	alue betwee g the decele	en 0 and 127 to comp eration ramp.	pensat	e for load oscilla	itions. The motion logic in
The LMD product samples 256 data points during the deceleration ramp. The value applied to DJ represents the number of data points on either side of the center of the deceleration table, at which the deceleration is at a constant, linear deceleration). For example: With DJ =64, the decel- eration ramp will be constant for 128 samples, or 64 samples on either side of the ramp center. This graphic shows an example of Deceleration Jerk.							
Range: 0 to	127		Units:			Default: 0	
Syntax: DJ:	<pre>value> PR D</pre>)J					
CODE EXAMP	ES					RELATED	
DJ=32 Set o	leceleration jerk	c to 32				A (Acceleration)	AJ (Accel Jerk)
DD DT Pos	the value of D	I to the terminal	window			AT (Accel Type)	D (Deceleration)
32 dece	l jerk is set to 3		DT (Decel Type)	VI (Initial Velocity)			
						<u>vivi (iviax veiocity)</u>	
		Instanco	Attribut	Data Tuno	1		Refer to the Modbus/TCP User
Ethernet/IP	0x66	1	0x19	USINT	-	Modbus/TCP	Manual for Mfg Specific Function Codes

Mnemonic		Function		Function Gro	oup	Access	Usage				
DN	Devic	e name for party	mode	Communication v	variable	RW	Program/Immediate				
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Note	s : Serial RS-422/485	5 models an	d LMM onl	у				
DESCRIPTION											
Configures the n factory default is the character MU returns an <i>Error</i>	ame of the dev "!" Once name JST be within o 21: Tried to SE	vice for party moded, the device na quotation marks.	de communi me must pre Attempting t <i>value</i> .	cations. The accepta ecede the instruction to assign a device na	able range c to that drive ame without	of character e. When as enclosing	rs is a-z, A-Z, 0-9. The ssigning a device name, it within quotation marks				
The name is case sensitive.											
Resetting the de The device name	Resetting the device to the default character (!) requires an FD (Factory Default Reset). The device name will be lost following a factory reset.										
Range: a-z, A	-Z, 0-9		Units:	nits: ASCII Default: !							
Syntax: DN=	" <char>" PR</char>	DN									
CODE EXAMPL	ES						RELATED				
DN="a" Set th	e device name	to the character	"a"				PY (Party Mode)				
PR DN Return the device name to the terminal window											
NETWORK PRO											
Ethernet/ID	Class	Instance	Attribute	e Data Type	Mod						
⊂tnernet/IP	_	_	_	_		JUS/ICP	_				

Mnemonic	Function	Function Group	Access	Usage
DT	Read/Set Deceleration Type	Motion Variable	RW	Program/Immediate
Compatibility:	D(O) LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM	otes: Firmware 6.001+		

DESCRIPTION

Defines the type of deceleration profile used when a move is executed. There are three (3) deceleration types available for LMD products: Linear (constant), triangle s-curve, and sinusoidal s-curve.



	U										
Mnemonic		Function	Fu	nction Group		Access	Usage				
E	E	End program Pro				CMD	Program/Immediate				
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: -	lotes: —							
DESCRIPTION											
The operation of the E (End Program) instruction differs between immediate and program mode.											
<u>Program mode</u> : In program mode, the E instruction is used to designate the end of a program.											
Immediate mode: An E issued while in immediate mode ends the currently executing program. If a move is in progress, the program ends after motion completes.											
Range: —			Units: —			Default: –	-				
Syntax: E			<u>.</u>								
CODE EXAMPI	ES			RELATED							
E End program EX (Execute Program) PG (Program Mode)											
NETWORK PR	NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS										
Ethernet/ID	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type	Madhas (TOD						
Ethernet/IP	_	_	_	_		woodbus/TCP	_				

Mnemonic		Function		Fu	nction Group		Access	Usage			
EE	Encod	er Enable/Disable	e	Co	nfiguration flag		RW	Program/Immediate			
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)		Notes: -	-						
DESCRIPTION											
Enables or disable coder counts. The	Enables or disables encoder mode. Once placed in encoder mode, all motion-related variables and commands register in encoder counts. The value of P (Position Counter) will update from C2 (Encoder Counter).										
Encoder functions	osi-	Mode			Operation						
tion maintenance	require that e	ncoder functions	be	0	Disable (default) en	coder f	unctions, motion regi	sters in motor step counts.			
				1	Enable encoder functions, motion registers in encoder counts. Functions such as stall detection and position maintenance are available.						
When EE is chang	ged, A , D , VI a	and VM are recal	culate	ed.							
Range: 0/1			Unit	s: —			Default: 0 (disabled)			
Syntax: EE=<	mode> PR E	E									
CODE EXAMPLE	S				RELATED		C2 (Counter 2)	DB (Deadband)			
EE=1 Enable	encoder fund	tions			EL (Encoder Lines)		FM (Filter Motion)	PM (Position Maintenance)			
PR EE Return	the status of	encoder function	s		SF (Stall Factor)		SM (Stall Mode)	ST ((Stall Flag)			
NETWORK PROT	OCOL EQUI	VALENTS									
Ethornot/IP	Class	A	ttribute	Data Type			0x001				
Enterneur	0x69	1		0x03	BOOL			UXUUTE			

Enabling encoder functions on LMD models with a multi-turn absolute encoder during operation will delete absolute encoder position information and lead to unintended motor shaft positions.

DAMAGE TO COMPONENTS	
Do not enable encoder functions (EE=1) when using the absolute encoder for position trac ing.	K-
Failure to follow these instructions can result in equipment damage.	

	1	-									
Mnemonic		Function		Fui	nction Gro	oup		Access	Usage		
EF		Error Flag			Status Flag)		RO	Program/Immediate		
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	No	otes: —							
DESCRIPTION											
EF Indicates whe manually clear	nether or not an EF is to print the	error condition exits value of the ER v	ists. It cl variable	lears au (PR ER	Itomatically () or set EF	/ when a R to 0 (E	a new pr ER= 0).	ogram exec	cutes. The only way to		
For an external	indication of the	EF status, the A	O (Atten	tion Ou	tput	Value	•		Operation		
Mask) may be s	set to one (AO=	1). The EF state d	isplays o	on the o	output	0	No ei	No error exists (default).			
point configured	as the attention	1 output or on LEL	J Z ON L	IVID pro	aucts.	1	Error	condition exis	is		
The instruction OE (On Error) allows the user to specify the execution of a subroutine in the program memory when an error oc- curs. The subroutine might contain instructions to read the ER variable, which would clear the EF flag.											
Range: 0/1		Defa	ault: —								
Syntax: PR	EF										
CODE EXAMP	LES							RELATED	AO (Attention Output)		
PR EF Read	d the value of the	e error flag to the	terminal					ER (Error)	OE (On Error)		
NETWORK PR	OTOCOL EQUI	VALENTS									
Ethorpot/IP	Class	Instance	Attrib	oute	Data Typ	pe	Mod		0,0015		
Ethernevir	0x65	1	0x0)2	BOOL	-	widu	bus/TCF	00011		
Mnemonic		Function		Fur	nction Gro	oup	4	Access	Usage		
EL	E	ncoder Lines		Config	guration Va	riable		RW	Program/Immediate		
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	No	otes: —							
DESCRIPTION			·								
The LMD Motio EL (Encoder Lin moves, C2 (Col	n Module featur nes) sets the line unter 2) reads 4	es quadrature enc e count for the cor x EL or 4 counts	coder inp nnected per line.	outs (A/l encode	B/Index). er and is us	ed as th	ne scalin	g factor for	calculating encoder		
MS (Microstep	Resolution) is re	lative to EL .		For t	his examp	le: EL =	1000 ar	nd FS = 200	(1.8° stepper motor)		
To calculate the	minimum value	for MS , use the fo	ol-	M	IS _{MIN} = (1	000 x 8)) ÷ 200	200			
	}) ÷ Eull Stops r	or Povolution			= 80	00 ÷ 20	0				
MS variables p	b) ÷ Full Steps p	to the equivalent	ro		= 40	(MS sc	caling ne	ing needs to be rounded up to the next			
tio, as shown in settings for a pa dramatically ba	the MS Comma articular velocity sed on the settir	and Summary. Th profile can chang ng of MS .	e e		avai be 5	lable M 0)	S value.	For this exa	ample, the MS value will		
All shown steps or an LMD Moti	per revolution von Module and	alues assume the motor with a step	e 1.8° m angle ot	otor sta her thai	ndard with n 1.8° refe	LMD pr	roducts. SA (Step	If using a co Angle) cor	ustom integrated product, nmand.		
Range: 1 to	2000	1	Units:	lines			Defa	ault: 100	00		
Syntax: EL:	= <lines>, PR EL</lines>										
CODE EXAMPLES							REL	ATED			
Set encoder lines:							<u>C2 (0</u>	Counter 2)	EE (Encoder Enable)		
EL=500	Set the encode	r lines to match a	500 line	e encode	er (2000 co	ounts/re	v) <u>MS (</u>	Microstep Res	olution) SA (Step Angle)		
Display encoder lines setting:											
PR EL Return the encoder line count to the terminal window											
NETWORK PR	OTOCOL EQUI	VALENTS									
Ethernet/IP	Class 0x6A	Instance 1	Attrib 0x0	oute)5	Data Typ UINT	be	Mod	bus/TCP	Refer to the Modbus/TCP User Manual for Mfg Specific Function Codes		

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			í.									
Mnemonic		Function	Fu	nction Group		Access	Usage					
EM	Read	d/set Echo Mode	Confi	guration Variable		RW	Program/Immediate					
Compatibility:	ID(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: -	-								
DESCRIPTION												
Sets the echo config	guration of t	he communicatio	ns channel.									
	Mode			Operation								
Echo all entered commands and data back to the terminal. Carriage return/line feed indicates that the command accepted (full duplex) (default) by the display of the prompt character ">."												
	1	Do not echo entered cates command acc i.e. PR EM returns "	o not echo entered commands and data back to the terminal, only return the cursor. CR/LF indi- ates command accepted by the display of a blinking cursor. Printed values display to the terminal, e. PR EM returns "1."									
	2	Does not return prompt, only echoes data requested by PRINT (PR) and LIST (L) commands.*										
	3	Command and data command string.	echo stored in the p	rint queue, returns to th	he terminal	upon terminatio	on of the					
Range: 0 — 3			Units: —		Def	ault: 0 (echo all)					
Syntax: EM= <m< th=""><td>node>, PR E</td><td>EM</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></m<>	node>, PR E	EM										
CODE EXAMPLES							RELATED					
EM=1 Set the e	cho mode t	o 1, do not echo o	commands and	data except for a	print.		—					
PR EM Return the echo mode to the terminal window 1 Echo is set to mode 1												
NETWORK PROTO	COL EQUI	VALENTS					·					
Ethermet/ID	Class Instance Attribute Data Type											
Ethernet/IP	_	—	_	—	IVIOO	DUS/ICP	-					

Mnemonic		Function	Fu	nction Group	Access		Usage				
ER	E	rror Register		Variable	R/C	P	rogram/Immediate				
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A) LMM	Notes: Li	st of error codes	will vary between pro	ducts					
DESCRIPTION											
Holding register Setting ER to 0	for the most re will also reset th	cent error that ha	as occurred. The g).	ER variable mu	st set to zero (ER= 0)	to clea	ar the error code(s).				
An error condition is indicated by question mark character (?) in place of the prompt (>).											
A command, OE (On Error Handler) is used to execute a subroutine when an error condition occurs. While OE activates on any error, subroutines may be executed for specific error codes using BR (Branch) and CL (Call Subroutine) instructions.											
While many error codes are common across the product family, each particular device has error codes associated with it specifically. Refer to the following sections for a list of error codes for each product:											
"hMTechnolog	MTechnology Specific" on page 31										
"LMD Error C	"LMD Error Codes" on page 180										
"LMD Motion Module Error Codes" on page 182											
Range: —			Units: —		Default: —						
Syntax: ER=	=0 PR ER BI	R <label address<="" td=""><td>>, ER=<code> </code></td><td>CL <label addre<="" td=""><td>ss>, ER=<code></code></td><td></td><td></td></label></td></label>	>, ER= <code> </code>	CL <label addre<="" td=""><td>ss>, ER=<code></code></td><td></td><td></td></label>	ss>, ER= <code></code>						
CODE EXAMPL	ES						RELATED				
Set to a value:							AO (Attention Output)				
ER=0	Clear stored er	ror code					BR (Branch)				
Display error:							EF (Error Flag)				
PR ER	Return last erro	or to the terminal	window				<u>OE (On Error)</u>				
PR ER,10	Return up to 9 cleared (ER=0)	errors encounter), no errors will b	ed on the device e displayed	e to the terminal	window. If error list is		<u>RT (Return)</u>				
Program Flow:											
BR Q1,ER=86	BR Q1,ER=86 Branch to labeled location Q1 on error code 86 (motor stall)										
CL Z2, ER=104 Call labeled subroutine Z2 on error code 104 (hMT locked rotor)											
NETWORK PR	NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS										
Ethernet/IP	Class Instance Attribute Data Type										
Lucification	0x65	1	0x03	UNIT							

Mnemonic		Function	Fu	Inction Gr	oup	Access	Usage		
ES	Set	Escape Mode	Conf	iguration V	R/W	Program/Immediate			
Compatibility:	MD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: -	_		•			
DESCRIPTION									
Sets the mode of e	ation								
using the [ESC] ke	v or bv kevin	a in [CTRL+E]. Mo	des 2 and	0	Escape trigg	gers on [CTRL + E] ke	eypress		
3 add an addressa	bility functior	to the escape for	operation in	1	Escape trigg	jers on {ESC] keypre	ess (default)		
PY (Party Mode).	r on <device-name>[CTRL + E]</device-name>								
	r on <device-name>[ESC]</device-name>								
Range: 0 — 3		l	Inits: —			Default: 1			
Syntax: ES= <m< td=""><td>ndes PR ES</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></m<>	ndes PR ES								
		·							
	>						RELATED		
Set escape mode:							-		
ES=0 Set esc	ape to triggei	on [CTRL + E] ke	ypress						
Display mode setti	ng:						1		
PR ES Return escape mode setting									
NETWORK PROT	*								
Eth com ct/ID	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Ty	pe	Madhara (TOD			
Etnernet/IP			_	_		woabus/TCP	_		

Mnemonic		Function		Functi	on Group	Access		Usage
EX	Exe	ecute Program		Program	CMD		Immediate	
Compatibility:	MD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Not	es: —		·		
DESCRIPTION								
Executes a specifie executes in normal	ed program la mode.	abel or address a	at a selecte	ed mode c	of execution. If	the mode is uns	pecifi	ed or 0, the program
Modes 1 and 2 aid in application development and Mode Operation							ration	
troubleshooting by	adding trace	and single-step	modes.	0	Normal execut	tion		
A custom factory la ecute a program so [CTRL + C].	d to ex- vare reset	1	The program executes continuously until the program E (End), but instructions are "traced" to the communications port so the user can see the instructions as they process					
There are three mo	des of progr	am execution.		2	The user can seach line of the	step through the prog e program. The progr	ram usi am car	ing the space bar to process be resumed at normal
NOTE : Attempting return an <i>Error 30:</i>	to execute a <i>Unknown La</i>	n undefined labe abel or User Varia	l will able.		speed in this h	node by pressing the	enter k	ley
Range: <label a<="" td=""><td>ddress>, 0 –</td><td>- 2</td><td>Units:</td><td>_</td><td></td><td>Default:</td><td></td><td></td></label>	ddress>, 0 –	- 2	Units:	_		Default:		
Syntax: EX <lab< td=""><td>el/address>,</td><td><mode></mode></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></lab<>	el/address>,	<mode></mode>						
CODE EXAMPLES	5						1	RELATED
EX G1 Ex	ecute progra	im at named loca	ation G1 no	ormally			5	<u>SU (Start Up)</u>
EX G1,2 Execute program at named location G1 in single-step mode								
NETWORK PROT	OCOL EQUI	VALENTS						
Class Instance Attrib				te	Data Type	Modbus/TC		Refer to the Modbus/TCP User
Ethernet/IP	0x64	1	0x06	;	STRING	wiodbus/10		Function Codes

Mnemonio	;	Function	Usage							
F1 — F	8 Floatii	ng Point Register	s N	Mathematics Variable	е	RW	Program/Immediate			
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Note	s: Firmware 6.001+						
DESCRIPTION										
Double precision advanced math	Double precision 64-bit floating point registers are used to perform calculations requiring a floating decimal point. For use with advanced math and trigonometric operators.									
When transferr number is disca	When transferred to a user variable or an integer register R1 – R4 (User Registers), the fraction portion of the floating point number is discarded.									
When a motion the position rep	When a motion command is used with a floating point register, for example SL=F2 or MA F5 , the axis will move at the rate or to the position represented by the register value, rounded down to the nearest integer.									
The display for	The display format for the data contained in floating point registers derives from the PF (Print Format) command.									
NOTE: Float values sent to non-floating data types will return a whole value.										
Bango: ma	1.797693	1348623158308		Unite		Dofault: 0				
mi	n +: 4.940656	4584124655-324		onits. —		Delault. 0				
Syntax: F<	num>= <fpvalue< td=""><td>>, F<num><math< td=""><td>/trig><var re<="" td=""><th>eg></th><td></td><td></td><td></td></var></td></math<></num></td></fpvalue<>	>, F <num><math< td=""><td>/trig><var re<="" td=""><th>eg></th><td></td><td></td><td></td></var></td></math<></num>	/trig> <var re<="" td=""><th>eg></th><td></td><td></td><td></td></var>	eg>						
CODE EXAMP	LES						RELATED			
Set to a value:							<u>R<1-4> (User Registers)</u>			
F2=300.256	Set F2 to a val	ue of 300.256					PF (Print Format)			
SL = F2	Returns a velo	city of 300								
Math and trig fu	unction:									
F2=CS R3 Set F2 to the cosine value of register R3										
F1=R2*F2										
NETWORK PR		VALENTS								
Ethernot/IP Class Instance Attribute Data Type Modbus/TCP										
				—						

Mnem	nonic	1	Function		Fu	nction Group		Acc	ess		Usage
F	C	Set ca	oture input filterir	na		/O Variable	O Variable RW			Р	rogram/Immediate
Compatib	 oility: ■⊔	1D(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	No	otes: No	ot applicable to I	I _MDxx4	12			-9
DESCRIP	TION										
Sets the d	ligital filte	ing to be ap	plied to Input 1 v	when con	figured	as a Capture	Mod	le	Min Pul	se	Cutoff Frequency
Input (type	e = 12).						0 (defa	ult) 50	nS		10 MHz
NOTE: Th	e FC con	mand is no	t available on LM	ID NEMA	17 Mo	tion Control	1	15	0 nS		3.3 MHz
and Etheri	net ICP/I	P product.					2	20	0 nS		2.5 MHz
							3	30	0 nS		1.67 MHz
							4	50	0 nS		1.0 MHz
							5	90	0 nS		555 kHz
							6	1.	7 μS		294.1 kHz
							7	3.3	3 μS		151 kHz
							8	6.	5 μS		76.9 kHz
							9	12	.9 μS		38.8 kHz
Range:	0 — 9			Units:			1	Default	t: 0		
Syntax:	FC= <mo< td=""><td>de>, PR FC</td><td>;</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></mo<>	de>, PR FC	;								
CODE EX	AMPLES										RELATED
FC=2	Set capt	ure input to	filter signals with	a pulse v	width <	150 nS, or of fre	quency	greate	r than 3	.3	IS (Input Setup)
	MHz	6 14 441									<u>TC (Trip Capture)</u>
PR FC	Return th	ne filter setti	ng for the captur	e input							
NETWOR	K PROTO		VALENIS	A 44		Data Tura	1				
Etherne	et/IP		Instance 1				N	lodbus	s/TCP	0x00)24
		0.07	I	0.00		03111	ļ				
Massa		1									lleese
winen			Function			Function Group	р 	ACC	ess		Usage
F		Restore		settings		Instruction		CN	/ID		Immediate
Compatib		1D(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A) LMM	No	otes: —						
DESCRIP		f (())		1							
The FD (F	actory De	etaults) com	mand resets the			e factory default	state.	4	- le :		
Entering F ables, and	b followed stored p	arameter va	age return (ENTI lues.	ER) will re	esult in	the loss of all sa	aved da	ta, whic	ch includ	les: p	rograms, user vari-
Non-volitile and FS (In	e Memory ndex Offse	v (NVM) valu et).	ues will be retain	ed, which	n include	es:. PN (Part Nu	ımber),	SN (Se	erial Nur	nber),	PW (PWM Mask)
NOTE: On from the d if needed,	nce the FI levice. Th unless pi) command e programm ogramming	has been entere ing can be uploa is locked.	ed, there i aded usin	s no wa g the L	arning message SS prior to perfo	to indic orming t	ate tha he FD	t all pro commar	gramr nd to p	ning will be cleared prevent program loss
Range:				Units:				Default	t: —		
Syntax:	FD										
CODE EX		1									

CODE EXAMP	LES			RELATED				
FD Res	et the device to f	factory default st	ate	CP (Clear Program	ar Program) IP (Initialize Parameters)			
NETWORK PF	ROTOCOL EQUI	VALENTS						
Eth ann a t/ID	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type	Maallana (TOD			
Ethernet/IP			_		Modbus/ICP	_		

Mnemonic		Function	Fu	nction Gro	Usage			
FL	Follow	ing Mode Enable	Cor	figuration	Program/Immediate			
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: Fi	rmware 6.0)01+	· · · ·		
DESCRIPTION	·							
When in an ena	bled state (FL=	1), the axis follows	s the signals or	the input	pins 3 and	4 at a 1:1 ratio.		
Prerequisite:	tion							
Configure IN3 and IN4 as clock inputs: Step/Direction, 0 Normal operation, axis motion control command ENC A/ENC-B or Step Up/Step Down is required. 0 Normal operation, axis motion control command							ntrolled program or immediate	
				1	Axis motion	follows inputs 3 and 4	t at a 1:1 ratio	
NOTE: The FL of coder mode of c	command is not peration.	ommand is not applicable to the encoder inputs on the LMD Motion Module. These inputs are strictly for en- peration.						
Range: 0/1	0/1 Units: — Default: 0 (disabled)							
Syntax: FL=	<0/1>, PR FL	^				°		
CODE EXAMPI	ES						RELATED	
Prerequisite:							FM (Filter Motion)	
IS=3,13,1 IS=4,13,1	Configure IN3	& IN4 to step direc	ction				<u>I<3-4> (Inputs 3-4)</u> I <u>S (Input Setup)</u>	
Operation:								
FL=1	Enable followin	ig mode						
Return status:	IS:							
PR FL	R FL Return the following mode setting							
NETWORK PR	OTOCOL EQUI	VALENTS						
Class Instance Attribute Data Type							Refer to the Modbus/TCP User	
Ethernet/IP	0x64	1	0x10	BOOI		woabus/ICP	Function Codes	

Mnemonic		Function	F	unction Group		Access		Usage	
FM	Filte	er Motion Inputs		I/O Variable RW			Program/Immediate		
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes:	Firmware 6.001+			•		
DESCRIPTION									
Sets the digital f	filtering applied	to Inputs 3 and 4	when configu	red as clock	Мос	le Min Pul	lse Cu	toff Frequency	
inputs.		0	50 nS	10 M	Hz				
Prerequisite:		1	150 nS	3.3 N	ИНz				
Configure IN3 a	nd IN4 as clock	inputs: Step/Dire	ction, ENCA/	ENCB or Step	2 (defa	ult) 200 nS	2.5 N	ИНz	
Up/Step Down i	s required.				3	300 nS	1.67	MHz	
					4	500 nS	1.0 N	ИНz	
					5	900 nS	555 I	кНz	
					6	1.7 μS	294.	1 kHz	
					7	3.3 μS	151	kHz	
					8	6.5 μS	76.9	kHz	
					9	12.9 μS	38.8	kHz	
-	-								
Range: 0 –	- 9		Units: —			Default: 2			
Syntax: FM:	= <mode>, PR F</mode>	Μ							
CODE EXAMPL	LES						RELATE	D	
IS=3,13,1	Configure IN3 &	& IN4 to step dire	ction				FL (Followin	ng Mode Enable)	
IS=4,13,1							<u>I<3-4> (Inpu</u>	<u>uts 3-4)</u>	
FM=2	Set the motion inputs to filter signals with a pulse width <150 nS, or of frequency greater than 3.3 MHz								
PR FM 2	Return the mot Motion input	ion filter setting filter is set to 200	nS						
NETWORK PR	OTOCOL EQUI	VALENTS					-		
	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type					
Ethernet/IP	0x67	1	0x08	USINT		Modbus/TCP	-		

Mnemonic		Function	Fu	nction Group	Access	Usage				
FS	Inde	ex Offset Setting	Configuration Variable RW Program/Immediate							
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A) LMM	Notes: Fir encoder is	mware 6.001+ if using	g an LMM a coni	nected and configured				
DESCRIPTION										
FS (Index Offset) coder index mark	sets the refer and the man	ence position for HF (ually set shaft flat pos	(Home to Ind ition.	dex Offset) operation.	It represents the	e offset between the en-				
FS is configured Position and follo	ising a utility i w the instruc	included in the Motion tions on the configura	Control Inte	erface application. To	configure, select	View > Set Shaft Flat				
For Ethernet TCF	/IP models, th	e Application protoco	I must be se	et to MODBUS using t	he Ethernet TCF	P/IP Configuration Utility.				
To manually calcu	late the value	e of FS (no load on sh	aft):							
1. Perform a Ho enter PR I6 i	 Perform a Home to Index operation. For example HI 1 will home the axis to the encoder index mark. To verify the index, enter PR I6 in the terminal. A returned value of "1" indicates the index mark is aligned. 									
2. Zero the encoder counter by entering C2 =0.										
3. Disable the driver by entering DE =0 to allow free rotation of the shaft.										
4. Manually move the motor shaft to the desired position.										
5. Read the value of C2 by entering PR C2 .										
6. Calculate FS = C2 *12.8 and enter FS = <result></result>										
7. Re-enable the driver (DE =1)										
Make a positiona	move, HF <n< td=""><td>node> will home the a</td><td>ixis to the In</td><td>dex offset position.</td><td></td><td></td></n<>	node> will home the a	ixis to the In	dex offset position.						
NOTE: A closed l	oop LMD or L	MD Motion Module wi	ith a connec	ted and configured en	coder is require	d.				
Range: ±256	00	Uni	ts: Cour	nts	Default: 0					
Syntax: FS=<	counts>, PR	FS								
CODE EXAMPLE	S					RELATED				
FS=10246 S	et the offset t	o 10246 counts				HF (Home to Offset)				
pr fs F	ead the value	e of the shaft flat offse	t			<u>I6 (Index Mark)</u>				
NETWORK PRO		VALENTS								
Ethorpot/ID	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type		Refer to the Modbus/TCP User				
Ethernet/IP	0x68	1	0x07	DINT	Woubus/TCP	Function Codes				
Mnemonic		Function	Fu	nction Group	Access	Usage				
FT	Rese	erved for Factory		Reserved		_				
Compatibility: –			Notes: -							
DESCRIPTION										
FT is reserved for	factory use.	Attempting to use FT	as a user va	riable or label will retu	ırn an <i>Error 24:</i> I	lllegal data entered.				
Range: —		Uni	ts: —		Default: —					
Syntax: —										
CODE EXAMPLE	S			RELATED						
—				_						

NETWORK PROTOCOL FOUNVALENTS

NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS										
	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type						
Ethernet/IP					Modbus/ICP	_				

Mnemonic		Function	1	unction Group		Access	Usage				
н	Hold p	program execution	n Pr	ogram Instruction		CMD	Program				
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes:								
DESCRIPTION											
The hold instruction is used in a program to suspend program execution. There are two ways to use the hold instruction:											
H, when not follo parameter, a Ho H should also fo	H , when not followed by the time parameter suspends program execution until the motion completes. Used without the time parameter, a Hold should always follow a programmed motion instruction such as MA (Move Absolute) or MR (Move Relative). H should also follow the homing instructions: HI (Home to Index), HM (Home to Home Switch) or HF (Home to Offset)										
Adding a time pa	Adding a time parameter to the hold instruction suspends program execution for the specified number of milliseconds.										
Range: 1 - 6	5000		Units: m	Illiseconds		Default: —					
Syntax: H, H	l <time></time>										
CODE EXAMPL	.ES				REL	ATED					
MA 512000	Execute an ab	solute move, sus	pend program	execution until	<u>E (En</u>	<u>d Program)</u>	HM (Home to Home Switch)				
н	motion comple	tes			<u>EX (E</u>	<u>xecute Program)</u>	MA (Move Absolute)				
	<u> </u>				<u>HI (Ho</u>	ome to Index)	MR (Move Relative)				
H 20000 Suspend program execution for 20 seconds <u>HF(Home to Shaft Flat)</u>											
NETWORK PRO	NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS										
	Class Instance Attribute Data Type										
Ethernet/IP		—		_	1	Modbus/TCP	_				

Mnemonic		Function	Fu	Inction Group	Access	Usage				
HC	Moto	r holding current	N	lotion variable	R/W	Program/Immediate				
Compatibility:	MD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: -	-						
DESCRIPTION										
Defines the motor holding current as 0 (OFF), or as a percentage value from 1 to 100%. The transition from RC (Run Current) to HC (Hold Current) is impacted by two other commands: HT (Hold Current Delay) and MT (Motor Settling Delay Time). These two variables are additive, with the sum being the total time to transition from the RC (Run Current) level to the specified stand-still current.										
NOTES:										
 For LMD produ motor. 	 For LMD products, the current is only given in a percentage range as the driver is already sized and tuned to the integrated motor. 									
 The LMD Motic multiplying 1.5, <u>Example</u>: HC=5 1.5A * 0.05 = 0 Holding curren 	 The LMD Motion Module is a 1.5A RMS standalone integrated driver/controller. The actual drive output current is derived by multiplying 1.5A times the HC percentage. <u>Example</u>: HC=5 1.5A * 0.05 = 0.075A Holding current level is 0.075A. 									
Range: 0 (disat	led), 1 to 10	D	Units: Per	cent (%)	Default: 5%	6				
Syntax: HC= <pe< td=""><td>ercent>, PR I</td><td>HC</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></pe<>	ercent>, PR I	HC								
CODE EXAMPLE	6					RELATED				
нс=0 Disable	HC=0 Disable holding current, motor is at set RC (Run Current) at all times HT (Hold Current Delay time) MT (Motor Settling Delay Time)									
PR HC Read th	PR HC Read the value of the holding current RC (Run Current)									
NETWORK PROT	OCOL EQUI	VALENTS								
Ethernet/IP	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type	Modbus/TCP	0x0029				
Luemen	0x66	1	0x03	USINT		0,0023				

Mnemonic		Function	Fi	unction Gr	guo	Ĩ	Access	Usage		
HF	Home to	Index Offset	Motion	Motion instruction			WO	Program/Immediate		
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	001+,	Encoc	ler					
DESCRIPTION			I							
This instruction m	oves the axis	to an offset posit	tion of the enco	der index n	nark po	osition	specified by FS	6 (Offset Setting).		
When HF execute	When HF executes, the axis moves in specified direction at Type Slew (VM) direction Creep (VI) direction									
VM (Maximum Velocity) until it reaches the preset position.								(+) plus		
It then creeps away from the home position in the direction						านร		(-) minus		
shaft flat position clears. 3 (+) pl								(-) minus		
				4	(+) plu	JS		(+) plus		
"Homing Types" of Index Mark) and I	n page 69 dia IM (Home to	agrams in detail t Home Switch) in:	he four combina structions.	ations for th	nis com	nmand	, as well as for	the related HI (Home to		
Range: 1 to 4			Units: —				Default: —			
Syntax: HF <ty< td=""><td>pe></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></ty<>	pe>									
CODE EXAMPLE	S					RELA	ATED			
н г 3 Seek i	ndex offset po	sition in the (+) d	lirection, creep	off position	in	<u>EE (En</u>	<u>icoder Enable)</u>	FS (Offset Setting)		
(-) min	us direction		-			<u>HI (Ho</u>	<u>me to Index)</u>	HM (Home to Home Switch		
VI (Initial Velocity) VM (Maximum Velocity)										
NETWORK PRO		VALENTS								
E4b a ma a 4// D	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Ty	/pe			Refer to the Modbus/TCP User		
Etnernet/IP	0x68	1	0x08	USIN	IT		vioabus/ICP	Function Codes		

Mnemonic		Function	Fu	nction Gr	oup	Access	Usage	
HI	Home to	Index Mark	Motion in	nstruction		wo	Program/Immediate	
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: Er	ncoder rec	uired			
DESCRIPTION	·							
This instruction	homes the axis	to the encoder in	ndex mark.					
When HI executes, the axis moves in specified direction at VM Type Slew (VM) direction Creep (VI) direction								
(Maximum Velo	city) until it read	ches the encode	r index. It then	1	(-) minus		(+) plus	
at VI (Initial Velo	city). Motion ce	ases as soon as	the index	2	(-) minus		(-) minus	
mark clears.		3 (+) plus (-) minus			(-) minus			
				4	(+) plus		(+) plus	
"Homing Types" to Index Offset)	on page 69 dia and HM (Home	ngrams in detail t to Home Switch	he four combina) instructions.	tions for th	nis comman	d, as well as for	the related HF (Home	
Range: 1 to 4			Units: —			Default: —		
Syntax: HI <t< td=""><td>ype></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>	ype>							
CODE EXAMPL	ES			RELATE	D			
HI 1 Seek	encoder index	in the (-) minus of	direction, creep	HF (Home	to Offset)	EE (Encoder Enabl	e) FS (Offset Setting)	
off in		HM (Home	to Home)	VI (Initial Velocity)	VM (Maximum Velocity)			
NETWORK PR	OTOCOL EQUI	VALENTS						
Class Instance Attribute				Data T	/pe		0x0020	
Eulerneule	0x69	1	0x04	USIN	ІТ	woubus/TCP	UXUUZA	

Mnemonic		Function	Fι	Function Group			Usage				
HM	Home to	Home Switch	Motion i	nstruction		WO	Program/Immediate				
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: -								
DESCRIPTION	DESCRIPTION										
This instruction	homes the axis	to Home Switch		Туре	Slew	(VM) direction	Creep (VI) direction				
When HM exec	utes, the axis m	oves in specified	l direction at	1	(-) minus		(+) plus				
VM (Maximum	/elocity) until it	reaches the hom	e switch. It	2	(-) minus		(-) minus				
then creeps aw	ay from the swit	ch in the directio	n specified	3	(+) plus		(-) minus				
deactivates.	City). Motion ce	ases as soon as		4	(+) plus		(+) plus				
IS use HM (Ho IS= <input #=""/> , 1 For example: Is "Homing Types to Index Offset) NOTE: HM is th	Io use HM (Home to Home Switch), a switch connected to an input defined as home using the IS (Input Setup) command: IS= <input #=""/> , 1, <active> For example: Is=2,1,0 (configures Input 2 as a homing input, active when low). "Homing Types" on page 69 diagrams in detail the four combinations for this command, as well as for the related HF (Home to Index Offset) and HI (Home to Index) instructions. NOTE: HM is the only homing function available without an encoder.</active>										
Range: 1 to	1		Units: —			Default: —					
Syntax: HM	<type></type>										
CODE EXAMP	ES			RELATED)	EE (Encoder Enable	e) FS (Offset Setting)				
HM 1 Seel	home switch ir	n the (-) minus dir	rection, creep	HF (Home to	<u>Offset)</u>	HI (Home to Index)	IS (Input Setup)				
off in (+) plus direction					ethod)	VI (Initial Velocity)	VM (Maximum Velocity)				
NETWORK PR	OTOCOL EQUI	VALENTS									
Ethornot/ID	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Typ	be	Madhua/TOD	0.0000				
Ethernet/IP	0x68	1	0x02	USINT	г]	woabus/TCP	UXUU2B				

Homing Types

The diagram below displays the Homing (HM) Function sequence of events. The key to the diagrams is as follows.

- 1. Slew at VM to find the Index Mark.
- 2. Decelerate to zero (0) after finding the Index Mark.
- 3. Creep at VI away from the Index Mark.
- 4. Stop when at the edge of the Index Mark.

NOTE: MT (Motor Settling Delay) time is still in affect.



Magazia		F unction			nation Crown	lleene			
Minemonic		Function		Function Group			Access	Usage	
HT	Hold	ing current delay		Motion variable			R/W	Program/Immediate	
DESCRIPTION									
Delay in milliseconds between the RC (Motor Run Current) and HC (Motor Hold Current)., The delay time is also impacted by the MT (Motor Settling Delay) variable. The sum of MT+HT represents the total time delay between RC and HC .									
The total of MT+HT cannot add up to more than 65535, thus, the value of MT is included in the total delay.									
Therefore, the maximum setting for HT=(65535-MT). If setting HT to 0, MT is still in effect. If both HT and MT are set to 0, the current will not reduce, but maintain the RC (Run Current) percentage.							= HT		
Exceeding this Illegal data valu	naximum resull e <i>entered</i> .	s in an Error 21:			Irrent		tion Stops	HC% (HoldCurrent)	
This graphic sho (Hold Current D	ows the relation elay) and MT (N	ship between HT Motor Settling De	- lay)		0 Time		Ψ		
Range: 0 to	65535-MT)		Units:	millis	seconds		Default: 500	0	
Syntax: HT=-	<time>, PR HT</time>								
CODE EXAMP	ES							RELATED	
HT=0 Disable HT, motor will still delay the set MT value								HC (Hold Current)	
PR HT Read the value of HT (Hold Current Delay)								MT (Motor Settling Delay)	
<u>RC (Run Current)</u>								RC (Run Current)	
NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS									
Ethorpot/IP	Class	Instance	Attrik	bute	Data Type			0×0020	
Luiemevir	0x66	1	0x0	04	UINT	Woubus/TCP			

Mnemonic	;	Function		Function Group		Access	Usage			
l1 — l4		Read input logic	state	I/O variable		RO	Program/Immediate			
Compatibility:	LMD(O)	.MD(C) LMD(A) LM	able c	on NEMA 17 (42	mm) models.					
DESCRIPTION										
The I(x) command is used to read the state of the specified input 1 - 4. I(x) is used with PR (Print), BR (Branch) and CL (Call Subroutine) instructions and with registers and user variables.										
The response to the input state will be dependent on active (low/high) setting of the input.										
Range: 0/1	0/1 Units: —						Default: —			
Syntax: PR I <x>, BR <label address="">, I<x>=<0/1>, CL <label address="">, I<x>=<0/1></x></label></x></label></x>										
CODE EXAMPLES RELATED										
PR I2	Return the	e logic state of in	put 2				IN (Read all inputs) IS (Input setup)			
BR L2,I3=1	Branch to	labeled location	L2 when inp	out 3 is HI	GH		O<1-3> (Set output) OS (output setup)			
CL Q5,I4=0	Call subro	outine Q5 when I	4 is zero				OT Set all outputs)			
NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS										
	Class Instance	Attrib	ute	Data Type			0x002D			
Ethernet/IP	0x67	1	0x09 —	0x0C	BOOL		Modbus/TCP	0x002E 0x002F 0x0030		

Mnomonio		Function		Eurotion Crown	A	llaaga				
Minemonic		Function		-unction Group	Access	Usage				
15	Rea	ad analog input		I/O variable	RO	Program/Immediate				
Compatibility:	LMD(O)	C) LMD(A) LMM	Notes:							
DESCRIPTION										
Reads the current value of the 12-bit analog input, which ranges from 0 to 4096 counts. The counts represent the signal ampli- tude sensed on the analog input.										
Range: 0 to 4	095	U	Jnits: co	ounts	Default: —					
Syntax: PR I5, BR <label address="">, I5 =<integer>, CL <label address="">, I5=<integer></integer></label></integer></label>										
CODE EXAMPLES RELATED										
PR I5 Return the value of the analog input IS (Input setup)										
BR L2,15>2048	Branch to	labeled location L2	2 when 15 is	greater than 2048 c	ounts					
CL Q5,15=<2048	Call subro	outine Q5 when I5 i	is equal or l	ess than 2048 counts	3					
NETWORK PROT	OCOL EQUI	VALENTS								
Ethernet/ID	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type	Madhua/TCD	0,0021				
Emernevie	0x67	1	0x0D	UINT	Modbus/TCP	0x0031				
Mnemonic		Function		Function Group	Access	Usage				
6 Read encoder index mark				I/O variable	Program/Immediate					
Compatibility:	MD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes:			·				
DESCRIPTION										
Reads the logic sta index mark.	te of the end	oder index mark. T	This will eith	er be one or zero, as	there are no config	juration settings for the				
Typical uses for thi	s variable in	clude: running a su	broutine or	incrementing a count	er variable when th	e index mark is active.				
Range: 0 or 1		U	Inits: –	-	Default: —					
Syntax: PR I6,	BR <label a<="" td=""><td>ddress>, I6 =<0/1></td><td>, CL <label <="" td=""><td>address>, I6=<0/1></td><td></td><td>1</td></label></td></label>	ddress>, I6 =<0/1>	, CL <label <="" td=""><td>address>, I6=<0/1></td><td></td><td>1</td></label>	address>, I6=<0/1>		1				
CODE EXAMPLES	6					RELATED				
PR I6	Read the	value of the encod	er index			<u>IS (Input setup)</u>				
BR L2,16=0	Branch to	labeled location L2	2 when I6 is	zero		_				
CL Q5,16=1	Call subro	putine Q5 when I6 i	is one							
NETWORK PROT	OCOL EQUI	VALENTS				1				
Ethernet/IP	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type	Modbus/TCP	0x0032				
	0x69	1	0x05	BOOL						
Mnemonic Function				Function Group	Access	Usage				
I7 — I13 Reserved				Reserved — —						
Compatibility: — Notes: —										
DESCRIPTION										
Reserved for facto	ry use. Atterr	pting to use as a u	iser variable	or label will result in	an Error 24: Illegal	data entered.				
Range: — Uni			Jnits: –	-	Default: —					

Syntax: —										
CODE EXAMPLES — RELATED —										
NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS										
Ethormot/ID	Class	Instance	Data Type	Madhua/TCD						
Ethernet/IP	—		—	—	Wodbus/TCP	_				

Mnemonic		Function	Fu	nction Group		Access	Usage			
IC	Incr	ement variable		Instruction		CMD	Program/Immediate			
Compatibility:										
DESCRIPTION										
Increments the sp	ecified variab	le by adding one								
Attempting to incl	Attempting to increment an unspecified or a read-only variable asserts an Error 25: variable is read-only.									
Attempting to increment a mode select or configuration variable, for example MS (Microstep Resolution) results in an <i>Error 26: attempting to increment or decrement an illegal variable</i> .										
Range: — Units: — Default: —										
Syntax: IC <va< td=""><td>r></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></va<>	r>									
CODE EXAMPLE	·	RELATED								
IC R1 Increm		DC (Decrement Variable)								
IC V2 Increm										
Network Protocol Equivalents:										
Class Instance Attribute				Data Type			0,0027			
Ethernet/IP	_	_	_	_	Modbus/TCP		0x0037			

Mnemonio	;	Function		Inction Group		Access	Usage		
IF	Varial	ole input pending	Co	Conditional Flag		R/C	Program/Immediate		
Compatibility	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: -	_					
DESCRIPTION									
The IF instruction is automatically set to 1 when the IV command is executed. The IF flag reflects an input value from the communications port is pending, not that one has been received. IF will be cleared to zero (0) with a carriage return or can be reset manually by entering IF =0.									
NOTE: The IF	instruction can o	nly be cleared, not	t manually set	to 1.					
Range: 0/1	Cange:0/1Units:Default:0								
Syntax: IF:	=0								
CODE EXAMP	PLES						RELATED		
IF=0 Clear the input variable pending flag									
NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS									
Ethormot/ID	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type					
Eulernet/IP				_			—		
Mnemonic		Function	Fu	nction Group	Access	Usage			
---	--	---------------------------------------	-----------------------------------	------------------------------------	---	--	--	--	--
IN	Read al	I inputs as a grou	l qı	I/O keyword	Program/Immediate				
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: -	-					
DESCRIPTION									
Reads the binar and Input 4* is t routine) instructi	y state of the in ne Most Signific ons.	puts and returns ant Bit (MSb). It	them as a decir may be used in	nal value. When a conjunction with	used, Input 1 is the L the PR (Print), BR (E	east Significant Bit (LSb) Branch) and CL (Call Sub-			
The value is a function of the actual state of the I/O where $1 = \text{input voltage} (+5 \text{ to } +24 + \text{VDC})$ and $0 = \text{Ground}$. The level used to define the active state is a parameter of the IS (Input setup) variable.									
Digital input filtering (D1-D4) has no effect on the data read.									
* LMD NEMA 17 (42 mm) products have only three inputs. In these products input 3 will be the MSb and the total range is IN=<0-14>									
Range: 0 - 7	15		Units: —		Default: —				
Syntax: PR	IN, BR <addr lb<="" td=""><td>l>,IN=<0-15>, Cl</td><td>_<addr lbl="">, IN<</addr></td><td><0-15></td><td></td><td></td></addr>	l>,IN=<0-15>, Cl	_ <addr lbl="">, IN<</addr>	<0-15>					
CODE EXAMPL	ES					RELATED			
PR IN	Print value	e of I4-I1				IS (Input setup)			
>07						OS (Output setup)			
BR L5,IN=07	Branch to	named location	L5 if IN=07			OT (Set Outputs as Group)			
CL K3,IN=13	Call subro	outine K3 if IN=13	3						
NETWORK PR	OTOCOL EQUI	VALENTS							
	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type	M. U	0.0000			
Etnernet/IP	0x67	1	0x0E	USINT	Moabus/TCP	0X003B			

Mnemonic		Function	Fu	nction Group	Access	Usage					
IP	Initia	alize parameters		Instruction	WO	Program/Immediate					
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: —	Notes: —							
DESCRIPTION											
Restores all of the device variable and flag parameters to their stored values. This instruction does not delete user variables, but it restores the last saved value to the user variable.											
If IP is used while the motor is moving, an Error 74: Tried to initialize parameters or clear program while moving occurs.											
Range: —			Units: —		Default: —	fault: —					
Syntax: IP											
CODE EXAMPL	S			F	RELATED						
IP Return	all saved var	iable values and f	lag states to the	e last saved.	D (Factory Defaults)	<u>S (Save)</u>					
NETWORK PRO	TOCOL EQUI	VALENTS									
Ethernot/ID	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type							
Ethernet/IP	—	_	_		woodbus/TCP	—					

Mnemonic	Function	Function Group	Access	Usage
IS <1-4>	Setup Inputs 1 to 4	I/O Instruction	RW	Program/Immediate
Compatibility: LME	D(O) LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM	Notes: Clock input types (13, 1 Firmware 6.001+ LMD NEMA 17 (42 mm) models	4, 15) are only a s are not equippe	vailable on models with ed with Input 1.

DESCRIPTION

This instruction is used to configure the input parameters. These parameters define the function and active state. When used as a keyword (PR IS), the instruction will return the configuration of all inputs.

Param	Description	Values	Default
1	Input line number	1 - 4	—
2	Input function type	(see type table)	0 (General Purpose User)
3	Input Active HI/LO state*	0 (Software LOW when input electrically energized) 1 (Software HIGH when input electrically de-energized)	1 (Software HIGH)

			Input Function Types				
Туре			Function			Notes/restrictions	
0	General purpose user; (defau	It for all inputs) ty	pically used to trigger events with	in a program.	-	_	
1	Homing; functionality is define	d by the HM instr	uction.		S	ee HM (Home to Home)	
2	Limit +; functionality is defined	=3). S	ee LM (Limit Response)				
3	Limit -; functionality is defined	=3). S	ee LM (Limit Response)				
4	G0; will execute a program stor	-	_				
5	Soft stop; stops motion with de	s ignored. –	_				
6	Pause; pause/resume program	-	_				
7	Jog +; jogs motor in a positive	o function. S	ee JE (Jog Enable) and				
8	Jog –; jogs motor in a minus di	function.	<u>VM (Max. Velocity)</u>				
11	Reset ; equivalent to a ^C enter or a reset will occur.	input first	_				
12	Capture; operates with the Trip	H ai ar m	High speed function avail- able on Input #1 ONLY. Not available on NEMA 17 (42 mm) models.				
13	Step (IN3) / Direction (IN 4); s	tep clock and dire	ection inputs.		T 01 3	The clock functions may only be assigned to inputs 3 and 4 as a pair. Setting one of the inputs to a clock function will automatically	
14	ENC A (IN3) / ENC B (IN 4); er	coder channel A	& B inputs.		fu		
15	StepUp (IN3) / StepDown (IN	4); step up and s	tep down inputs.		th	hange the opposite input to he corresponding type.	
ande:	<u> </u>		Units: —	Defau	lt: —		
/ntax:	IS=<1-4>. <tvpe>.<active< td=""><td>e> PR IS</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></active<></tvpe>	e> PR IS					
	XAMPLES	1				RELATED	
S=1.1	1 Se	t input 1 to H	oming function HIGH acti	Ve		D<1-4> (Input Filter)	
· -,-,	- 06					I<1-4> (Read Input)	
=3,13	s, 0 Se	ection type	sp clock function type. Input 4 will automatically set to			IN (Read All Inputs)	
	QII					<u>O<1-4> (Set Output)</u>	

Response: notice IN4 automatically sets to the corresponding clock type

Data Type

STRING

Return the input settings

Instance

1

Attribute

0x0F

PR IS										
IS =	1,	2, 1								
IS =	2,	0, 1								
IS =	З,	13, 0								
IS =	4,	13, 0								
IS =	6,	0, 1								

Ethernet/IP

NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS

Class

0x67

Modbus/TCP

OS (Output Setup)

OT (Set All Outputs)

Refer to the Modbus/TCP User Manual for Mfg Specific Function Codes

Mnemonic		Function		Fu	nction Group		Access		Usage	
IS <5>	Set	up Analog Input		1/	O Instruction		RW	Pro	ogram/Immediate	
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	No	tes: The a	analog input on t	the LN	_MD Motion Module is not configurable.			
DESCRIPTION										
This instruction is used to configure the analog input sense and range for the LMD products. When used as a keyword (PR IS), the instruction will return the configuration of all inputs.										
NOTE: The LMD	Motion Modul	e (LMM) analog	LM	D Parameters						
input is fixed at v	oltage mode v	vith an unbuffered		Param	Description		Values		Default	
analog paramete	rs will result in	ivi ial	1	Input line number		5 (Analog input)		_		
data entered. Re	fer to the LMN	1 hardware manua	al ,	2 Sense	Sense		9 (Voltage)			
for example inter	face circuits.		4			10 (Current)				
				3 Range			0 (0 to 5V / 0 to 20 i	mA)		
			Ľ				1 (0 to 10V / 4 to 20	mA)		
							DIC			
Range: —			Units	: _			Default: —			
Syntax: IS=<	5>, <sense>,<</sense>	range> PR IS								
CODE EXAMPL	ES						Related:			
IS=5,9,1	Set the analog	input to voltage m	node v	vith a 0 to	10V range.		D5 (Analog Input Fi	<u>lter)</u>	I<1-4> (Read Input)	
TS=5 10 0	Set the analog	input to current m	node w	vith a 0 to	20mA range		IN (Read All Inputs)		<u>O<1-4> (Set Output)</u>	
10-0,10,0					zom/ange.		OS (Output Setup)		OT (Set All Outputs)	
NETWORK PRO	TOCOL EQU	VALENTS								
Ethernet/IP	Class	Instance	Att	ribute	Data Type		Modbus/TCP	Refer t	to the Modbus/TCP User	
	0x67	1	0	x0F	STRING		woabus/ I CP		Function Codes	

Mnemonic		Function		Fu	nction Gro	oup		Access	Usage
IS <6>	Setu	p Encoder	Index	I/	O Instructio	on	RW		Program/Immediate
Compatibility:	мм	Notes: Er	ncoder Rec	luired					
DESCRIPTION									
This applies strictly to the encoder index mark.									
The only user co	Param	Descr	ription		Va	alues	Default		
the active state.			1	Input line nu	mber	6 (Index	(input)		6 (Index input)
		2	Active 0 (LO		0 (LOW active))	0 (LOW activa)	
	2				1 (HIGH	IIGH active)			
Range: —			Un	its: —			Default: —		
Syntax: IS=<5	>, <sense>,<ra< td=""><td>ange> PR</td><td>IS</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></ra<></sense>	ange> PR	IS						
CODE EXAMPL	ES					F	RELA	TED	
IS=6,1 Set th	e encoder inde	ex input res	ponse to I	HIGH active		E	<u>EE (En</u>	<u>coder Enable)</u>	IN (Read All Inputs)
						E	S (Ind	ex Offset)	HF (Home to Index Offset)
						<u>16</u>	<u>6 (Rea</u>	<u>d Index)</u>	HI (Home to Index
NETWORK PRO	TOCOL EQUI	VALENTS							
Ethornot//D	Class	Instanc	e	Attribute	Data Ty	pe			Refer to the Modbus/TCP User
Emernet/IP	0x67	1		0x0F	STRIN	G	IV	ioubus/ICP	Function Codes

Mnemonic		Function		Function G	roup	Access	Usage					
IT	Read in	iternal temperatu	re	Status Keyv	vord	RO	Program/Immediate					
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Not	tes:								
DESCRIPTION												
This keyword, w	hen used with t	he PR (Print inst	ruction)	Param		Description						
will return the in	ternal temperat	ure of the device	electron-	<blank></blank>	Read both s	ensors, bridge first, th	nen µController					
ics, measured a		in the following o	order.	1	Read the br	idge sensor						
1. Driver dual I	n-bridge			2	Read the ut	Controller sensor						
2. Microcontro												
NOTE: For devices with Absolute Encoder, the PR IT command will only display the µController temperature. Adding additional parameters to the PR IT command will result in an <i>Error 24: Illegal Data Entered</i> .												
Range: -20	Range:-20 to 100Units:°CDefault:-											
Syntax: PR	IT, <param/>	^										
CODE EXAMPI	ES						RELATED					
PR IT 34,37	Return the inte Bridge temp =	rnal temperature 34 °C, controller	temp = 37	′ °C			<u>WT (Warning Temperature)</u>					
PR IT,1 34	Return the inte Bridge temp =	rnal temperature 34 °C,	of the brid	dge sensor								
PR IT,2 37	Return the inte µController terr	rnal temperature np = 37 °C,	of the µC	ontroller sensor								
With Absolute E	ncoder:											
PR IT 37	Return the inte µController terr	rnal temperature np = 37 °C,	of the µC	ontroller sensor								
NETWORK PR	OTOCOL EQUI	VALENTS										
E4b arm a4 #P	Class	Instance	Attribu	ite Data T	уре	Ma alla a /TOD	Refer to the Modbus/TCP User					
Etnernet/IP	0x65	1	0x04	4 STRI	NG	woabus/TCP	Function Codes					

Mnemonic		Function		Function Group		Access	Usage			
IV	Inp	out to Variable		Program instruction		CMD	Program			
Compatibility:	ID(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Note	es: —						
DESCRIPTION										
The IV instruction fairs prior to issuing an I	acilitates the V .	input of numeric	data into a	a system or user-define	ed variat	ble. User varia	ables MUST be declared			
When using IV, a conditional program loop using the logic state of the IF (Variable Input Pending) flag is needed.										
Range: —	efault: —									
Syntax: IV <var reg=""></var>										
CODE EXAMPLES	;						RELATED			
IV used with condit	ional loop ex	ample:					IF (Variable Input Pending)			
IV F1	Input num	eric into floating	point regist	ter 1						
LB X2	Condition	al loop to suspen	d program	while the variable input	ut is pen	ding, once				
BR X2,IF=1	the input i value inpu	s satisfied the IF ut stored in variab	flag will cle ble F1	ear and the program w	vill contin	ue, with the				
NETWORK PROT		VALENTS								
Ethornot/IP	Class	Instance	Attribut	e Data Type	Ma	dbuc/TCP				
Enternevie	—		—	—	IVIO		—			

Mnemonic		Function	Fu	unction Group		Access	Usage		
JE	Enal	ole jog functions	Co	onfiguration flag		RW	Program/Immediate		
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: -	-					
DESCRIPTION									
JE enables/disables input jog functions. Jogging the motor with using an input point requires the two parameters be configured.									
1. The JE (Jog	Enable) must l	Des	cription						
it is 0 (disat	oled)			0	Jog fu	og functions disabled (default)			
Jog - and/or appropriate									
Range: 0/1			Units: —			Default: 0			
Syntax: JE									
CODE EXAMPL	ES					RELATED			
JE=1	Enable jog fund	ctions				IS (Input Setup)			
PR JE >1	Return the ena	bled/disabled sta	te of jog functio	ons					
NETWORK PR	OTOCOL EQUI	VALENTS							
Ethorpot//D	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type			0x003E		
Eulemeule	0x66	1	0x05	BOOL		woubus/TCP	0x003F		

Mnemonic		Function	Acces	s Usage						
L	List the	contents of prog	gram memory	Program instruction			Immediate			
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: —	-			•			
DESCRIPTION										
Retrieves the contents of program memory beginning at the specified label or address to the end of user program space. If no parameter is given it will list the full contents of user program space beginning at address 1.										
Range: — Units: — Default:							—			
Syntax: L <label address=""></label>										
CODE EXAMPL	S					REL	ATED			
L Return	the contents	of program mem	iory, beginning a	t address 1		<u>AL (Li</u>	ist all Parameters)			
LG1 Return	the contents	of program mem	ory, beginning a	t label G1		<u>CP (C</u>	Clear Program Space)			
						<u>FD (</u> F	actory Defaults			
						<u>IP (In</u>	itialize Parameters)			
NETWORK PRO	TOCOL EQUI	VALENTS								
Ethermet/ID	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type	Madh					
Ethernet/IP	_			_	Modbus/TCP		_			

Mnemonic		Function		Function Group	Access	Usage					
LB	Label	Program or Subi	routine F	Program Instruction	CMD	Program					
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A) LMM	Notes: -	_		•					
DESCRIPTION											
The Label Instruction allows a 2 character user-defined name to a program, program location, or subroutine. This label is then accessed within a program using the BR (Branch) and CL (Call Subroutine) instructions.											
Labels applied to a program may be executed from immediate mode using the EX (Execute Program) command, or be label target subroutines for the various MCode trip functions.											
There is a limit of	336, an amou	unt shared with u	ser variable nan	nes created using th	ne VA (Create User	Variable) instruction.					
The restrictions for	r this comma	nd are:									
1. A label canno	be named af	ter an LMD MCc	de Instruction, \	/ariable, Flag, or Ke	eyword.						
2. In naming use	2. In naming user labels, the first character must be alpha, followed by 1 alpha character OR a number from 0 to 31.										
3. A program lab	eled SU will r	un on power-up									
4. Labels ARE N	OT case sens	sitive.									
Usage Tip:											
Establish labeling V2, V3 for user etc.	conventions variables, Q1	prior to beginning , Q2, Q3 for s	g to write a prog ubroutines, B1,	ram. For example: (B2, B3 for brancl	G1, G2, G3 for ex n targets, T1, T2, T	ecutable programs, V1, 3 for trip routines and					
Range: —			Units: —		Default: —						
Syntax: LB <al< td=""><td>oha><alpha></alpha></td><td>or LB <alpha><0</alpha></td><td>-31></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></al<>	oha> <alpha></alpha>	or LB <alpha><0</alpha>	-31>								
CODE EXAMPLE	S			RELATED	BR (I	<u>Branch)</u>					
LB G1 Label p	orogram or loc	ation to G1		CL (Call Subroutine)	<u>EX (</u>	Execute Program)					
NETWORK PRO	NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS										
Ethornot/IP	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type							
					WOUDUS/ I CP						

onic	Functio	n 🛛	Function Group		Access	Usage					
	Lead lim	it	hMT Variable		RW	Program/Immediate					
Compatibility: LMD(O) LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM Notes: —											
DESCRIPTION											
LD sets the limit in motor steps in which the rotor may lead the stator for hMTechnology. When this limit is reached, an <i>Error 106: Lead limit reached</i> , is asserted.											
on rate too	high for load can	cause the rotor p	position to lead the sta	tor positi	on.						
d Limit valu	es are only active	when AS (hMTe	chnology Mode) is set	to 1, 2, c	or 3						
0 to 21474	83647	Units:	motor steps	0	Default:	102400					
LD= <steps< td=""><td>s>, PR LD</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></steps<>	s>, PR LD										
MPLES						RELATED					
Set the	e lead limit for hM ⁻	Г to 51200 motor	steps			LG (Lag Limit)					
Read t	the value of the lea	ad limit				LL (Position Lead-Lag)					
PROTOCO	OL EQUIVALENT	S									
Ethorpot/IP Class Instance Attribute Data Type						0,0005 0,0006					
0>	x6A 1	0x0	6 UDINT			0x0095 -0x0096					
	ity: LMD(0) ity: LMD(0) imit in mo imit reached ion rate too d Limit valu 0 to 21474 LD= <steps MPLES Set the Read fr PROTOCO (IP 0)</steps 	Function Image: Image	Function Image: Constraint of the second	Function Function Group Lead limit hMT Variable ity: LMD(O) LMD(C) LMD(A) MMT Iimit in motor steps in which the rotor may lead the stator for hMTeorem it reached, is asserted. Notes: — Ion rate too high for load can cause the rotor position to lead the stator d Limit values are only active when AS (hMTechnology Mode) is set 0 to 2147483647 Units: motor steps LD= <steps>, PR LD </steps>	Function Function Group Lead limit hMT Variable ity: LMD(O) LMD(C) LMD(A) Notes: — Ion Imit in motor steps in which the rotor may lead the stator for hMTechnology. Imit reached, is asserted. ion rate too high for load can cause the rotor position to lead the stator position d Limit values are only active when AS (hMTechnology Mode) is set to 1, 2, or 0 to 2147483647 Units: motor steps Imit cause the lead limit motor steps ID=< <steps>, PR LD Imit for hMT to 51200 motor steps Imit cause the value of the lead limit Imit cause the value of the lead limit PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS Instance Attribute Data Type M</steps>	Function Function Group Access Lead limit hMT Variable RW ity: LMD(O) LMD(A) LMM Notes: ION Imit in motor steps in which the rotor may lead the stator for hMTechnology. When this limit reached, is asserted. Notes: ion rate too high for load can cause the rotor position to lead the stator position. Limit values are only active when AS (hMTechnology Mode) is set to 1, 2, or 3 Default: LD= <steps>, PR LD Units: motor steps Default: LD=<steps>, PR LD Set the lead limit for hMT to 51200 motor steps Read the value of the lead limit PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS Instance Attribute Data Type Modbus/TCP</steps></steps>					

Mnemonic		Function		Function Group	Acces	s	Usage			
LG		Lag limit		hMT Variable R			Program/Immediate			
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes:		•					
DESCRIPTION										
LG sets the limit in motor steps in which the rotor may lag the stator for hMTechnology. When this limit is reached, an <i>Error 107: Lag limit reached</i> , is asserted.										
Conditions causi	ng the rotor po	sition to lag the s	tator position:	:						
1. Acceleration	rate to high for	load								
2. Transient loa	d, sudden inte	rruption in the loa	id due to load	inertia change or mech	anical chan	ges ir	n the system.			
NOTE: Lag Limit	values are on	y active when AS	(hMTechnolo	ogy Mode) is set to 1, 2,	or 3					
Range: 0 to 2	2147483647		Units: m	otor steps	Default:	102	2400			
Syntax: LG=	<steps>, PR L</steps>	G								
CODE EXAMPL	S					REL	ATED			
LG=51200	Set the lead lin	nit for hMT to 512	00 motor step	DS		<u>AS (h</u>	MT Mode)			
PR LG	Pood the value	of the load limit				<u>LD (L</u>	ead Limit)			
>51200	>51200 Read the value of the lead limit LL (Position Lead-Lag)									
NETWORK PRO	NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS									
Ethernet/IP	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type	Modbus/T	CP	0v0007 _0v0008			
Luement	0x6A	1	0x08	UDINT	11000003/1	с г	0.0031 -0.0030			

Mnemoni	>	Function	Fu	Function Group			Usage				
LL	Position	Lead/Lag Registe	er hMTeo	hMTechnology Variable R0			Program/Immediate				
Compatibility	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: -	-							
DESCRIPTION											
Read only reg negative value	Read only register holding the number of counts that the rotor leads or lags the stator. A positive value indicates position lag. A negative value indicates position lead.										
hMTechnology	will use this cou	nter for position co	prrection.								
NOTE: LL valu	ies are only mea	sured when AS (h	MTechnology I	Mode) is set to 1, 2,	or 3.						
Range: -2	147483647 to +2	147483647	Units: mote	or steps	Default:						
Syntax: Pl	R LL, CL <label a<="" td=""><td>ddress>, LL<operation< td=""><td>ator><steps>, </steps></td><td>BR <label address=""></label></td><td>LL<operator< td=""><td>-><ste< td=""><td>eps></td></ste<></td></operator<></td></operation<></td></label>	ddress>, LL <operation< td=""><td>ator><steps>, </steps></td><td>BR <label address=""></label></td><td>LL<operator< td=""><td>-><ste< td=""><td>eps></td></ste<></td></operator<></td></operation<>	ator> <steps>, </steps>	BR <label address=""></label>	LL <operator< td=""><td>-><ste< td=""><td>eps></td></ste<></td></operator<>	-> <ste< td=""><td>eps></td></ste<>	eps>				
CODE EXAMI	LES					REL	ATED				
CL k5,LL>10	2500	Call k5 if LL is gr	eater than 102	500		<u>AS (h</u>	MT Mode)				
PR LL		Read the value of	of the Lead/Lac	u register		<u>LD (L</u>	ead Limit)				
>0						<u>LG (L</u>	ag Limit)				
NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS											
Ethernot/IP											
Luiemeni	0x6A	1	0x07	DINT	Modbus/ICP 0x0099 – 0x009A						

Mnomonio		Eurotion	E	notion Cro			llaaga	
winemonic		Function	Fu	nction Gro	up	Access	Usage	
LK	Lock u	ser program spac	ce P	rogram Fla	ogram Flag RW		Program/Immediate	
Compatibility:								
DESCRIPTION								
LK may be use	d to prohibit use	er interaction with	stored MCode p	programs b	y disallowii	ng:		
1. Program up	load			State		Descrip	tion	
2. Modificatior	I			0	User program	m space unlocked (de	efault)	
3. Listing				1	User program	m space locked		
Once enabled,	attempting to lis	t or modify the st	ored program sp	bace will res	sult in an E	Frror 44: User pro	ogram space locked.	
The program sp (Reset to Facto	ace may only b ry Defaults).	e unlocked by iss	suing a full CP (0	Clear Progr	am Space)) without parame	ters or by entering an FD	
If not saved, a l	ock may be clea	ared by a power o	cycle or software	e reset (CTF	RL+C).			
Range: 0/1			Units: —			Default: 0	0	
Syntax: LK=-	<0/1>, PR LK							
CODE EXAMP	ES						RELATED	
LK=1	Lock user prog	ram space to pre	vent upload/list/	modificatio	n		L (List Program Space)	
PR LK >1 Print the status of the LK flag.								
NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS								
Ethorpot/ID	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Typ	e			
EtherneviP		_	_	_				

Mnemonic	Function		Fu	nction Group	Acces	s	Usage				
LM	Limit Response	Mode			Program/Immediate						
Compatibility:	D(O) LMD(C) LMD(A) L	MM	Notes:								
DESCRIPTION											
LM defines the response limits set in software	onse taken when a lin	nit is read	ched. The mo	de for LM applies	to both hardwa	re I/O	limit switches or position				
Prerequisites:				Home	Plus Direction						
 Limits must be configured, either hardware switch limits using the IS (Input Setup) command, or software limits configured using the LS (Soft- ware Limits) variable. Limit of the defined direction Switch Trip Point (Switch Closed) Distance Belative 											
tion of travel; i.e., +limit only works in to Velocity and Decel Rate											
the positive direction, — limits only work in the minus direction Mode											
3. If the limit is active the software will the opposite directly the the opposite directly the the opposite directly the opposite d	ve and maintained, only allow motion in ection.	1	Normal limit function with a deceleration ramp: motion stops, unless homing. If the limit is active and maintained, the software will only allow motion in the opposite direction. If homing is active HM (Home to Home Switch), motion will decelerate to a stop, then received direction to active the home gwitch) (if the home switch) is not received as the source of the home switch).								
4. If homing is activ	e HM (Home to		and the oppo	osite limit is reached, a	all motion will stop w	ith a de	celeration ramp.				
Home Switch), r	notion will deceler-	2	A limit stops all motion with a deceleration ramp whether or not homing is active								
to seek the hom	en reverse direction le switch. If the home	3	A limit stops	all motion with a dece	eleration ramp and st	op prog	gram execution				
switch is not rea	iched on the reverse	4	Functions as	LM=1 but with no de							
and the opposite	e limit is reached, all	6	Functions as	LM=3 but with no de	celeration ramp						
ramp.											
Range: 1 to 6		U	Inits: Mod	е	Default:	1					
Syntax: LM= <mod< td=""><td>le>, PR LM</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></mod<>	le>, PR LM										
CODE EXAMPLES						REL	ATED				
LM=6 Stop moti	on without deceleration	on and pi	rogram execu	tion when a limit	is reached	<u>HM (</u>	Home to Home)				
PR LM Return the	e current limit stop mo	ode				<u>IS (Inp</u> LS (Se	<u>put Setup)</u> oft Limits)				
NETWORK PROTO	COL EQUIVALENTS										
	Class Instand	ce	Attribute	Data Type	Me alburs /T	CD	0,0042				
Ethernet/IP	0x66 1		0x06	USINT	woabus/1	CΡ	UXUU42				

Mnemonic		Function	Function Group			Access	Usage				
LR	Locked	Rotor	hM	T Status I	Flag	RO	Program/Immediate				
Compatibility:	_MD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Note	Notes: —							
DESCRIPTION A locked rotor is d becomes equal to tion of a status fla seconds. When hMT is con- also cause an inter-	A locked rotor is defined as no rotor movement while at the maximum allowed lag for a specified period of time. When lag becomes equal to the bounds, a timer starts to count down. Upon reaching zero, a locked rotor will be indicated by the assertion of a status flag. The timer reloads on any encoder movement. The timer timeout period is user selectable from 2mS to 65.5 seconds. When hMT is configured AS=1 or 2, a locked rotor will also cause an internal fault (LR) disabling the output bridge.										
bridge. The flag may be cleared and the bridges re-enabled by cycling power, or via software command CF : Clear Locked Rotor Fault. A locked rotor condition will result in an <i>Error</i> 104: <i>bMT</i> Locked Rotor as well											
In torque mode, a been stopped at t	locked rotor one specified to	does not disable th orque for a preset	ne bridges amount of	. The loc f time.	ked rotor flag	g (LR) can be used to	indicate the rotor has				
Range: 0/1		1	Units:			Default: 0					
Syntax: PR LR		· · · · ·				·					
CODE EXAMPLE	S	1	RELATED)							
PR LR Return 0	the lock statu	is of the rotor	AO (Attentior CF (Clear Lo	<u>n Output)</u> cked Rotor)	<u>AF (hl</u> LT (Lc	<u>MT Status)</u> ocked Rotor Timeout)	<u>AS (hMT Mode)</u> <u>TA (Trip on hMT Status)</u>				
Network Protoco	l Equivalents	5:									
Ethorpot/IP	Class Instance				Data Type		0,000				
Eulerneule	0x6A	1	0x09		BOOL	wiodbus/TCP					

Mnemonic		Function			Function Group	b	Access		Usage	
LS	Set/R	ead ± Software	Limits		Motion Variable		RW	Progr	am/Immediate	
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Note	es: Fi	rmware 6.001+			1		
DESCRIPTION										
Sets the direction	n, position and	enabled state for	or software	limit s	witches. There a	are thre	e parameters:			
The first parame	ter provides the	Pa	ram	Description		Value	S	Default		
The second para	meter provider	the position at	1		Limit direction		0 (lower limit)		0	
which the limits	vill respond.		'				1 (upper limit)		1	
NOTE: The limits	s must have a l	ogical gap, mea	ning ²		Position		-2147483648 to 2	14748364	0	
that the negative	limit must be s	set to a value mo	ore		Epoble/disable		0 (disable)		0 (disabled)	
negative than the	e positive limit.		5				1 (enable)		0 (disabled)	
The third parame	eter enables or	disables the lim	it function.							
When a software	limit is reache	d, the product w	ill respond	as sp	ecified by the LN	VI (Limi	t Response M	ode) varial	ole.	
	mi	nus SW Limit	·		·		plus SW Limit			
			minu		DAD					
				us	pius —					
	L	S=0, -102400					LS=1, 102400			
Range: See p	arameter table	above Uni	ts: See	See parameter table above			Default: See parameter table above			
Syntax: LS=<	0/1>,<±positior	ı>,<0/1>∣PR LS	6							
CODE EXAMPL	ES							RELATE	ED	
LS=0,-102400	,1	Set minus and	plus softwa	are lim	nits, enable			HM (Home	<u>e to Home)</u>	
LS=1,102400,	1				-			LM (Limit	Stop Mode)	
PR LS LS=0,-1024 LS=1,10240	PR LS LS=0,-102400,1 Return the software limit configuration LS=1,102400,1									
NETWORK PRO	TOCOL EQUI	VALENTS	_							
	Class	Instance	Attribut	te	Data Type	_		Refer to the Modbus/TCP User		
Etnernet/IP	0x66	1	0x1B	3	STRING	יו	viodbus/ I CP	Manual for Mfg Specific Function Codes		

Mnemonic Function				Function Group	Access	Usage					
LT	Set/Rea	d Locked Rotor	Timeout	hMT Variable	RW	Program/Immediate					
Compatibility:											
DESCRIPTION	DESCRIPTION										
Defines the tim abled	e in milliseconds	between the as	sertion of a	an LR (Locked Rotor) c	ondition and the out	put H-bridges being dis-					
NOTE: If the LI	MD is in hMTech	nology Torque M	lode (AS= 3	3), the output bridges w	ill not disable upon a	a locked rotor condition					
Range: 2 t	o 65535		Units:	milliseconds	Default: 20	000					
Syntax: LT	= <time>, PR LT</time>		0								
CODE EXAMP	LES					RELATED					
LT=50	Set the locked	rotor timeout to 5	50 msec			<u>AS (hMT Mode)</u>					
PR LT 50	Read the locke	d rotor timeout				LR (Locked Rotor)					
NETWORK PR	NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS										
Ethornot/IP	Class	Instance	Attribu	te Data Type							
Luemetri	0x6A	1	0x0A	A UINT		070030 - 07009D					

	Mnemo	onic		Function	Fu	nction Group	Acces	s	Usag	e		
	MA	A	Move to	Absolute Position	on Mot	ion Instruction	WO Program/Imn			mediate		
Compatibility: LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM Notes:												
DI	DESCRIPTION											
Se m	Set mode for absolute move and move to an absolute position relative to (0) zero. MD (Motion Mode) will be set to MA . MA moves the axis to a position in motor steps relative to zero (0).											
In	In the case of the profile shown below:											
The first MA (51200) will result in the axis ending 51200 motor steps from 0 (position 2).												
The second MA (102400), moves the axis an additional 51200 steps, ending at position 3 or 102400 steps from 0.												
The third MA (-51200) will index the axis 153600 steps in the negative direction from position 3, to a final position of -51200 absolute from 0.												
					0	MA 51200)	MA	102400			
					0	2			6 +			
		N	_ ∣ 1A -5120	0					/			
	MA -51200											
			lleatana	unto dunina o bo								
- 1	ne IVIA C		n he sto	and by pressing	Ining sequence.	whoard or entering	n an SI 0 com	mand	I			
- 7	The time r	required to c	n be sto _l calculate	each move is 20	USec			manu				
- 1	The positi	on value fol	lowing ea	ach MA move wi	ll be stored in P	(Position Counter)						
In	addition	to the comm	nanded p	osition. there are	e two optional pa	rameters to define	specific funct	ions v	vithin the move.			
	Param	Descrip	otion			Values				Default		
	1	± Motor positi	on	-2147483648 to +21	47483648					_		
				0 - no operation								
	2	Party Mode (F response	JY)	1 - send DN (Device	Name) out the					0		
				0 (or blank) Stop m	rt following move con	npletion. The device nar	ne will be sent reg	ardless	of the PY setting.			
	3	Motion		position	Storr after reaching					0		
				1 continue moving a	after position is reach	ed						
R	ando.	See table			Unite: moto	or stens	Default:	Se	a tahla			
S	inge. intax:	MA <+nosi	tion> <n< td=""><td>aram> <naram></naram></td><td>s mot</td><td></td><td>Derduit.</td><td></td><td></td><td></td></n<>	aram> <naram></naram>	s mot		Derduit.					
			1000 y y					RFI	ΔΤΕD			
MZ	102400		love to a	healute position	102400				AILD			
MZ	102400			bsolute position	102400 do not	stop motion upon r	osition	MR (N	<u>/love Relative)</u>			
	1 10240	0,0,1 IV			102400, 00 1101		0311011	<u>P (Po</u>	sition Counter)			
								<u>SL (S</u>	lew)			
NI	ETWORK	PROTOCO	OL EQUI	VALENTS								
	Ethernet	/IP	ass	Instance	Attribute	Data Type	Modbus/T	СР	0x0043 - 0x004	14		
0x66 1 0x07 DINT 0x0043 - 0x0044												

							1				
Mnemonic		Function	Fu	nction Group		Access	Usage				
MD	1	Notion Mode	St	tatus Variable		RO	Program/Immediate				
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	-								
DESCRIPTION											
Read-only statu Enable) flag to f the full comman	Read-only status variable holds the last used motion instruction. It is used in the (invisibly to the user) with the NE (Numeric Enable) flag to facilitate repeated move types (absolute position, relative position or slew) by entering a numeric value instead of the full command string.										
May be used as mnemonic: MA	a keyword with (Move Absolute	h the PR (Print) ir e), MR (Move Rel	nstruction to view ative) or SL (Sle	v the last move ty ew).	/pe. Tł	ne device will re	espond with the command				
Range: MA	, MR, or SL		Units: —			Default: —					
Syntax: PR	MD										
CODE EXAMPL	ES				REL	ATED					
MA 51200	Perform a mov	e			<u>MA (M</u>	ove Absolute)	MR (Move Relative)				
PR MD MA	Display the pre	vious move type		<u>SL (Sle</u>	<u>ew)</u>	NE (Numeric Enable)					
NETWORK PRO	NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS										
Ethorpot/ID	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type							
Ethernet/IP	—	—	—	—	Modbus/TCP		—				

Mnemonic		Function		Function Gro	oup	Access	Usage		
MF	Read/	Set hMT Make-u	p Frequency	hMT Variabl	e	RW	Program/Immediate		
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)			·					
DESCRIPTION	DESCRIPTION								
Defines the free	quency at which	missed steps are	e re-inserted into	the move profile	e wher	n MU (Make-up	Mode) is set to mode 1.		
Can be used as	a keyword with	the PR (Print) c	ommand to displ	lay the stored val	lue for	MF.			
Range: 92	to VM		Units: moto	or steps/sec		Default: 768000			
Syntax: MF	= <steps sec="">, F</steps>	PR MF							
CODE EXAMP	LES					RELATED			
MF=512000	Set hMT make	-up to 512000 st	eps/sec			AS (hMT Mode)			
PR MF 512000 Read the current value of MF						MU (Make-up Mode	2)		
NETWORK PR	OTOCOL EQUI	VALENTS							
Ethornot//D	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type	Medbus/TCD				
	0x6A	1	0x0B	UDINT	'				

				1						
Mnemonic		Function		Function Group			Access	Usage		
MP	Mov	ing to a Position		S	Status Flag	I	RO	Program/Immediate		
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)									
DESCRIPTION										
Read-only status flag is active (1) when the axis is indexing to a position. This moving to position flag can be used in writing a subroutine to wait while positional moves are in progress.										
NOTE: MP will be active for the total move, which includes the delays								Description		
added to compe	nsate for HT (F	lold Current Dela	y) and M	IT (Moto	r Settling	0	Not moving to posit	lot moving to position		
Delay).						1	Positional move in	ositional move in progress		
The moving to p Position type (O	sition flag mag <pre>secoutput>,23,</pre>	y be used to give ≺active>).	external	indicatio	on via an c	output poir	t specifically con	figured for the Moving to		
Range: 0/1			Units:	_			Default: —			
Syntax: CL <	label/address>	>,MP=<0/1> PR	MP							
CODE EXAMPL	ES							RELATED		
MA 5120000	Make a p	ositional move, re	eturn the	MP state	us while a	xis is mov	ing,	MA (Move Absolute)		
1	1 MR (Move Relative)									
NETWORK PRO	NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS									
Class Instance Attribute Data Type							0.0045			
⊑tnernet/IP	1	0x0	08	BOOL		woabus/ICP	0X0045			

Mnemonic	Function	Function Group	Access	Usage
MR	Move to Relative Position	Motion Instruction	WO	Program/Immediate
Compatibility:	(O) LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM	Notes: —		

DESCRIPTION

Set mode for relative move and move to a position relative to the current position. MD (Motion Mode) will be set to MR.

MR moves the axis to a position in motor steps relative to the current motor position. In the case of the profile shown in the figure above, the start position (1) of the axis is zero (0).

The result of the first **MR** (51200) will result in the axis moving 51200 steps from the start position, or 51200 motor steps (position 2 in the example) from 0.

The second **MR** (51200) will result in the axis moving an additional 51200 steps from its current position, ending at position 3 or 102400 steps from 0.

The third **MR** (-153600) will index the axis -153600 steps in the negative direction from position 3, with a final position of -51200 relative to the starting position of 0.



MR -153600

NOTES:

- The MR command will not operate during a homing sequence.

- An in progress **MR** can be stopped with an [ESC] or an **SL** 0 command entry.

- The time required to calculate each move is 20 $\mu Sec.$

- The axis position following each MR move will be stored in P (Position Counter).

In addition to the commanded position, there are two optional parameters to define specific functions within the move.

	Param	Description			Values			Default					
	1	± Motor position	-2147483648 to +2	147483648 to +2147483648									
		Party Mode (PY)	0 - no operation										
	2	response	1 - send DN (Device communications po PY setting.	send DN (Device Name) out the nmunications port following move completion. The device name will be sent regardless of the setting.									
	Motion 0 (or blank) Stop motion after reaching position												
	3		1 continue moving a	0 1 continue moving after position is reached									
Range: See table Units: motor steps Default: See table													
S	yntax: N	/IR <±position>, <p< td=""><td>oaram>, <param/></td><td>></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></p<>	oaram>, <param/>	>									
С	ODE EXAN	IPLES					RELATED						
м	R 102400	Move 102	2400 steps relativ	ve to the current	motor position		MA (Move Ab	<u>solute)</u>					
M	R 102400,	0,1 Move 102	2400 steps relativ	ve to the current	motor position, c	to not stop mo-	MD (Motion N	<u>lode)</u>					
	tion upon position P (Position Counter)												
SL (Slew)													
NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS													
		Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type	Madhus/T		46 00047					
	Ethernet/I	0x66	66 1 0x09 DINT Modbus/TCP 0x0046 - 0x0047										

nonic		Functio	n		F	Functi	on G	roup	Access Usage		ge		
IS	Set/rea	ad Microstep	Reso	olution		Motion Variable			RV	V	Pr	ogram/In	nmediate
bility: 🔳 LMD	0(0) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	м	No	otes: —				•		·		
PTION													
mand sets t cept rangir	the Microst	ep Resolutio step (MR =1	on for I) to 2	the dev 56 micro	ice. The osteps p	ere are er full	20 fix step,	xed micro or MR =2	ostep resol 256.	utions f	hat th	e LMD N	lotion prod-
tant to con	sider that w	vhen changi	ing										
ostep Reso automatica	lution), othe ally scale to	er motion va	arı- lent		MS=	<param< td=""><td>> 5</td><td>Steps/rev</td><td>VI (Initial V)</td><td>VM (Max</td><td>v</td><td>Α</td><td>D</td></param<>	> 5	Steps/rev	VI (Initial V)	VM (Max	v	Α	D
ratio, as shown in the table below. The settings Default MS=256 51200 1000 768000 1000000									1000000	1000000			
for a particular velocity profile can change							4	.00	4	3000	3	3906	3906
motor toblo	bolowiab	and upon t			i oto with	1 0 0 /	200.0	Stop/Dov) motor If		- L ME) modulo	r product
erent moto	r, the motor	r resolution	me ∟iv will ap	oply. For	exampl	11.8 (le, a 0.	,200 3 .9° m	otor has 4	400 steps	oer rev	olutior	n. The fol	lowing
applies whe	ere SA is th	ne setting of	the S	step Ang	le variat	ole.							C C
v = (360/SA	A)* MS												
					Param	neters							
				Binary	y Resoluti	ion Para	ameter	s					
per step	1*	2*	4*	8*		16		32	64	128		256	
per rev,	200	400	800	16	00	3200		6400	12800	25600)	51200	
				Decim	al Resolut	tion Par	amete	rs					
per step	5*	10	25	50		100		125	200	250			
per rev,	1000	2000	5000	10	20000 25000 40000 50000)		_			
				Additio	nal Resolu	ution Pa	ramet	ers					
per step	108			12	7				180				
per rev,	21600 (1 Arc	Minute/µStep))	25	400 (0.001	ι0 (0.001mm/μStep)			36000 (0.01°/µStep)				
*Do not use	with hMT activ	/e											
n steps per D Motion M	revolution odule with	values assu a motor with	ime th n a ste	ie 1.8° n ep angle	otor sta other th	andard nan 1.8	with 3°, ref	LMD pro fer to the	ducts. If us SA (Step /	sing a c Angle)	ustom comm	n integrat and.	ed product,
See parar	meter table	1		Units:	steps	s/full s	tep		Default:	256	6		
MS= <para< td=""><td>am>, PR M</td><td>IS</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></para<>	am>, PR M	IS											
ODE EXAMPLES RELATED A (Acceleration) D (Deceleration)										ration)			
S=4 Set microstep resolution to 4 steps/full st									VI (Initial V	<u>(elocity)</u>		MA (Move	Absolute)
PR MS A Return the microstep resolution setting									<u>SA (Step A</u> <u>SL (Slew a</u>	<u>(ngie)</u> It Velocity	<u>()</u>	<u>MR (Move</u> <u>VM (Maxin</u>	<u>kelative)</u> num Velocity)
RK PROTO	COL EQUI	VALENTS											
	Class	Instance	•	Attrik	oute	Dat	ta Type	e					
et/IP	0x66	1		0x0)A	ι	JINT		Modbus	TCP	0x0048		
	nonic nonic S Dility: LMC PTION mand sets ccept rangin tant to con Distep Reso automatica hown in the cular veloc illy based of meter table erent moto applies whe v = (360/SA per step per rev, per step per rev, *Do not use not steps per O Motion M See para MS= <para CAMPLES Set Retu CK PROTO</para 	nonic S Set/real Dility: ■LMD(C) ■LMD(C) PTION mand sets the Microst accept ranging from full tant to consider that w batep Resolution), oth automatically scale to hown in the table beloc cular velocity profile c ully based on the settir meter table below is b- erent motor, the motor applies where SA is the v = (360/SA)*MS per step 1* per step 5* per rev, 200 per step 5* per rev, 1000 per step 5* per rev, 21600 (1 Ard *Do not use with hMT active n steps per revolution D Motion Module with See parameter table MS= <param/> , PR M CAMPLES Set microstep r Return the microstep r Return the microstep r Class 0x66	nonic Function Set/read Microstep Dility: LMD(0) LMD(2) LMD(A) LMD(A) PTION mand sets the Microstep Resolution mand sets the Microstep Resolution (MR=1) tant to consider that when change (MR=1) utomatically scale to the equival hown in the table below. The setting of MS: meter table below is based upon term (MS=1) per step 1* 2* per rev, 200 400 per step 5* 10 per rev, 21600 (1 Arc Minute/µStep *Do not use with hMT active Set microst	nonic Function Set/read Microstep Resolution Set/read Microstep Resolution for Comparison of the Set of the Microstep Resolution for Comparison of the Set of	nonic Function S Set/read Microstep Resolution pility: LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM No pility: LMD(C) LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM No mand sets the Microstep Resolution for the devicept ranging from full step (MR=1) to 256 microstem tatts consider that when changing botep Resolution), other motion variautomatically scale to the equivalent hown in the table below. The settings of MS: Default Change meter table below is based upon the LMD produce rent motor, the motor resolution will apply. For applies where SA is the setting of the Step Ang applies where SA is the setting of the Step Ang applies where SA is the setting of the Step Ang applies where SA is the setting of S00 16 per step 1* 2* 4* 8* per rev, 200 400 800 10 per step 5* 10 25 50 per rev, </td <td>nonic Function Index Index Index Index Index Notes:</td> <td>nonic Function Function Set/read Microstep Resolution Motion Dility: LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM Notes:</td> <td>nonic Function Function G Set/read Microstep Resolution Motion Variation sility: LMD(a) LMD(a) Motes: THON mand sets the Microstep Resolution for the device. There are 20 ficept ranging from full step (MR=1) to 256 microsteps per full step, tant to consider that when changing batep Resolution), other motion variautomatically scale to the equivalent hown in the table below. The settings (MS= MS= MS= 4 In the table below. The settings (UI) based on the setting of MS: Default MS=2 4 meter table below is based upon the LMD products with 1.8° (200 ferent motor, the motor resolution will apply. For example, a 0.9° mapplies where SA is the setting of the Step Angle variable. 16 per step 1° 2° 4° 8° 16 per rev, 200 400 800 1600 3200 Additional Resolution Parameter per step 5° 10 25 50 100 2000 Quer rev. 1000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 <t< td=""><td>Image Function Function Group Set/read Microstep Resolution Motion Variable Daility: LMD(r) LMD(r) Motion Variable Daility: LMD(r) LMD(r) LMM Notes:</td><td>Image Function Function Group Access S Set/read Microstep Resolution Motion Variable RV Difity: LMD(G) LMD(G) LMD(G) Motion RV Notes: </td><td>Punction Function Function Access Set/read Microstep Resolution Motion Variable RW Set/read Microstep Resolution Notes:</td><td>Prono Function Function Group Access Set/read Microstep Resolution Motion Variable RW Pr Set/read Microstep Resolution Motes: Set/read Microstep Resolutions to the device. There are 20 fixed microstep resolutions the the cept ranging from full step (MR=1) to 256 microsteps per full step, or MR=256. TION Msecparam> Steps/rev VI VI VM Msecparam> Steps/rev VI (Miniat V) Msecparam> Steps/rev VI (Msecparam) Steps/rev VI (Msecparam)</td><td>Princion Function Access Usage Set/read Microstep Resolution Motion Variable RW Program/In Sitty:::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::</td></t<></td>	nonic Function Index Index Index Index Index Notes:	nonic Function Function Set/read Microstep Resolution Motion Dility: LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM Notes:	nonic Function Function G Set/read Microstep Resolution Motion Variation sility: LMD(a) LMD(a) Motes: THON mand sets the Microstep Resolution for the device. There are 20 ficept ranging from full step (MR=1) to 256 microsteps per full step, tant to consider that when changing batep Resolution), other motion variautomatically scale to the equivalent hown in the table below. The settings (MS= MS= MS= 4 In the table below. The settings (UI) based on the setting of MS: Default MS=2 4 meter table below is based upon the LMD products with 1.8° (200 ferent motor, the motor resolution will apply. For example, a 0.9° mapplies where SA is the setting of the Step Angle variable. 16 per step 1° 2° 4° 8° 16 per rev, 200 400 800 1600 3200 Additional Resolution Parameter per step 5° 10 25 50 100 2000 Quer rev. 1000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 <t< td=""><td>Image Function Function Group Set/read Microstep Resolution Motion Variable Daility: LMD(r) LMD(r) Motion Variable Daility: LMD(r) LMD(r) LMM Notes:</td><td>Image Function Function Group Access S Set/read Microstep Resolution Motion Variable RV Difity: LMD(G) LMD(G) LMD(G) Motion RV Notes: </td><td>Punction Function Function Access Set/read Microstep Resolution Motion Variable RW Set/read Microstep Resolution Notes:</td><td>Prono Function Function Group Access Set/read Microstep Resolution Motion Variable RW Pr Set/read Microstep Resolution Motes: Set/read Microstep Resolutions to the device. There are 20 fixed microstep resolutions the the cept ranging from full step (MR=1) to 256 microsteps per full step, or MR=256. TION Msecparam> Steps/rev VI VI VM Msecparam> Steps/rev VI (Miniat V) Msecparam> Steps/rev VI (Msecparam) Steps/rev VI (Msecparam)</td><td>Princion Function Access Usage Set/read Microstep Resolution Motion Variable RW Program/In Sitty:::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::</td></t<>	Image Function Function Group Set/read Microstep Resolution Motion Variable Daility: LMD(r) LMD(r) Motion Variable Daility: LMD(r) LMD(r) LMM Notes:	Image Function Function Group Access S Set/read Microstep Resolution Motion Variable RV Difity: LMD(G) LMD(G) LMD(G) Motion RV Notes:	Punction Function Function Access Set/read Microstep Resolution Motion Variable RW Set/read Microstep Resolution Notes:	Prono Function Function Group Access Set/read Microstep Resolution Motion Variable RW Pr Set/read Microstep Resolution Motes: Set/read Microstep Resolutions to the device. There are 20 fixed microstep resolutions the the cept ranging from full step (MR=1) to 256 microsteps per full step, or MR=256. TION Msecparam> Steps/rev VI VI VM Msecparam> Steps/rev VI (Miniat V) Msecparam> Steps/rev VI (Msecparam) Steps/rev VI (Msecparam)	Princion Function Access Usage Set/read Microstep Resolution Motion Variable RW Program/In Sitty:::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::

Mnemonic		Function		Function Group	Acces	s Us	age			
MT	Set/Re	ad Motor Settling E	Delay	Motion Variable	RW	Program	Immediate			
Compatibility:	.MD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Note	s: —	· ·	•				
DESCRIPTION										
Delay, measured i (Run Current) and	n millisecond HC (Hold Cu	s, given to allow the irrent) is the sum o	e motor to f the MT a	o settle into position foll and HT (Hold Current D	owing a move elay) values.	Total delay time b	etween RC			
ThIS diagram belo tween MT and HT	w shows the	relationship be-				DELAY =				
The total of MT + HT cannot exceed 65535. Ex- ceeding this value results in an <i>Error 21: Illegal data</i> <i>value entered</i> . Therefore, the maximum setting for MT = (65535 - HT).										
f HT is set to 0, MT is still in effect. If both HT and MT are set to 0, the current will not reduce, but maintain the RC (Run Current) percentage.										
NOTE: MT should	NOTE: MT should be at least 50 mS when encoder functions are enabled (EE=1).									
Range: 0 to (6	5535-HT)	U	Inits:	milliseconds	Default:	500				
Syntax: MT=<	ime>, PR M⁻	Г								
CODE EXAMPLE	S					RELATED				
MT=0 Di	sable MT, mo	otor will still delay th	ne set HT	value		HC (Hold Current)				
PR MT 0 R	ead the value	of MT (Motor Settl	ling Delay	<i>'</i>)		HT (Hold Current Dela RC (Run Current)	ī λ)			
NETWORK PROT	OCOL EQUI	VALENTS								
Ethornot/ID	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type	Modbuo/1	CB 0x0040				
Ethemethe	0x66	1	0x0B	UINT		000049				
Mnemonic		Function		Function Grou	o Acces	s Us	age			
MU	Set/R	ead Make-Up Mode	e for hMT	hMT Variable	RW	Program	Immediate			
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM	Note	s: —						
DESCRIPTION	DESCRIPTION									
Defines the mode	for hMT posit	tion make-up. Make	-un only	occurs when motor lag	lead is within	1.1 motor steps. M	lake un stens			

Defines the mode for hMT position make-up. Make-up only occurs when motor lag/lead is within 1.1 motor steps. Make up may be integrated with motion steps and made after a move has completed.

Where make-up occurs is dependent on motor lag/lead, motion frequency and selected make up speed.

Make up mode will be cleared when bridges are disabled and hMT is enabled (AS=1 or 2).

Mode	Description
	Make up position without regard to time (default)
	Use make up frequency (MF) as make up frequency
	Use system speed (SS), an internally defined velocity limited to 2560000 steps/sec (3000 RPM) as make up frequency

NOTE: Make-up is an advanced hMT function covered in detail in "Hybrid Motion Technology (hMT)" on page 152 of this document.

0

1

2

•											
Range:	0 to 2		Units: –	_		Default: 0					
Syntax:	ax: MU= <mode></mode>										
CODE EXA	MPLES		RELATED								
MU=1	Set make-up to	make up positio	ocity	AS (hMT Mode)							
PR MU 1	Return the set	make-up mode				MF (Make-up Frequ	<u>uency)</u>				
NETWORK	NORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS										
Ethornot	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type							
Ethernet	0x6A	1	0x0C	STRING		woodbus/TCP	0X00A0				

Mnemonic		Function	Fu Fu	Function Group			Access	Usage			
MV	A	xis is Moving		Status Flag			RO	Program/Immediate			
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: -	-							
DESCRIPTION											
Read-only status	Read-only status flag is active (1) when the axis is moving, regardless of the move type.										
NOTES:				Sta	te	[Description				
– MV will be active for the total move, which includes the delays added							Not moving				
to compensate for HT (Hold Current Delay) and MT (Motor Settling Delay).							Moving				
 The moving the movin	lag may be use >,17, <active>) els only) or an o</active>	ed to give externation or by setting the output defined as	al indication via attention output the Attention O	either an ou mask varia utput type	utput p able (A (OS= <	oint s \O =16	specifically config 6384) to indicate ut>,29, <active>)</active>	gured for the Moving type on LED 2 (LMD Motion			
Range: 0/1			Units: —				Default: —				
Syntax: CL ·	label/address>	>,MV=<0/1> PR	MV								
CODE EXAMPL	ES					REL	ATED				
SL 51200	Slew the	axis				<u>MA (N</u>	<u>love Absolute)</u>	OS (Output Setup)			
PR MV Return the MV status						<u>MR (N</u>	<u>love Relative)</u>	<u>SL (Slew)</u>			
NETWORK PRO	TOCOL EQUI	VALENTS									
Class Instance Att				Data Ty	pe			0.0044			
Etnernet/IP	0x66	1	0x0C	BOOI	L		woabus/ICP	UXUU4A			

Mnemonic		Function		Function Group				Usage	
NE	Enable	e/disable Numeri	ic Functions	Setup \	/ariable	RW		Program/Immediate	
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: -	_		A			
DESCRIPTION									
Facilitates repeated move types (absolute position, relative position or slew) by entering a numeric value instead of the full com- mand string.									
When a move is	executed, the	type of move (M	A , MR , or SL) is	stored	Value		De	scription	
in the MD (Motic	on Mode) variab	le. This stored v	alue will be used	d as the	0	Disabled (defau	ult)		
move type when	iever NE is in a	n enabled state.			1	Numeric function	ons ena	abled	
If disabled, the u	iser must enter	a motion comma	and to execute a	i move, i.e.,	MA 1000	00, MR -5000	0, SL	. 300000 etc.	
Range: 0/1			Units: —			Default: 0)		
Syntax: NE=	<0/1>, PR NE								
CODE EXAMPL	ES					F	RELA	TED	
NE=1	Enable numerio	c functions				Ν	MA (Mo	<u>ove Absolute)</u>	
						<u>N</u>	<u>MD (Mo</u>	<u>otion Mode)</u>	
PR NE	Return the num	tions are enable	9			N	<u>MR (Mo</u>	<u>ove Relative)</u>	
÷	SL (Slew)								
NETWORK PRO	NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS								
	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Ty	be		_		
Ethernet/IP		—	—	_		Modbus/TC	P -	_	

Mnemonic		Function	Funct	Function Group			Usage			
O1, O2, C)3	Set Output #	I/O Ir	I/O Instruction			Program/Immediate			
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: Outpu	its 1 and 2 are	e not available o	on NEMA	A 17 (42 mm) models.			
DESCRIPTION										
Sets the state of	f the specified o	utput to 1 or 0 for	r output type 16 (Ge	eneral Purpose	e User).					
The output response is determined by the third parameter of OS Setting Output Config Output State										
(Output Setup),	which defines t	he output as activ	ve when HIGH (1) o		OS=x,16,0		INACTIVE			
			Outpute 1 and 2	0<001put>=0	OS=x,16, 1		ACTIVE			
are not present.	Use of this con	mand will result	in an	Ocoutput>=1	OS=x,16,0		ACTIVE			
Error 37: Comm	and, variable of	flag not availabl	e.		OS=x,16, 1		INACTIVE			
Range: 0/1			Units: —		Default:		-			
Syntax: O<1	/2/3>=<0/1>									
CODE EXAMPL	ES					RELAT	ED			
01=1	Set Output 1 to	a value of 1				OF (Outp	<u>out Fault)</u>			
01=0	Set Output 1 to	a value of 0				OS (Outp	<u>out Setup)</u>			
NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS										
Class Instance Attribute Data Type 0x004B (O1)										
Ethernet/IP	0x67	1	0x10 (O1) 0x11 (O2)	BOOL	Modbus/T	CP 02	0x004D (O2) 0x004D (O3)			
			0x12 (O3)			0				

Mnemonic		Function	Fu	unction Group	Acces	Usage					
OE	On	Error Handler	Pro	gram Instruction	WO		Program/Immediate				
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: -	_							
DESCRIPTION											
OE declares the label or address of the subroutine which will execute when an error code ER (Error Code) is received and EF (Error Flag) activated.											
Attempting to tar	Attempting to target OE to a non-existent subroutine will result in an Error 30: Unknown User Label or Variable.										
An RT (Return F the program will	om Subroutine eturn to the lir	e) must be insertene ne following the c	ed at the end of command string	f the subroutine ca that caused the er	lled in an OE . / rror.	After th	he subroutine completes,				
NOTES:											
1. OE may be c	1. OE may be declared inside a program, between the opening and closing PG (Program Mode) tags.										
2. OE may be one of the need not be	eclared in imm running.	nediate mode ON	ILY if the target	subroutine is resid	lent in program	i mem	ory space. The program				
 Subroutines tine need on programmed 	argeted by an ly be resident as well.	OE will execute in program memo	when an error i ory space, it do	s encountered dur es not need to be i	ing immediate running. A retui	operat n from	tions. The target subrou- n the subroutine should be				
4. OE will not e	cecute during	programming.									
Range: —			Units: —		Default:	_					
Syntax: OE=	<label address<="" td=""><td>;></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></label>	;>									
CODE EXAMPLES RELATED											
OE Q1	Execute subrou	utine Q1 when ar	n Error is assert	ed		<u>EF (E</u>	Error Flag) ER (Error Code)				
NETWORK PRO	TOCOL EQUI	VALENTS									
Ethernet/IP	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type	Modbus/	ГСР	_				

	<u> </u>										
Mnemonic		Function	Fu	Inction Gro	oup	Acces	S	Usage			
OF	Output	Over Current Fai	ult	I/O Variable	e	RO		Program/Immediate			
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: A	pplicable to	Outputs 1	& 2 only. N	ot ap	plicable to LMM products			
DESCRIPTION											
Read-only statu	Read-only status variable indicates an over-current fault condition on the power outputs (Outputs 1 and 2).										
NOTE: An output	NOTE: An output over current condition will result in an Error 1: OUT 1 Status code										
fault or Error 2: OUT 2 fault. Since the ER (Error Register) only displays							ault (de	fault)			
the last error received, perform a read of the Output Fault to confirm if							current	fault on output 1			
2 Ov							er current fault on output 2				
					3	Over	current	fault on both output 1 and 2			
Damasa O ta	4		11			Defeulte	0				
Range: 0 to	4		Units: —			Default:	0				
Syntax: PR	OF, <cl br=""> <</cl>	label/address>,C)F= <status></status>								
CODE EXAMP	ES						REL	ATED			
PR OF	Return the stat	us of the outputs					<u>EF (</u>	rror Flag)			
0	no output fai	ult conditions exis	st				<u>ER (</u> E	Frror Register)			
CT_01_0E=1 Call 01 if an over current fault occurs on output 1								<u> Dn Error Handler)</u>			
CL QI,OF-I				. 1			<u>OS (0</u>	<u>Dutput Setup)</u>			
NETWORK PR	OTOCOL EQUI	VALENTS									
Ethorpot/ID	Class	Attribute	Data Ty	pe	Modbuc/T	CD	0,004E				
Enterneur	0x67	1	0x13	BOOL	-	woubus/1	66				

Mnemonic	Function		Function Group	Access	Usage	
OS <1-3>	Setup Outputs 1 to 3		I/O Instruction	RW	Program/Immediate	
Compatibility:	D(A) LMM	Notes: LMD NEMA 17 (42 m LMD(A) NEMA 23 (5 Some output function	nm) models are equipped with Ol 7 mm) and NEMA 34 (85 mm) m ns are hMTechnology specific and	JT 3 (Signal Out odels do not hav d not available o	put) only. e an OUT 2. n all products	

DESCRIPTION

This instruction is used to configure the output parameters. These parameters define the function and active state.

When used as a keyword (**PR OS**), the

instruction will return the configuration of all outputs.

LMD NEMA 17 (42 mm) models are equipped with OUT 3 (Signal Output) only. Attempting to setup Outputs 1 or 2 will generate an *Error 10: Illegal I/O number*.

Output Parameters									
Param	Description	Default							
1	Output line number	1 - 3	_						
2	Output function type	(see type table)	16 (General Purpose User)						
3	Active HI/LO State	0 (LOW active), 1 (HIGH active)	0 (LOW active)						

LMD NEMA 23 (57 mm) and NEMA 34 (85 mm) with Absolute Encoder are not equipped with OUT 2. Attempting to setup Output 2 will generate an *Error 10: Illegal I/O number*.

Some output functions are hMTechnology specific and not available on all products. Such variances are noted in the type table below.

	Output Function Types										
Туре	Function			Notes/Restrictions							
16	General purpose user: (default for all inputs) events external to the device using O1-O3 and	typically used to trigger d OT	See <u>O<1-3> (Set Ou</u>	See O<1-3> (Set Output) and OT (Set All Outputs)							
17	Moving : active when the axis is in motion or a and MT delays.	awaiting the expiration of HC	See <u>MV (Moving)</u>								
18	Error: active when an error condition exists, c	leared by PR ER or ER=0	Se ER (Error)								
20	Velocity Changing: active when the axis is cl celeration and deceleration, linked to the VC (hanging velocity, such as ac- Velocity Changing) flag	See <u>VC (Velocity Cha</u>	anging)							
21	Locked Rotor: active when an hMT Locked F	Rotor condition exists	See <u>LR (Locked Roto</u> [hMT LMD ONLY]	See <u>LR (Locked Rotor)</u> and <u>CF (Clear Locked Rotor)</u> [hMT LMD ONLY]							
23	Moving to a Position: active while the axis is and MA (Move Absolute) or MR (Move Relativ delays, Linked to the status of the MP (Moving	moving to a position from re). Includes HT and MT g to Position) flag.	See <u>MP (Moving to F</u>	Position)							
24	hMT Active : active whenever hMTechnology i variances.	is compensating for load	See <u>AS (hMT Mode)</u>	See <u>AS (hMT Mode)</u> [hMT LMD ONLY]							
25	Make-up Steps Active: active whenever hMT is compensating for position errors.	echnology Make-up function	See <u>MU (Make-up M</u>	See MU (Make-up Mode) [hMT LMD ONLY]							
28	Trip : active when an assigned trip event occur (Signal Output) only. The trip function is active	rs. Available on Output 3 e when LOW only.	See TA (Trip on hMT TE (Trip Enable), TI (TP (Trip on Position) TR (Trip on Relative TT (Trip on Time)	See TA (Trip on hMT), TC (Trip on Capture), TD (Torque Direction), TE (Trip Enable), TI (Trip on Input), TM (Trip on Main Power Loss), TP (Trip on Position), TQ (Torque Percent), TR (Trip on Relative Position), TS (Torque Speed), and TT (Trip on Time)							
29	Attention: active with regard to the AO (Atten	tion Output Mask) setting.	See AO (Attention O	See AO (Attention Output Mask)							
Range:	_	Units: —	De	fault: —							
Syntax:	OS=<1-3>, <type>,<active> PR OS</active></type>	3									

-	-						
CODE EXAMPLES							
	Set output 1 to	moving function,		IS (Input Setup)			
	Set output 3 to	trip function type	<u>0<1-</u>	<u>O<1-3> (Set Output)</u>			
7, 1 6, 0 9, 0	Return the outp Response: setti	ut settings ings of all output	01 (8	<u>set All Outputs)</u>			
OTOCOL EQUI	VALENTS						
Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type	Madhua/T		Refer to the Modbus/TCP User	
0x67	1	0x14	STRING	wodbus/1	<u>с</u> р	tion Codes	
	LES 7, 1 6, 0 9, 0 CTOCOL EQUI Class 0x67	LES Set output 1 to Set output 3 to 7, 1 6, 0 9, 0 Response: setti Class Instance 0x67 1	LES Set output 1 to moving function. Set output 3 to trip function type 7, 1 Return the output settings 6, 0 Response: settings of all output 9, 0 Class Instance Attribute 0x67 1 0x14	LES Set output 1 to moving function, HIGH active Set output 3 to trip function type. 7, 1 Return the output settings 6, 0 Response: settings of all output points OTOCOL EQUIVALENTS Class Instance Attribute Data Type 0x67 1 0x14 STRING	LES Set output 1 to moving function, HIGH active Set output 3 to trip function type. 7, 1 Return the output settings 6, 0 Response: settings of all output points COTOCOL EQUIVALENTS Class Instance Attribute Data Type Modbus/T 0x67 1 0x14 STRING Modbus/T	LES REL Set output 1 to moving function, HIGH active IS (In Octa- Set output 3 to trip function type. 7, 1 Return the output settings 6, 0 Response: settings of all output points 9, 0 CTOCOL EQUIVALENTS Class Instance Attribute Data Type 0x67 1 0x14	

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·											
Mnemonic		Function		Function Group	Access	Usage					
ОТ	Set the	state of all outpu	uts	I/O Instruction	RW	Program/Immediate					
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A) LMM	Notes Outpu	Notes : LMD NEMA 17 (42 mm) models are equipped with OUT 3 (Signal Output) only.							
DESCRIPTION											
Allows the user to set outputs 1-3 as one 3 bit binary value. The value is entered in decimal, with a range of 0-7 in binary where Output 1 will be the LSb and Output 3 will be the MSb.											
Range: 1 - 7			Units:		Default: —						
Syntax: OT=	<1-7>										
CODE EXAMP	LES				RELATED						
от=7 Set (Output total to 7,	, all outputs will b	be active		O<1-3> (Set Output)	OS (Output Setup)					
Network Proto	col Equivalents	5:	,		· · ·						
	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type	M. II. (TOD	0.0050					
Ethernet/IP	0x67	1	0x15	UINT	wiodbus/TCP	UXUU56					

Mnen	nonic		Function		Funct	tion Group		Acces	s	Usage	
F	>	Po	sition Counter		Ins	struction		RW		Program/Immediate	
Compatib	oility: 🗖 📖	0(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Not	es: —						
DESCRIP	TION										
Reads or writes the value of the position counter. The position will read in Motor Steps from C1 (Counter 1) by default, if encoder functions are enabled on closed loop models, the position counter will read in Encoder Counts from C2 (Counter 2).											
Modifying P changes the frame of reference for the axis for Move Absolute (MA) instructions. P will likely be set once during system set up to reference or "home" for the system.											
Dengel	EE=0:	-2147483648 to +2147483647			EE=0: M		: Mot	Motor steps		Default	
Range:	EE=1:	-1677721	160 to +167772160		Units.		: Enc	Encoder counts		Delault. —	
Syntax:	P= <count< td=""><td>s>, PR P, <</td><td>CL/BR> <label a<="" td=""><td>address>, I</td><td>P=<value< td=""><td>e></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></value<></td></label></td></count<>	s>, PR P, <	CL/BR> <label a<="" td=""><td>address>, I</td><td>P=<value< td=""><td>e></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></value<></td></label>	address>, I	P= <value< td=""><td>e></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></value<>	e>					
CODE EX	AMPLES								REL	ATED	
P=0	zero the p	osition cou	inter						<u>C1 (C</u>	<u>counter 1)</u>	
PR P 0	Read the the pos	value of the	e position counte er is a 0	er					<u>C2 (C</u>	<u>ounter 2)</u>	
NETWOR	NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS										
Ethorn	ot/ID	Class	Instance	Attribu	te	Data Type				0.00057 0.00050	
Etherne	evir	0x68	1	0x03		DINT			<u> </u>	0x0057 - 0x0058	

Enabling the encoder (EE=1) or modifying the data in Motor Counter C1 or Encoder Counter C2 on LMD models with a multi-turn absolute encoder during operation will desynchronize the relationship between the counters and the Absolute encoder counter, causing a discrepancy between reported and actual shaft position.

NOTICE								
DAMAGE TO COMPONENTS								
• Do not modify, manually or by program, counters C1 or C2 while device is in motion.								
• Do nor move outside the range of the counter, either by setting it manually or by rolling over the counter								
on LMD models with an absolute encoder.								
Failure to follow these instructions can result in equipment damage.								

Mnemonic	;	Function		Function Gro	up	Access	Usage		
PC	Positio	on Capture at Tri	p	Instruction		RW	Program/Immediate		
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes	Notes: —					
DESCRIPTION									
Captures motor or encoder position during a trip event. Activation will occur upon any trip function EXCEPT a position trip (TP or TR). Will display in either motor steps (EE =0) or encoder counts (EE =1)									
Range: —			Units: -			Default: —			
Syntax: PR	PC								
CODE EXAMP	LES				RELATED				
PR PC Retu	irn the captured	position count			TA (Trip on hMT Status) TE (Trip Enable)				
0 th	e captured posit	ion count is zero			<u>TC (Trip Cap</u>	<u>oture)</u>	TI (Trip on Input)		
					TM (Trip on Main Power Loss) TT (Trip on Time)				
Network Protocol Equivalents:									
Ethowsof/ID	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Typ	e	Madhua/TOD			
Ethernet/IP	0x68	1	0x04	DINT	DINT		0x0059 - 0x005A		

Mnemonic		Function			Functi	on Group	Access	Usa	ge	
PF	Set Print Fo	ormat for Floating	g Point F	Registers	Systen	n Variable	RW	Program/In	nmediate	
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	N	otes: Firmwa	re 6.001+	-	-			
DESCRIPTION										
Sets the format for displaying the contents of the floating point registers F1 through F8.										
This command	Param	Descripti	on		Values		Default			
values for settir	ng the width, digi	its following the	1	width	0 to	o 16 (include	s ±sign and decim	nal	10	
NOTE : This setting will not truncate the float- ing point register values for numbers that extend beyond the PF setting.			2	decimal	The	e number of	digits to the right of	of the decimal	6	
			3	notation	0 (n	normal notati	on), 1 (scientific r	otation)	0	
			4	justification	0 (ri	ight), 1 (left)			0	
Range: Se	e parameter tabl	е	Units:	_		D	efault: 10,6	6,0,0		
Syntax: PF	= <width>,<dec></dec></width>	,<0/1>,<0/1>, PF	R PF							
CODE EXAMP	LES							RELATED		
PR PF 10,6,0,0 PR F1 0.000000	Return the default Read the formatt	e print format set PF setting value of F1 ed register conte	tting ents					F<1-8>(Floating F PR (Print)	<u>Point Register)</u>	
PF=8,4,1,1 Set print format to format PR F1 Read the value of F1 0.0000E+00 Value returned showing new PF - 4 digits after the decimal and scientific notation.										
NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS										
Ethormot/ID	Class	Instance	Attri	bute D	ata Type					
Etnernet/IP			_	-	Mo		oabus/ICP	-		

Mnemonic	;	Function	Fu	Inction Group	Acces	s	Usage			
PG	Enter/Le	ave Program Mo	ode Pro	gram Instruction	CME)	Program/Immediate			
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: -	_						
DESCRIPTION	l									
Toggles the device into or out of program mode.										
Range: —			_							
Syntax: PG <address></address>										
CODE EXAMP	LES					REL	RELATED			
PG 1 [MAIN PROG] [SUBROUTINE:	Enter pro	gram mode at ac	ldress 1			<u>CP ((</u> <u>FD (</u> F	<u>>P (Clear Program Memory)</u> <u>D (Factory Defaults)</u>			
PG E	PG Exit program mode E Designated end of program									
NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS										
Ethermet/ID	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type	Madhua/7					
Ethernet/IP					iviodbus/ i	Modbus/TCP —				

Mnemonic		Function		nction Group		Access	Usage			
PK		Reserved		Reserved		_	_			
Compatibility:			Notes: -	lotes: —						
DESCRIPTION										
Reserved for factory use. Attempting to use as a user variable or label will result in an Error 24: Illegal data entered.										
Range: —			Units: —	— Default: —						
Syntax: —										
CODE EXAMP	ES —			RELATED —						
NETWORK PR	OTOCOL EQUI	VALENTS		•						
Ethernet/ID	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type						
Ethernet/IP	_					Modbus/ICP —				

Mnemonic		Function		Fu	unction Gr	oup	Access	Usage		
РМ	Positior	n Maintenance e	nable/disa	ble	Encoder Fla	ag	ag RW Program/Immediate			
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Not	tes: Encod	er required					
DESCRIPTION										
Enables the position maintenance functions of an LMD MCode compatible device with encoder. The position maintenance ve- locity will be at the setting for VI (Initial Velocity). If moved beyond the value of DB (DeadBand), unit will correct.										
Encoder functions must be enabled (EE=1) for position							De	scription		
maintenance.	maintenance.						on maintenance disa	abled (default)		
							Position maintenance enabled			
The method for position maintenance will depend on the setting of the SM (Stall Detect Mode) variable:										
NOTES:				PM=	SM=		Position Maintenance			
 Do not confus MU (Position 	e Position mai Makeup) funct	intenance with th tion. While simila	ne hMT ur. the		0	Positi the se	Position maintenance occurs provided position is within the setting of SF (Stall Factor)			
method for co different.	rrecting and m	naintaining positi	on are	1	1	Position maintenance occurs regardless of SF (Stall Factor) setting				
 Encoder funct 	ions (EE =1) m	nust be enable fo	or PM to tal	ke effect.						
Range: 0/1			Units:	_			Default: 0			
Syntax: PM=	<0/1>									
CODE EXAMPLI	S					REL	ATED			
PM=1 E	nable position	n maintenance				<u>C2 (E</u>	ncoder Counter)	DB (Encoder Deadband)		
PR PM F	Return the stat	us of position ma	aintenance	;		<u>EE (E</u>	ncoder Enable)	SM (Stall Detect Mode)		
1	position main	tenance is enab	led			<u>SF (S</u>	tall Factor)			
NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS										
Ethorpot/ID	Class	Instance	Attribu	ite I	Data Type			00050		
⊂thernet/IP	0x69	1	0x06	6	BOOL	Modbus/TCP		UXUUOU		
	0x69	1	0x06	6	BOOL	Modbus/TCP				

Mnemonio	;	Function	Fu	Function Group Access Usage					
PN	Rea	ad Part Number	Ident	ification Variable	RO		Program/Immediate		
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: —	-					
DESCRIPTION	l								
Read only regis	ster holds the fac	ctory defined part	t number.						
Range: —			Units: —		Default:	_			
Syntax: PR	PN								
CODE EXAMP	LES					REL	ATED		
PR PN	Return the	e stored part nun	nber			<u>SN (</u>	Serial Number)		
LMDCM571	LMD M	lotion Control NE	MA 23 (57 mm)			<u>VR (</u> \	/ersion)		
NETWORK PR	NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS								
Ethermore till D	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type	NA - alla - a /7				
Etnernet/IP	0x65	1	0x05	STRING	wodbus/ I	CP	_		

Mnemonic		Function	Fu	Inction (Group	Access		Usage			
PR	Print	Text and/or Data	Sys	stem Inst	ruction	WO	Pr	ogram/Immediate			
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes:			•					
DESCRIPTION Displays text and	parameter va	lue(s) to the com	munications ho	st.							
 Text strings are 	e enclosed in	quotation marks	while paramete	rs (varia	bles and flags) are not.					
 Text strings an 	 Text strings and parameters output by the same PR instruction should be separated by commas. 										
 The information tion to indicate 	 The information being output is followed by a carriage return unless a semicolon (;) is included at the end of the PR instruc- tion to indicate that the cursor should remain on the same line. 										
The receive buffer for the LMD MCode device is 64 characters. This includes the PR instruction itself, any spaces, text characters, etc. If the buffer length is exceeded a CR/LF occurs and results in an <i>Error 20: Tried to set unknown variable or flag</i> .											
ASCII Control Co	<u>les</u>			Param		Descript	tion				
ASCII control cod	es may be us	ed to enhance the	e performance	;	Semicolon char	acter suppresses the	CR/LF a	at the end of a line.			
of the PR instruction	on. The ASCI	I code must be e	nclosed within	\b	Backspace						
quotes. For exam				\c	CTRL +C (softw	vare reset)					
PR P, " motor ste	ps\r			\e	ESC						
a carriage return.	ate a string re	equesting the axis	position with	\g	Bell/beep						
This table shows	he most com	monly used esca	ne codes.	\n	Line feed						
though most ASC	II escape coo	les used with terr	ninal emula-	\r	Carriage return						
tors may be used.				\t	Tab						
			11.16			D.C.K					
Range: —						Default: —					
Syntax: PR <	/ar/flg/keywor	'd>, PR " <text> ",</text>	<var flg="" keywo<="" td=""><td>rd></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></var>	rd>							
CODE EXAMPLE	S							RELATED			
PR P Read the value of the position counter 12345 Position is 12345							PF (Print Format)				
PR "Position Position	= ",P = 12345	Read the value Position = 12	of the position 345	counter v	vith descriptiv	e text					
NETWORK PRO	OCOL EQUI	VALENTS									
Ethernet/IP	Class	Instance	Attribute	Attribute Data Type Modbus/TCP —							
			—	-	-						

Mnemonic		Function	Fu	nction Group		Access	Usage				
PS	Pause	executing prograi	m Prog	Program Instruction			Program/Immediate				
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes:	_							
DESCRIPTION											
Pauses an executing program with normal deceleration ramp. Immediate mode instruction may be issued and will be executed while a program is paused.											
The RS (Resume Paused Program) is used to resume the paused program.											
Range: —			Units: —			Default: —					
Syntax: PS											
CODE EXAMPL	.ES			RELATED		<u>E (End Program)</u>	EX (Execute Program)				
₽S Paus	e executing pro	gram		PG (Program Mode)	RS (Resume Pause	ed Program)				
NETWORK PRO	DTOCOL EQUI	VALENTS									
Ethornot/ID	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type		Madhua/TCD	Refer to the Modbus/TCP User				
Eulernet/IP	_			—			tion Codes				

Mnemonic		Function	Fu	nction Group		Access	Usage				
PW	PW	M Mask Setting	Confi	iguration Variable RW			Program/Immediate				
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: LN	tes: LMD Motion Module only							
DESCRIPTION											
The PW variable is used on the LMD Motion Module product only. It is not a reserved word on the LMD products and may be used as a user variable or label.											
This variable is function to the L Application Note	This variable is used to set the PWM current control settings of the LMD Motion Module (LMM) only. It does not apply in any unction to the LMD and may be used as a label or user variable or flag for an LMD product. See "Software, Programming, and Application Notes" on page 131 of this document for parameter settings and usage.										
The PW variable IMS are located able from the Vi	e is defaulted to in the Software ew Menu when	IMS NEMA 17 (e, Programming, the LMMxM driv	42 mm) motors. and Application e type is selecte	Recommended s Notes section of d in the terminal	settings this doc settings	for additional cument. A setti s.	motor sizes offered by ngs dialog is also avail-				
Range: See	Chapter 3 on p	bage 131	Units:	See Chapter 3	on page	e 131 Defa	ault: —				
Syntax: PW	= <mask>,<peri< td=""><td>od>,<sfreq>,<ctr< td=""><td>I> PR PW</td><td></td><td></td><th></th><td></td></ctr<></sfreq></td></peri<></mask>	od>, <sfreq>,<ctr< td=""><td>I> PR PW</td><td></td><td></td><th></th><td></td></ctr<></sfreq>	I> PR PW								
CODE EXAMPL	CODE EXAMPLES See Chapter 3 on page 131. RELATED —										
NETWORK PR	NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS										
Ethornot/IP	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type	Madhua/TCD						
Eulerneu/IP	—	_		—			_				

Mnemonic		Function	Fi	Inction Group	Acce	ss	Usage		
PY	Party M	ode Enable/disal	ole Comm	unications Variabl	e RW		Program/Immediate		
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: S	ee LMM Note belo	I	l	0		
DESCRIPTION									
The party flag mu	st be set to 1	if the device is be	eing used in a n	nultidrop commun	cation system.				
 When Party M specified by the specified by t	ode is enable e DN instruct	d, each device ir ion. By default th	i the system mu e DN assigned	st be addressed b at the factory is th	by the host con le exclamation	nputer ι charac	using the device name ter (!)		
 The device na (CTRL + J). 	 The device name will precede any command given to a specified unit in the system and be terminated with a Control J (CTRL + J). 								
- One CTRL + J	must be issu	ed after power u	p or entering the	e Party Mode to a	ctivate the Part	y Mode) .		
 The asterisk c by every MCo 	haracter (*) is de compatible	the drive name f device in the sy	or global comm stem that has [ands. Commands I G = 0.	preceded by t	his cha	racter will be recognized		
After the Party Mo as the terminator.	ode is enabled	l, send CTRL + J	(^J) to activate	e it. Type a comma	and with Device	e Name	e (DN) and use CTRL + J		
To configure the N	IDrive in Part	y Mode, perform	the following st	eps:					
1. Connect in si	igle mode RS	-422 and initiate	communication	, download any pr	ograms if requ	ired.			
2. Assign a devi	ce name (DN:	=" <a-z, 0-9<="" a-z="" or="" td=""><td>9>") i.e DN="A"</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></a-z,>	9>") i.e DN="A"						
3. Set the party	flag to 1 (PY=	1).							
4. Press CTRL+	J to activate p	arty mode.							
5. Type in [Devi	e Name]S an	d press CTRL+J	(Saves the DN	and Party Configu	uration) i.e. AS	CTRL+	-J.		
6. Remove pow	er and label th	e drive with the a	assigned DN.						
7. If the party sy	stem uses 2 v	vire RS-485, set	Echo Mode to 2	or the drive will e	cho its own tra	nsmiss	ions.		
8. Repeat for ea	ch system MI	Drive.							
Refer to the devic	e's associated	d hardware manu	al for additiona	l information.					
NOTE: A delay tir	ne between th	e command requ	lests to the dev	ice must be consi	dered to allow	Valu	ue Description		
the device time to	interpret a co	mmand and ans	wer the host be	fore a subsequent	command	0	Disabled (default)		
response from the	Device.				oncoponding	1	Party Mode enabled		
For LMM: The LMD Motion will automatically	Nodule featur enable Party	es hardware inpu Mode.	uts for device na	ame (address). Wi	nenever any of	these i	nputs is active, the LMM		
Range: 0/1			Units: —		Default:	0			
Syntax: PY=<	0/1>, PR PY								
CODE EXAMPLE	S					REL	ATED		
PY=1[Enter][CTRL+J] Enable party mode DG (Disable Global)							isable Global)		
!MR 512000[CT !PR P[CTRL+J] 512000	!MR 512000[CTRL+J] Device ! (default) move relative 10 revolutions !PR P[CTRL+J] Return the position of device ! 512000 Position is 512000 steps								
NETWORK PRO	TOCOL EQUI	VALENTS							
Ethornot/ID	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type	Madhua/TOD				
Luieillevir		_		—	moubus/				

Mnemonic		Function	Fui	nction Group	Access	Usage					
QD	D	evice Queued	Comr	nunications Flag	RW	Program/Immediate					
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: —								
DESCRIPTION											
Function is to que enabled (PY= 1).	Function is to queue drives on party lines. QD may be set outside of party mode, but will only take effect if PY (Party Mode) is enabled (PY= 1).										
If a drive or drive ignore the comm	a drive or drives are Queued, then, when they see the address "^", they will respond to it. All other, non-queued drives will prore the command.										
Range: 0/1		Uni	its: —		Default: 0						
Syntax: <dn< td=""><td>>QD=<0/1>, <</td><td>in>PR QD</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></dn<>	>QD=<0/1>, <	in>PR QD									
CODE EXAMPL	ES					RELATED					
!QD=1[CTRL+J	I Set devic	e ! as queued				DN (Device Name)					
^MA 0[CTRL+J	Move all	queued devices to ab	solute positi	on 0		PY (Party Mode)					
NETWORK PRO	TOCOL EQU	VALENTS									
	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type							
Etnernet/IP	_										

Mnemonic		Function	Fu	Function Group				Usage
R1-R4	User	Integer Register	Math	ematics Variable	;	RW		Program/Immediate
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: -					
DESCRIPTION								
Four 32 bit user be used to store branches and c	registers to cor and retrieve da all subroutine.	ntain numerical d ata to set variable	ata. These regis es, perform math	sters may contair n functions, store	n up to e and r	11 digits inc etrieve move	ludi es a	ng the sign and may nd set conditions for
These registers contain integer values only, to perform floating point calculations, use F<1-8> (Floating Point Registers).								
Range: -21	47483647 to 21	47483647	Units: —			Default:	0	
Syntax: R<	1-4>= <integer>,</integer>	R1= <var>, R<1-</var>	-4>=R<1-4> <ma< td=""><td>ATH><r<1-4>, P</r<1-4></td><td>R R1</td><td></td><td></td><td></td></ma<>	ATH> <r<1-4>, P</r<1-4>	R R1			
CODE EXAMP	LES				REL	ATED		
R1=12345	Set R1 to	12345			F<1-8> (User Floating Point Registers)			
PR R1 12345	Read the R1=123	value of R1 345						
R1=R2+R3	Set R1 to	the sum of R2+F	₹3					
CL Q2, R1<2	5 Call subro	outine Q2 if R1 is	less than 25					
NETWORK PR	OTOCOL EQUI	VALENTS						
	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type				
Ethernet/IP	0x65	1	R1: 0x06 R2: 0x07 R3: 0x08 R4: 0x09	DINT		Modbus/TC	Р	R1: 0x005F - 0x0060 R2: 0x0061 - 0x0062 R3: 0x0063 - 0x0064 R4: 0x0065 - 0x0066

Mnemonio	;	Function	Fu Fu	nction Group		Access	Usage			
RA	A Set Radians or degrees Configuration Variable RW					RW	Program/Immediate			
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: Fi	rmware 6.001+						
DESCRIPTION										
Selects the Ra	Description									
a keyword with	Degrees									
	Radians (default - faster)									
Range: 0/1			Units: —		D	efault: 1				
Syntax: RA	=<0/1> PR RA									
CODE EXAMP	LES						RELATED			
RA=0	Calculate trigor	nometric function	s in degrees				F1-F8 (Floating Point)			
PR RA	Read the units	for trig functions								
0										
NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS										
Ethornot/ID	Class Instance Attribute Data Type									
Ethernet/IP		_				oabus/ICP	_			

Mnemonic		Function	Fu	nction Group		Access	Usage			
RC	Motor	Running Curren	t M	otion variable		RW	Program/Immediate			
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: —	-						
DESCRIPTION										
Defines the mot is impacted by t ditive, with the s	or run current a vo other comm um being the to	s a percentage v ands: HT (Hold (otal time to transi	value from 1 to 1 Current Delay) a tion from the RC	00%. The transiti nd MT (Motor Se c (Run Current) le	tion fron ettling D evel to t	n RC (Run Cui Delay Time). Th the specified s	rrent) to HC (Hold Current) lese two variables are ad- tandstill current.			
NOTES: For LMD productor.	NOTES : For LMD products the current is only given in a percentage range as the driver is already sized and tuned to the integrated mo- or.									
The LMD Motion RC=75 results in	Module is a 1. a run current	5A RMS standal evel of 1.12 A - 1	one integrated d I.5A * 0.75 = 1.1	lriver/controller. T 2A.	The actu	ual drive outpu	t current is derived thus:			
Range: 1 to 7	00		Units: Perc	cent (%)	[Default: 25%)			
Syntax: RC=-	percent>, PR I	RC								
CODE EXAMPL	ES			RELATED						
RC=75 Set F	C (Run Curren	t) to 75%		MT (Motor Settling I	<u>Delay Tim</u>	ne <u>RC (</u> I	Run Current)			
PR RC Read the value of the holding current HT (Hold Current Delay time)										
NETWORK PR	JETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS									
Ethornot/ID	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type			0x0067			
EllerneviP	0x66	1	0x0D	USINT	IV					

	Inomonic Europian Europian Acco										
Mnem	onic		Function		Functio	on Group		Access		Usage	
RI	D	Rev	verse Direction		Motion	Variable		RW	P	Program/Immediate	
Compatib	ility: 🔳 LMD	(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Not	tes: —						
DESCRIPT	ΓΙΟΝ										
This variable, when TRUE will reverse the default +/- motor direction reference. An RD								Description			
command issued when the axis is in motion will result in an <i>Error 95</i> .						Not allowed to		0	Default -	+/- direction (default)	
change Rotation Direction (RD) while in motion.							Direction	n reversed			
Range:	0/1			Units:	_		Det	fault:	0)	
Syntax:	RD=<0/1>	, PR RD									
CODE EX	AMPLES								REL	LATED —	
RD=1	Reverse a	axis directio	on reference								
PR RD	Read the	value of RI)						1		
1	RD is tr	rue, the +/-	direction is rever	rsed							
NETWOR	K PROTO		VALENTS								
Class Instance					ute C	Data Type			Refe	r to the Modbus/TCP User	
Etherne		0x66	1	0x13	3	BOOL	Moc	ibus/ICP	tion (ual for Mfg Specific Func- Codes	

Use of the RD command in LMD Motion product or Ethernet (Closed Loop models) with firmware versions 5.007 or earlier may, under certain conditions, result in unintended motion.

ACAUTION

	MOTION
UNINIENDED	MOTION

٠

Upgrade the device firmware to 5.009 or greater.

Failure to follow these instructions can result in injury or equipment damage.

Mnemonic		Function		Function Group	Acces	ss	Usage		
RP	Refe	erenced Position		Motion Variable	RO		Program/Immediate		
Compatibility:	.MD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Note	es: —					
DESCRIPTION									
This status variab		Description							
					0	Devid	ce has not been homed.		
					Devid	ce has been homed			
Range: 0/1			Units:	—	Default:	0	0		
Syntax: PR R	, CL Q1, RP	=0							
CODE EXAMPLE	S					REL	RELATED		
PR RP	Read the	homing status				<u>HF (</u>	Home to Offset)		
1	The axi	s has been home	d			<u>НІ (Н</u>	ome to Index Mark)		
CL Q1, RP=0 Call homing subroutine if axis has not been homed.						<u>HM (</u>	Home to Home Switch)		
NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS									
	Class	Instance	Attribut	te Data Type	e la la constante de				
Ethernet/IP	0x68	1	0x09	DINT	Modbus/TCP —				

Mnemonic	;	Function				b	Access	Usage		
RS	Resur	ne Program Exe	Pi	rogram Instructio	on	CMD	Immediate			
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	N	otes: —						
DESCRIPTION										
Resumes an pr	ogram that has	been paused usi	ng the P	S (Paus	e Program Exec	ution)	command.			
If the pause was issued during a move, the move will restart with the configured acceleration profile.										
Range: —		Units: —					Default: —			
Syntax: RS										
CODE EXAMP	LES				RELATED					
RS Resi	ume paused pro	gram			<u>E (End Program)</u>	EX (Execute Program)				
		-			PG (Program Mode	<u>e)</u>	<u>PS (</u> I	Pause Program Execution)		
NETWORK PR	OTOCOL EQUI	VALENTS								
Ethomot//D	Class	Instance	Attril	bute	Data Type		Medhue/TOD	Refer to the Modbus/TCP User		
Etnernet/IP	_	_		-	—		woabus/TCP	tion Codes		

Mnemonic		Function	Fu	nction Group		Access	Usage			
RT	Returr	From Subroutin	ie Prog	gram Instruction		CMD	Program			
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes:	Notes: —						
DESCRIPTION	DESCRIPTION									
Defines the end of a subroutine. This instruction is required and will be the final instruction in the subroutine executed by the CL or OE instruction or by a trip subroutine. When used, it will return to the program address immediately following the instruction which executed the subroutine.										
Range: —			Units: —			Default: —				
Syntax: RT										
CODE EXAMP	LES			RELATED						
RT	Return from Su	Ibroutine		CL (Call Subroutine	<u>e)</u>	<u>OE (0</u>	<u>On Error Handler)</u>			
NETWORK PR	OTOCOL EQUI	VALENTS		•						
Ethormot/ID	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type						
Emernet/IP	—	_			woabus/ICP —		—			

Mnemonic		Function		Function Group	Aco	cess	Usage			
S	Save Pr	ograms and Para	ameters	System Instruction W			Program/Immediate			
Compatibility:										
DESCRIPTION										
Saves all variables and flags currently in working memory (RAM) to nonvolatile memory (NVM). The previous values in NVM are completely overwritten with the new values.										
When the user mo ecuted before pov	When the user modifies variables and flags, they are changed in working memory (RAM) only. If the S instruction is not ex- ecuted before power is removed from the control module, all modifications to variables & flags since the last S will be lost.									
NOTE : Sending or requesting data during a save could corrupt communications. Use of the S command during a move (MA or MR) may generate an <i>Error 73: Tried to SAVE/RTFD/PG while Moving</i> , and the save may not occur.										
TIP : Programs ma comment line to g	TIP : Programs may be automatically saved on load by adding an S after the final PG . The line following the S should have a comment line to guarantee the <cr lf=""> after the save.</cr>									
Range: —			Units:	—	Defaul	lt: —				
Syntax: S										
CODE EXAMPLE	s						RELATED —			
S	Sav	e all variable data	a, flag state	es and programs to N	M					
E PG Final lines of a program to save on program download 'keep this line										
NETWORK PROT										
Ethernot/IP	Class	Instance	Attribut	e Data Type	Modbu	e/TCP	0x0076			
Fulement	_	—				SITUE	0,0070			

Mnemonic		Function	Fu	nction Group	Acces	s		Usage	
SA	Set/F	Read Step Angle	M	otion Variable	RW	Program/Immediate			
Compatibility:									
DESCRIPTION									
Step angle is a flo	oating point va	riable to configu	re the step angle	e of the motor for t	the LMD Motion	Mod	ule only.		
The setting is rep		Angle	Steps/rev						
Example:							0.45	800	
MS = 256							0.72	500	
Motorcounts = 2	56 * (360 / 0.9	9) = 102400					0.9	400	
Common step an	gles for Hybrid	stepper motors	are shown in the	e table below.			1.8	200	
								192	
							2	180	
							2.5	144	
							3.6	100	
							5	72	
Pango: See	Table above		Unite: Deg	rees	Dofault	1.8			
Suntaxi CA-		٨	onna. Deg		Delduit.	1.0			
Syntax: SA=		A				DEL	4750		
	-5					RELATED			
SA=0.9 Set step angle for 0.9 degree motor.								<u>solution)</u> Settings)	
PR SA Display the step angle setting 0.900000 The step angle is 0.9 degrees.									
NETWORK PRO	NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS								
Ethorpot/IP	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type	Modbus/T				
EtherneviP	—	_		—	MOUDUS/1	woabus/TCP			

Mnemonic		Function	Fu	nction Group	Access	Usage					
SC	System	Configuration Te	est Sys	stem Instruction	Program/Immediate						
Compatibility:	Compatibility: LMD(0) LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM Notes: LMD Closed loop only.										
DESCRIPTION											
Tests the encoder direction and resolution by moving the motor shaft 1/2 revolution (180 degrees).											
Ensure the shaft	Ensure the shaft is disconnected from load and free to move unhindered prior to running this test.										
A misconfigured	A misconfigured encoder will return one of the following errors:										
Error 100: Config Test Done - Encoder Res Mismatch Error 101: Config Test Done - Encoder Dir Wrong Error 102: Config Test Done - Encoder Res + Dir Wrong Error 103: Config NOT Done - Drive not enabled.											
Range: —			Units: —		Default: —						
Syntax: SC 1			^								
CODE EXAMPL	S					RELATED —					
sc 1 Start of	sc 1 Start configuration test										
NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS											
Ethernot/ID	Class Instance Attribute Data Type										
EmerneulP	0x6A	1	0x0D	USINT	woodbus/TCP	UXUUAT					

Mnemonio		Function	Fu	nction Group		Access	Usage		
SF	Set/F	Read Stall Factor	En	Encoder Variable RW Prog					
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A) LMM	Notes: LMD Clos LMM with	sed loop encoder					
DESCRIPTION									
If the encoder is enabled (EE = 1) and encoder position differs from the commanded position by more than the specified factor, a motor stall error is asserted. If SM (Stall Detect Mode) is set to 0, then the motor will be stopped when a stall is detected. If SM =1, the motor will not be stopped upon detection of a stall. Motion will attempt to continue. If the attempted velocity is above the speed at which the drive can re-sync, the motion will be unsuccessful and the position of the device will be inaccurate. An ST will return an <i>Error 86: Stall Detected</i> on stall.									
Range: 0 to	65000		Units: Enc	oder counts		Default: 15			
Syntax: SF	= <counts>, PR \$</counts>	SF							
CODE EXAMP	LES			RELATED					
SF=20	Set the stall Fa	ctor to 20 encod	er counts	EE (Encoder Enable	<u>e)</u>	PM	(Position Maintenance)		
PR SF 20	PR SF Read the value of the Stall Factor SM (Stall Detect Mode) ST (Stall Flag) 20 The stall factor is 20 counts SM (Stall Detect Mode) ST (Stall Flag)								
NETWORK PR	OTOCOL EQUI	VALENTS							
	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type		Medhue/TOD	0.0077		
Ethernet/IP	0x69	1	0x07	UINT			UXUU77		

Mnemo	onic		Function		Functio	n Group		Acces	s	Usage	
SL	_	Slew	Axis at Velocity		Motion I	nstruction WO		WO		Program/Immediate	
Compatibility: LMD(O) LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM Notes:											
DESCRIPTION											
Slews the a tion) variab	Slews the axis at the commanded velocity in steps per second. The axis will accelerate at the rate specified by the A (Acceleration) variable.										
NOTE: The a MA/MR, r an 'H', <hc< td=""><td colspan="9">NOTE: The maximum slew velocity is independent of the maximum velocity specified by the VM variable. If 'SL 0' is issued after a MA/MR, motion has to come to a stop before issuing another motion command. This can be accomplished automatically with an 'H', <HOLD>, in user program mode.</td></hc<>	NOTE : The maximum slew velocity is independent of the maximum velocity specified by the VM variable. If ' SL 0' is issued after a MA/MR , motion has to come to a stop before issuing another motion command. This can be accomplished automatically with an ' H ', < HOLD >, in user program mode.										
Bangai	(EE=0)	±2560000		Unitor	(EE=0)	Microstep	Microsteps			Defaults	
Range: ((EE=1)	±200000		Units:	(EE=1)	Encoder C	Counts		Default: —		
Syntax:	SL <veloc< td=""><td>ity.</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></veloc<>	ity.									
CODE EXA	MPLES								REL	ATED	
SL 20000	Slew	/ axis at 20	000 steps /sec						<u>MA (N</u>	<u>love Absolute)</u>	
PR V Return the axis velocity MR (Move Relative) 20000 the axis is moving at 20000 steps/sec. VI (Initial Velocity)							<u>/love Relative)</u> itial Velocity)				
NETWORK	(PROTO		ALENTS								
Ethernet		Class	Instance	Attri	ibute D	ata Type	Mo	Modbus/TCP		0x0078 - 0x0079	
Luieniet		0x66	1	0x	:0E	DINT				0.0010-0.0019	

Mnemonic	;		Function	F	unction Group		Acces	S	ι	Jsage	
SM	S	et/Rea	d Stall Detect M	ode Er	ncoder Variable		RW		Program	n/Immediate	
					Notes: LMD Closed loop LMM with encoder						
DESCRIPTION											
Specifies the action which will be taken by the device when a stall is detected. When set to 0 (default) the motion will be stopped upon a stall detection. When SM =1, the motor will try to continue the move. If the attempted velocity is above the speed at which the drive can re-sync, the motion will be unsuccessful. In either case ST (Stall Flag) will be set.											
The functionalit	y of SM w	hen us	sed with Positior	n Maintenance (PM) is listed belo	w:	1				
			Param	D	escription						
			0	Motion stops on s	on stops on stall detect (default)						
1 Motic					on will attempt to continue						
The method for position maintenance will depend on the setting of the SM (Stall Detect Mode) variable:											
	PM=	SI	/=		Position mainten	ance					
		0	Position ma	intenance occurs pro	nce occurs provided position is within the setting of SF (Stall Factor)						
	1	1	Position ma	intenance occurs reg	ance occurs regardless of SF (Stall Factor) setting						
			l								
Range: 00/	'1			Units: —			Default:	0			
Syntax: SM	I=<0/1>, F	PR SM									
CODE EXAMP	LES				RELATED						
SM=1	Set stall	detecti	on mode to mod	le 1	EE (Encoder Enabl	<u>le)</u>		<u>PM (</u> F	Position Mainte	<u>enance)</u>	
PR SM Return the stall mode setting SM (Stall Detect Mode) ST 1 Stall detection is in mode 1						<u>ST (S</u>	<u>Stall Flag)</u>				
NETWORK PR	OTOCOL	EQUI	VALENTS								
Ethermod (#D	Clas	s	Instance	Attribute	Data Type		Ma allows (T		0.0074		
Etnernet/IP	0x6	9	1	0x08	BOOL		Modbus/TCP		0x007A		

Mnemonic		Function	Fu	Function Group Access		Usage				
SN	Rea	d Serial Number		Keyword		RO	Program/Immediate			
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: -	otes: —						
DESCRIPTION										
Allows user to read the device serial number using the PR (Print) statement.										
Range: —	Range: — Units: —					Default: —				
Syntax: PR S	N									
CODE EXAMPL	ES			RELATED						
PR SN Retur	n the serial nur	nber		PN (Part Number) VR (Version)						
NETWORK PRO	DTOCOL EQUI	VALENTS								
Ethornot/ID	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type						
Eulernet/IP	0x65	1	0x0A	STRING	Modbus/ICP		—			
Mnemonic		Function	Fu	nction Group	Acces	s	Usage			
--	--	--------------------------	--------------------------------	---------------------	------------------	--------------	--------------------	--	--	
ST		Stall Flag	E	Encoder Flag	RW		Program/Immediate			
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A) LMM	Notes: LMD Clos LMM with	sed loop encoder	1					
DESCRIPTION										
The stall flag is set active (1) when the motor stalls. An Error 86: Stall Detected will also be asserted.										
NOTES:					Param		Description			
 The Stall Flag must be manually reset to 0 (ST=0). 						Axis i	s not stalled			
- Clearing the	error state will	1	Axis is stalled							
– The product	 The product will respond to motion commands while the ST flag is active. 									
– A subroutine (EE=1).	triggered by the	e OE (On Error) i	instruction conta	aining Encoder fu	nctions must hav	ve the	encoder enabled			
Range: 0/1			Units: —		Default:					
Syntax: ST	=<0/1>, PR ST									
CODE EXAMP	ES			RELATED						
ST=0	Clear the state	of the stall flag		EE (Encoder Enable	<u>e)</u>	<u>OE (0</u>	<u>Dn Error)</u>			
PR ST	Read the value	of the stall flag		SF (Stall Factor)		<u>SM (S</u>	<u>Stall Mode)</u>			
0	no stall cond	ition exists		ļ						
NETWORK PR	OTOCOL EQUI	VALENTS								
Ethernet/IP	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type	Modbus/T	CP	0x007P			
Luiemeur	0x69	1	0x09	BOOL						

Mnemonic		Function	Fu	nction Group	Access	Usage				
SU	Exe	cute on Startup	F	actory Label	CMD	Program/Immediate				
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes:	-						
DESCRIPTION										
A program with an CTRL+C is receive	A program with an LB SU label will automatically execute from the location of the label in the program on power-up or if CTRL+C is received.									
Range: —			Units: —	nits: — Default: —						
Syntax: LB SU										
CODE EXAMPLE	S			RELATED —						
LB SU Label	program to ex	ecute on startup								
NETWORK PRO	TOCOL EQUI	VALENTS		°						
Ethernet/ID	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type						
Ethernet/IP	_	—		—						

Programs labeled with the SU label will execute on system power application or software reset. Depending on the program structure this could result in immediate motion on power application or system restart.

UNINTENDED CONSEQUENCES OF EQUIPMENT OPERATION
Only use the SU label in instances or applications where operation does not represent a
hazard to personnel or equipment.
Failure to follow these instructions will result in death or serious injury.

Mnemonic		Function	Fu	nction Group		Access	Usage	
ТА	Trip	on hMT Status		Trip Variable		RW	Program/Immediate	
Compatibility:	LMD(O)	C) LMD(A) LMM	Notes: -	_			•	
DESCRIPTION								
Executes a subro	outine address	or label on the tr	rip.			Param	Description	
The trip can be set to occur on one or any combination of the following conditions: calibra-0							Off	
tion done, hMT a	Calibration done							
NOTE: The cond	hMTechnology active							
nybrid active stat	Locked rotor							
						8	Lag limit reached	
						16	Lead limit reached	
			1					
Range: 0 - 3	1		Units: —		Det	ault: 0		
Syntax: TA=-	<a>label/address	>,<0-31>						
CODE EXAMPL	ES						RELATED	
TA=4,k6 e	execute subrou	itine k6 when the	ere is a locked ro	otor condition			TE (Trip Enable)	
TA=12,b3	execute subrou	itine b3 when lag	limited has bee	en reached and th	nere is a lo	ocked rotor		
NETWORK PRO	TOCOL EQUI	VALENTS						
Ethermet//D	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type	Maa			
					IVIOC	ibus/ICP	_	

Mnemonic		Function	Fu	nction Group		Access	Usage		
ТС	-	Trip Capture	-	Trip Variable		RW	Program/Immediate		
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: -	Notes: —					
DESCRIPTION									
Sets the capture input event (trip) for input 1. When input 1 goes active, the subroutine programmed in the TC variable will execute.									
NOTE : The TE (Trip Enable/Disable TC) command is reset when trip occurs. TE must be re-enabled in the main program prior to the next trip if it is to be repeated.									
The Trip subrout	ine must use a	RETURN (RT) t	o exit the subrou	utine. Use of a BR	RANCH	H will cause sta	ck errors.		
Range: —			Units: —			Default: —			
Syntax: TC=	<label address<="" td=""><td>;></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></label>	;>							
CODE EXAMPL	ES			RELATED		<u>IS (In</u>	put Setup)		
TC=K1		TE (Trip Enable)	PC (Position Capture)						
NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS									
Ethernot/ID	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type	Ν				
EulerneulP	0x68	1	0x06	STRING	woabus/ICP				

Mnemonic	;	Function	Fu	Inction Gro	up	Access	Usage	
TD	Read/S	et Torque Directio	n ł	hMT Variable		RW	Program/Immediate	
Compatibility:		C) LMD(A) LMM	Notes: -	-				
DESCRIPTION								
Sets torque dire	ection to + or –				Param		Description	
					0	Minus (CCW facing	ı shaft)	
1 Plus (CW facing s							naft) (default)	
Range: 0/1	ge: 0/1 Units: — Default: 1					Default: 1		
Syntax: TD	=<0/1>, PR TD							
CODE EXAMP	LES						RELATED	
TD=0	Switch torque of	lirection to minus					AS (hMT Mode)	
חיד אין	Display the tor	ue direction					<u>TQ (Torque)</u>	
1	Torque direc	tion is plus					TS (Torque Speed)	
NETWORK PR	OTOCOL EQUI	VALENTS						
Ethowsof/ID	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Typ	be 🛛	Madhua/TCD	0x00A5	
Ethernet/IP	0x6A	1	0x0E	BOOL	-	woabus/ICP		

Mnemonic		Function	Fu	Function Group				Usage	
TE	Set/R	ead Trip Enable		Vari	able		RW	Program/Immediate	
Compatibility:	D(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: No	ot all t	rip functio	ns are	available with al	I products	
DESCRIPTION									
Sets an event (trip) t time enabled, relativ	for one or ai e position, l	ny combination o nMT status, or ma	f the following c ain power loss.	onditi	ons: input	enable	ed, position enat	oles, capture enabled,	
NOTES:					Param		Description	Compatibility	
 A trip must be de 	fined prior t	o being enabled.	Enabling an ur	ide-	0	Disab	led (default)	All	
fined trip will thro	ow an <i>Error</i>	27: Trip not defin	ed.		1	Trip o	n input enabled	All	
 Trip functions ma example: TE-2 x 	ay be combi	ned by adding tri	p numbers. For		2	Trip o	n position enabled	All	
all trips.		nes	4	Trip o	n capture enabled	All NEMA 23 and 34			
– When multiple tri	ed trip functions	6	8	Trip o	n time enabled	All			
need to be re-en	n enabled.		16	Trip o	n relative position	All			
			32	Trip o	n hMTechnology stat	us LMD Closed Loop only			
					64	Trip o	n main power loss	All	
D			11.14.					P I. I IV	
Range: 0 - 127		-	Units: —				Default: 0 (disabled)	
Syntax: IE= <para< td=""><td>am> PR II</td><td>_</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></para<>	am> PR II	_							
CODE EXAMPLES				REL	ATED		11-14 (Read Inputs 1	<u>- 4)</u> IS (Input Setup)	
TE=127 Enable al	I trip functio	ns		TA (T	rip on hMT St	<u>atus)</u>	TC (Trip Capture)	TI (Trip on Input)	
PR TE Return er 127 All trips	nabled trips are enabled			TM (1	<u>Trip on Main F</u>	Power)	TP (Trip on Position) <u>TT (Trip on Time)</u>	
				<u>TR (</u> T	rip on Relativ	e Positi	on)		
NETWORK PROTO	COL EQUI	VALENTS							
Ethernet/IP	Class	Instance	Attribute	D	ata Type			0×007D	
	0x68	1	0x05	l	JSINT			0x007D	

Mnemonic Function Function Group Access Usage Ti Trip on Input Trip Variable RW Program/Immedia Compatibility: LMD(O) LMD(C) LMD(A) Notes: — DESCRIPTION Sets up an input event (trip) for the specified input. Notes: — There are two parameters for the TI variable: The first specifies which input line to monitor. The second specifies the subroutine that should be executed when the input goes to true. NOTES: NOTES: Image: Access of the true of the true of	ate							
Til Trip on Input Trip Variable RW Program/Immedia Compatibility: LMD(O) LMD(C) LMD(A) Notes: — DESCRIPTION Sets up an input event (trip) for the specified input. There are two parameters for the TI variable: The first specifies which input line to monitor. The second specifies the subroutine that should be executed when the input goes to true. NOTES:	ate							
Compatibility: LMD(O) LMD(C) LMD(A) Notes: DESCRIPTION Sets up an input event (trip) for the specified input. There are two parameters for the TI variable: The first specifies which input line to monitor. The second specifies the subroutine that should be executed when the input goes to true. NOTES:								
 DESCRIPTION Sets up an input event (trip) for the specified input. There are two parameters for the TI variable: The first specifies which input line to monitor. The second specifies the subroutine that should be executed when the input goes to true. NOTES: 								
 Sets up an input event (trip) for the specified input. There are two parameters for the TI variable: The first specifies which input line to monitor. The second specifies the subroutine that should be executed when the input goes to true. NOTES: 								
 There are two parameters for the TI variable: The first specifies which input line to monitor. The second specifies the subroutine that should be executed when the input goes to true. NOTES: 								
 The first specifies which input line to monitor. The second specifies the subroutine that should be executed when the input goes to true. NOTES: 								
The second specifies the subroutine that should be executed when the input goes to true. NOTES:								
NOTES:								
- The Trip subroutine must use a RETURN (RT) to exit the subroutine, use of a BRANCH will cause stack errors.								
- The TE is reset when a Trip occurs. TE must be re-enabled prior to the next Trip if it is to be repeated.								
Range: — Units: — Default: —								
Syntax: TI <input/> , <label address=""></label>								
CODE EXAMPLES RELATED 11-14 (Read Inputs 1 - 4) IS (Input Setup)								
TI 1,Q1 Set trip to execute Q1 when input 1 is active TA (Trip on hMT Status) TC (Trip Capture) TI (Trip on Input)								
TE=1 Enable trip on input TM (Trip on Main Power) TP (Trip on Position) TT (Trip on Time)								
TR (Trip on Relative Position)								
NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS								
Class Instance Attribute Data Type								

Mnemonic		Function	Fu	Function Group Acces		cess	Usage		
ТМ	Trip or	Main Power Los	ss .	Trip Variable	F	RW	Program/Immediate		
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: -	-					
DESCRIPTION									
Sets up an event (trip) to run a subroutine if main power is lost. In order for this to be used the auxiliary power supply must be powered and connected.									
NOTES:									
 The TE (Trip Enable which Enables/Disables TP) is reset when a Trip occurs. TE must be re-enabled prior to the next Trip if it is to be repeated. 									
 The Trip sub 	 The Trip subroutine must use a RETURN (RT) to exit the subroutine, use of a BRANCH will cause stack errors. 								
 Trips should 	be set BEFOR	E motion comma	inds in the progr	am.					
Range: —			Units: —		Defau	lt: —			
Syntax: TM	<a>label/address	3>							
CODE EXAMPI	.ES						RELATED		
TM=Q1Execute Q1 on loss of main powerTE=64(Re)enable trip							<u>TE (Trip Enable)</u>		
NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS									
Ethernet/ID	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type	Modbus/TCP				
Ethernet/IP							_		

Mnemonic		Function	Fu	nction Group	Acces	s	Usage		
ТР	Tri	ip on Position		Frip Variable	RW		Program/Immediate		
Compatibility:	D(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: -	-					
DESCRIPTION									
Sets up an event (trip) for the specified position.									
There are two parar	neters for th	ne TP variable.							
The first specifies	s the positio	n which will caus	se the event.						
The second specifies the subroutine that should be executed when the position is detected.									
NOTES:	NOTES:								
 The TE (Trip Enable which Enables/Disables TP) is reset when a Trip occurs. TE must be re-enabled in the main program prior to the next Trip if it is to be repeated. 									
 The Trip subrout 	ine must us	e a RETURN (R	T) to exit the sub	proutine, use of a E	BRANCH will c	ause	stack errors.		
 Trips should be s 	set BEFORE	E motion comma	nds in the progra	am.					
 Only a single positive 	sition trip ty	pe may be used	at a time. TR ca	nnot be used simu	Itaneously with	n TP .			
Range: —			Units: —		Default:	_			
Syntax: TP= <pc< td=""><td>sition>,<lab< td=""><td>el/address></td><td>0</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></lab<></td></pc<>	sition>, <lab< td=""><td>el/address></td><td>0</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></lab<>	el/address>	0						
CODE EXAMPLES						REL	ATED		
TP=51200,Q1 TE=2	Set trip to (Re)enabl	trigger Q1 at 51 le trip	200 steps			<u>P (Po</u> <u>TE (T</u>	sition Counter) rip Enable)		
NETWORK PROTO		VALENTS							
Ethorpot/ID	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type	Data Type				
Ethernet/IP	_	—	—	—	Modbus/TCP —				

Mnemonic	;	Function	Fi	unction Group		Acces	s	Usage		
TQ	Re	ad/Set Torque		hMT Variable		RW		Program/Immediate		
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: -	_						
DESCRIPTION										
Sets the maximum output torque of the motor to a percentage. The parameter is only used with hMT (AS=3).										
Range: 1 –	– 100		Units: % (Units: % (percent) Default:				25		
Syntax: TQ= <percent> PR TQ</percent>										
CODE EXAMP	LES						REL	ATED		
TQ=50	Set the Torque	to 50%					<u>AS (h</u>	MT Setting)		
PR TQ	Read the value	of TQ					<u>TD (T</u>	orque Direction)		
50	The torque is	s set to 50%					<u>TS (T</u>	orque Speed)		
NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS										
Ethermost//D	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type		4 / T		00040		
Etnernet/IP	0x6A	1	0x0F	USINT	N	υχυυλο				

Mnemonic		Function		Fu	nction Group		Acces	s	Usage	
TR	Trip or	Relative Position	۱	Т	rip Variables		RW		Program/Immediate	
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)		Notes: —						
DESCRIPTION	·									
Sets up an event (trip) for the specified relative position.										
There are three	parameters for	the TR variable:								
The first spee	cifies the positio	n which will cause	e the e	event.						
The second sis specified	specifies the sul then only the Hi	proutine that shou gh Speed Trip Ou	ild be itput w	executed vill activate	when the positio e.	on is de	etected, if r	no su	broutine address or label	
The third par the range is	ameter specifie 1- 65000.	s the number of ti	mes th	he trip will	repeat. If 0 (defa	ault) th	e trip will r	repea	t infinite times, otherwise	
NOTES:										
 The TE (Trip Enable which Enables/Disables TR) is reset after repeating the number of relative trips specified. TE must be re-enabled in the main program prior to the next series of Trip on Relative if it is to be repeated. <u>Example</u>: If TR=10000,0,25, Output 3 will trip 25 times in succession at 100,000 counts relative to the last position. Following these 25 trips the trip must be re-enabled (TE=16). 										
 The Trip sub 	routine must us	e a RETURN (RT) to e	xit the sub	proutine, use of a	BRAN	VCH will ca	ause	stack errors.	
 Trips should 	be set BEFORI	E motion commar	nds in t	the progra	am.					
– Output 3 mu	 Output 3 must be configured as a trip output (Os=3,28,0). 									
 TR will always use motor counts unless the encoder is enabled (EE=1). 										
 The maximum rate of trip is 20 kHz. Exceeding this may cause communications errors. 										
 Only a single position trip type may be used at a time. TR cannot be used simultaneously with TP. 										
Range: — Units: — Default: —										
Svntax: TR= <position>.<label address="">. <repeat></repeat></label></position>										
CODE EXAMP	LES						RELATED)		
TR=51200,Q1, TE=16	15 Set TR to (Re)enab	Trip every revolu le Trip	tion fo	or 15 revol	ution		<u>TE (Trip Enal</u> OS (Output S	<u>ble)</u> Setup)	TP (Trip on Position) CW (Clock Width)	
NETWORK PR	OTOCOL EQUI	VALENTS								
Ethernet/ID	Class	Instance	Att	tribute	Data Type		ledbue/T			
Ethernet/IP	0x64	1	0)x04	USINT		vioabus/ i	CP	—	
Mnemonic		Function		Fu	nction Group		Acces	s	Usage	
TS	Set/Re	ead Torque Speed	ł	h	MT Variable		RW		Program/Immediate	
Compatibility [.]		(C) LMD(A)	им	Notes: —		I				
DESCRIPTION										
Defines the sys	tem speed for To	orque mode (AS =	:3). Th	nis configu	ration variable w	ill only	/ take effec	ct if hl	MT is in torque mode.	
NOTE: The value Error 106: Read	ue for TS may be	e changed while t count or Error 10	he axi 7 <i>: Laq</i>	is is in mo <i>i limit erro</i>	tion. Changing v	elocity	during a t	torque	e move may result in an	
Range: 46,	512 — 2560000		Units	: step	s/sec		Default:	0		
Syntax: TS	= <steps sec=""></steps>									
	LES							REL	ATED	
TS=51200	Set torque	e speed to 51200	stens	per seco	nd			<u>AS (h</u>	MTechnology Mode)	
PR TS 51200	Read the TS is 51	value of TS	otopo	per 00001				<u>TD (T</u> <u>TQ (T</u>	orque Direction) orque Percent)	
NETWORK PR	OTOCOL EQUI	VALENTS								
	Class	Instance	Att	tribute	Data Type					
Ethernet/IP	0x6A	1	0)x10	UDINT	Modbus/TCP			0x00A3 - 0x00A4	

Mnemonic		Function	Fu	nction Group	Usage						
TT		Trip on time	1	Trip Variable	RW	Program/Immediate					
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: —								
DESCRIPTION											
Sets up an ever	Sets up an event (trip) based on time.										
There are two p											
The first para											
The second	parameter spec	ifies the subrouti	ne that should be	e executed when	the time is expired.						
NOTE: The Trip	subroutine mu	st use a RETURI	N (RT) to exit the	e subroutine, use	of a BRANCH will of	ause stack errors					
Range: 1 to	65535		Units: milli	seconds	Default: -	_					
Syntax: TT:	<time>,<label a<="" td=""><td>address></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></label></time>	address>									
CODE EXAMP	ES					RELATED					
TT=10000,Q1 TE=8	<u>TE (Trip Enable)</u>										
NETWORK PR											
	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type	Madhua/TOD						
Ethernet/IP	_	_	_	_	_						

Mnemonic		Function	Fu	nction Group		Access	Usage		
UG	Process	Firmware Upgra	ade Upg	le Upgrade Instruction			Program/Immediate		
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	Notes: -	Notes: —						
DESCRIPTION									
When an upgrade is initiated, the upgrade command and code will be automatically entered by the Upgrader Utility in the Motior Control Interface or Motion Terminal software programs.									
Once initiated, t	he firmware Up	grade MUST be	completed.						
Range: —			Units: —			Default: —			
Syntax: UG	2956102								
CODE EXAMPI	ES			RELATED					
UG 2956102	Enter upgrade mode VR (Version)								
NETWORK PR	NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS								
Eth com ct/ID	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type			Refer to the Modbus/TCP User		
Etnernet/IP	_			_	tion Codes				

Mnemonic		Function	Fu	nction Group	Access	Usage		
UV	Rea	d User Variable		Keyword	RO	Program/Immediate		
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: -	-				
DESCRIPTION			<u>.</u>					
Keyword used w variables, the sc	vith the PR (Prir cope, either glot	nt) command to rea bal or local, and the	ad the value of e value.	all user defined var	iables. The keywo	rd will return the user		
The response w	ill come in the f	orm of [var] = [G lo	bal/Local] [val	oal/Local] [value] or example Q1 = G 25				
Range: —		l	Jnits: —		Default: —			
Syntax: PR	UV							
CODE EXAMPL	ES				RELATED			
VA Q1=25 PR UV Q1 = G 25	Create us Read use Q1 is a	er variable Q1 and r variables, scope global variable wit	l set to 25 and values h a value of 25	5	<u>PR (Print)</u> <u>VA (Create User Va</u>	<u>iriable)</u>		
NETWORK PRO	OTOCOL EQUI	VALENTS			•			
	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type				
Ethernet/IP				_	Modbus/TCP	_		
·		·/		· · · · ·		·		
Mnemonic		Function	Fu	nction Group	Access	Usage		
V	Doc	d Avia Valacity		Kowword	PO	Brogram/Immodiate		

Mnemonie		Function	Fu	inction Group	Access	Usage				
V	Rea	ad Axis Velocity		Keyword	RO	Program/Immediate				
Compatibility	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: -	_	• •	·				
DESCRIPTION	1									
Keyword used tion of motion.	with the PR (Prin	nt) command to r	read the current	velocity of the axi	s. The value of V is s	igned based on the direc-				
NOTES:										
– V will not re	turn an accurate	value if hMTech	nology is active							
– In Torque M	 In Torque Mode, (AS=3), V will return a zero value. 									
Range: —	Range: — Units: — Default: —									
Syntax: PF BF CL	R V R <label address<br="">. <label address=""></label></label>	>,V= <value> >, V=<value></value></value>								
CODE EXAMP	LES				RELATED	MA (Move Absolute)				
PR V CL Q1,V=123456	Read the Ve Execute sub	locity routine Q1 when V=´	123456 motor steps/s	sec	MR (Move Relative) <u>SL (Slew at Velocity)</u> <u>VM (Maximum Velocity)</u>				
NETWORK PF	ROTOCOL EQUI	VALENTS								
Ethorpot/IP	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type		0,0085 0,0086				
Luiemeur	0x66	1	0x0F	DINT	woubus/TCP	0x0000 - 0x0000				

Mnemonic		Function	Fu	nction Group	Usage						
VA	Defir	ne User Variable		Keyword	Program/Immediate						
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: —	-							
DESCRIPTION											
The VA instruction creates a user variable with a logical name and optionally variable value.											
The restrictions	The restrictions for this command are:										
1. A variable cannot be named after an LMD MCode Instruction, Variable, Flag, or Keyword.											
2. In naming u	mber from 0 to 31.										
3. The system	is limited to a c	ombined total of	336 variables ar	nd labels (LB).							
Range: —			Units: —			Default: —					
Syntax: VA	<char><char>=</char></char>	<value></value>									
VA	<char><0-31>=</char>	<value></value>									
CODE EXAMP	LES						RELATED				
VA Q1=25	Create user va	riable Q1 and se	t to 25				UV (Read User Variables)				
PR Q1	Read user varia	able Q1									
25											
NETWORK PR											
Ethormot/ID	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type			0.0005				
⊏tnernet/IP	_					vioabus/1CP	0X0085				

Mnemonic		Function	Fu	nction Group		Access	Usage				
VB	Read	d backup voltage Variable				RO	Program/Immediate				
Compatibility:	LMD(A)		Notes: At	osolute encoder i	model	ls only					
DESCRIPTION	DESCRIPTION										
The VB variable of two paramete	The VB variable holds the voltage level for the backup voltage for the Absolute Encoder. The variable is read-only and consists of two parameters:										
Internal back	up voltage										
External batter	ery pack voltage	e									
Range: —			Units: —			Default: —					
Syntax: PR	VB										
CODE EXAMPL	.ES					RELATED —					
PR VbRead user variable Q15.123, 5.1Internal backup level at 5.123V, external battery at 5.1V											
NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS											
Class Instance		Attribute	Data Type	Madhua/TOD							
Eulernet/IP	0x69	1	0x0A	STRING	Modbus/TCP —						

Mnemonic		Function	F	unction Group		Access	Usage
VC	Read	Velocity Changin	g	Status Flag RO			Program/Immediate
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes: -	_			•
DESCRIPTION							
The read-only r ating.	notion flag will b	e at an active sta	ate (1) when the	e velocity of the m	otor is c	hanging, eith	er accelerating or deceler-
An output may	An output may be set to be ON when VC is active using Param						
OS = <output>,2</output>	DS = <output>,20,<active>. 0 V is not chan</active></output>						
					ng		
Range: 0/1			Units: —		D	efault: 0	
Syntax: PR	VC {BR/CL} <	label/address>,V	C= <state></state>				
CODE EXAMP	LES						RELATED
PR VC Read the state of the velocity changing flag 0 velocity is constant						<u>OS (Output Setup)</u>	
CL Q1, VC=1 Call subroutine Q1 when the axis velocity is changing							
NETWORK PR	OTOCOL EQUI	VALENTS					
Eth ann a (#D	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type			00000
Etnernet/IP	0x66	1	0x10	BOOL		babus/ICP	υχυυδα

Mnemonic		Function		Function Grou	qr	Access	Usage				
VF	Rea	ad/Set hMT Velo	city Filter	hMT Variable	;	RW	Program/Immediate				
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Notes:	-							
DESCRIPTION											
VF takes a valu	VF takes a value of 0 to 1000. It can be defined as 0 = no filtering and 1000 = most filtering.										
Because the Torque Velocity is computed and the encoder is sampled every mSec, there can be fluctuation in the result. The filtering compensates for this fluctuation.											
Range: 0 to	1000	Units: counts Default: 0									
Syntax: VF=	<counts> PR</counts>	VF									
CODE EXAMPI	ES				F	RELATED					
VF=500	Set the torque	velocity filter to 5	500 counts		A	AS (hMTecnology Mode)					
PR VFRead the torque velocity filter500the torque velocity filter is 500 counts						TQ (Torque Percent) TS (Torque Speed)					
NETWORK PR	NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS										
Ethernet/ID	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type			0,00047				
Ethernet/IP	0x6A	1	0x11								

Mnemonic		Function		Fun	ction Group		Acces	s		Usage
VI	Set/R	ead Initial Velocity	y	Motion Variable RW					Progra	am/Immediate
Compatibility:	LMD(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	1	lotes: —		· · ·				
DESCRIPTION										
Initial velocity for demonstrates the	all motion con Motion Contr	nmands. The fact ol Profile for velo	ory def city.	ault value	is 1000 clock p	oulses (ste	eps) pe	r seco	nd. The g	graphic below
The initial velocity be set to avoid th frequency and mu the pull in torque also be set to a va (Max. Velocity). When EE is chan are recalculated.	for a stepper e low speed ro ist be set lowe of the motor. I alue lower tha ged, A , D , VI	should esonance er than t must n VM and VM						oceleration		Maximum Velocity (VM) Initial Velocity (VI)
Range: 1 to (√M –1)		Units:	EE=0 EE=1	steps/sec	Det	fault:		EE=0 EE=1	1000 40
Syntax: VI= <v< th=""><th>elocity> PR</th><th>VI</th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th></v<>	elocity> PR	VI								
CODE EXAMPLE	S							REL	ATED	
VI=5000 S	et the initial v	elocity to 5000						<u>A (Acc</u>	celeration)	
PR VI F 5000	ead the value The initial ve	of the initial velo ocity is 5000 step	ocity os/sec					<u>D (De</u> <u>VM (N</u>	<u>celeration)</u> 1ax Velocity)
NETWORK PRO	FOCOL EQUI	VALENTS								
Ethornot/IP	Class	Instance	Att	ribute	Data Type	Mod	dbue/T	CP	020080	0×0084
	0x66	1	0	x11	UDINT		ubus/1	vг	070009 -	

Mnemonic		Function		Fu	nction Group	Acces	s	Usage		
VM	Rea	ad/Set Maximum	Nelocity	Mo	otion Variable	RW	F	Program/Immediate		
Compatibility:	D(O) LMD(C)	LMD(A)	Not	es: —						
DESCRIPTION										
The VM variable spo When EE is change	ecifies the m d, A , D , VI a	naximum velocity and VM are reca	/ in steps/c lculated.	counts per s	econd that the a	axis will read	ch during	a move command.		
NOTES:										
 The maximum set 	he maximum setting of VM is dependent on the setting of the Microstep Resolution and is equal to MS *10000.									
 VM must be great 	- VM must be greater than VI.									
 Changes to VM 	 Changes to VM made during motion will not take effect until the current move completes. 									
	to /NO*100	00)	Unite	EE=0	steps/sec	Default	EE=0	768000		
Range: (VI+I)		00)	Units:	EE=1	counts/sec	Delault:	EE=1	60000		
Syntax: VM= <ve< td=""><td>elocity> PF</td><td>R VM</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></ve<>	elocity> PF	R VM								
CODE EXAMPLES							RELATE	D		
v M=500000 Set	maximum v	elocity to 50000	0 steps see	С.			<u>A (Accelera</u>	tion)		
PR VM Read the value of VM								a <u>tion)</u>		
500000 V	500000 VM is set to 500k steps/sec									
NETWORK PROTO	COL EQUI	VALENTS								
Ethernet/IP	Class	Instance	Attribut	te D	ata Type	Modbus/TCP 0v008B		08B - 00x008C		
Eulerneult	0x66	1	0x12	2 <u></u> l	JDINT	woubus/1		000 - 000000		

Mnemonic		Functio	on		Func	tion Grou	р	Access	Usage
VR	Read Fir	mware/Har	dware V	ersion	Identifica	ation Keyw	/ord	RO	Program/Immediate
Compatibility:	(O) LMD(C) L	MD(A)		Notes: -	—			,	
DESCRIPTION									
Keyword used with P	R (Print) to re	ead the firm	ware an	nd hardwa	are versions	of the core	code.		
The keyword will retu ware version (factory	urn two values upgrade only	s, the first is y).	the dev	/ice µCor	troller firmwa	are (field u	pgrada	able), the s	econd is the FPGA hard-
Range: —			Unit	s: —			Defa	ault: —	
Syntax: PR VR									
CODE EXAMPLES									RELATED
PR VR Read the device version LMMCM 6.002, Hw: 3.2 Firmware version and hardware version									<u>UG (Upgrade)</u>
NETWORK PROTO	COL EQUIVA	LENTS							
Ethernet/IP	Class	Instance	4	Attribute	Data Ty	pe	Mod	bus/TCP	_
	0x65	1		0x0B	STRIN	G			
							<u> </u>		
Mnemonic	F	unction		F	unction Gro	oup		Access	Usage
VI	Rea	ad Voltage			Status Keywo	ord		RO	Program/Immediate
Compatibility: LMD(0) LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM Notes: —									
DESCRIPTION									
The VT keyword is us	sed in conjun	ction with th	ne PR (F	Print) insti	ruction to rea	id the stati	us and	voltage of	the device.
status followed by a	voltage level.	Status	Au	xv	+VDC	Normal for		h Auxiliany vol	
		0	Out of ra	nge/		Normal IO			
		1	Unused		In range	Normal for	LMM or	LMD without A	Auxiliary voltage connected
		2	In range		Out of range	Abnormal c (too high or	ondition too low	, Results in an)	Error 78: Aux V out of range
		3	Out of ra	nge	Out of range	Abnormal c (too high or	ondition too low	, Results in an	Error 79: Plus V out of range
An optional paramete	er may be use	ed to read th	ne voltag	ge and st	atus of a spe	cific voltaç	ge:		
	LIVID product	s only)	chlan	Param	Pood both s	Desc		on uControllo	
			1		Read the de	vice status	e mot, u		·
			2		Read the Au	ıx V level			
			3		Read the +V	/ level			
Range: —			Unit	s: —			Defa	ault: —	
Svntax: PR VT. <	<pre>param></pre>								
CODE EXAMPLES	<u> </u>						REL	ATED	
		LMM					<u>IT (In</u>	ternal Tempera	ature)
PR VT 1, 23	Read the sta +V in rang	atus and vo e, 23 VDC	ltage						
		LMD					1		
PR VTRead the status and voltage0,23,36Aux V and +V in range. Aux V: 23 VDC, +V: 36 VDC									
PR VT, 3 0,36	Read the vo +V in range	ltage e. +V: 36 VI	C						
							-		

Ethormot/ID	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type	Madhua/TOD	Refer to the Modbus/TCP User				
Ethernet/IP	0x65	1	0x0C	STRING	Modbus/TCP	Function Codes				

Mnemoni	c	Function		Function Gro	oup Access	Usage	
WT	Set/F	Set/Read Warning Te		System Varia	ble RW	Program/Immediate	
Compatibility							
DESCRIPTIO	N						
The Warning T Internal Tempe	emperature varia erature Warning t	ble allows the us o the terminal so	ser to set a thre reen if the set t	eshold temperatur emperature is exc	e at which the device ceeded.	will assert an Error 71:	
NOTE: This sin result in the er	NOTE : This single setting will set the warning level for both temperature sensors. Either sensor reaching the set threshold will result in the error code.						
Range: 0-	nge: 0-84)		
Syntax: W	syntax: WT= <temperature> PR WT</temperature>						
CODE EXAMPLES						RELATED	
WT=75	Set warning ter	nperature thresh	old to 75 °C			IT (Internal Temperature)	
PR WT 75	Read the warn WT is set to 7	ing temperature 75 °C	setting				
NETWORK PROTOCOL EQUIVALENTS							
Ethornot/ID	Class	Instance	Attribute	Data Type	M. II. (700	0,000	
Ethernet/IP	0x64	1	0x05	USINT			

Math, Logic, and Trigonometric Operators

NOTE:

Firmware versions prior to Firmware 6.001+ do not support advanced floating point math and trigonometric functions.

Math functions execute from left to right and not by standard order of operation.

Symbol	Function		Function Group		
+	Addition		Basic Math		
Compatibility:	D(O) LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM	Notes: —			
DESCRIPTION					
Adds the contents of	variables.				
Syntax: <sum ta<="" td=""><td>rget>=<augend>+<addend>+</addend></augend></td><th></th><td></td></sum>	rget>= <augend>+<addend>+</addend></augend>				
CODE EXAMPLES	CODE EXAMPLES				
VA Q1=25 VA Q2=30 VA Q3=40	VA Q1=25Setup sample user variables and assign valueVA Q2=30VA Q3=40				
R1=Q1+Q2+Q3 PR R1 95	Add Q1, Q2 and Q3 together, store sum in Register 1 Read the Value of R1 R1 is 95				

Symbol	Function		Function Group		
-	Subtractior	ı	Basic Math		
Compatibility:	D(O) LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM	Notes: —			
DESCRIPTION					
Subtracts the conter	its of two variables.				
Syntax: <differer< td=""><td>nce target>=<menuend>-<subtra< td=""><th>ahend></th><td></td></subtra<></menuend></td></differer<>	nce target>= <menuend>-<subtra< td=""><th>ahend></th><td></td></subtra<></menuend>	ahend>			
CODE EXAMPLES	CODE EXAMPLES				
VA Q1=25 VA Q2=30	A Q1=25 Setup sample user variables and assign value A Q2=30				
R1=Q2-Q1Subtract Q1 from Q2, store difference in Register 1PR R1Read the Value of R15R1 is 5					

Symbol	Function		Function Group		
*	Multiplication		Basic Math		
Compatibility:	D(O) LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM	Notes: —			
DESCRIPTION					
Multiplies the conten	ts of two variables.				
Syntax: <produc< td=""><td>t target>=<multiplicand>*<multiplicand></multiplicand></multiplicand></td><th>lier></th><td></td></produc<>	t target>= <multiplicand>*<multiplicand></multiplicand></multiplicand>	lier>			
CODE EXAMPLES					
VA Q1=25 VA Q2=30	=25 Setup sample user variables and assign value =30				
R1=Q1*Q2 PR R1 750	Multiply Q1 and Q2, store produ Read the Value of R1 R1 is 750	uct in Register 1			

Symbol	Function		Function Group		
/	Division		Basic Math		
Compatibility:	(O) LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM	Notes: —			
DESCRIPTION					
Divides the contents	of one variable with another vari	able.			
NOTE : When dividin Registers).	g integer values that require a m	ore precise quotient, t	he quotient may be stored in F1-F8 (Floating Point		
Syntax: <quotier< td=""><td>t target>=<dividend>/<divisor></divisor></dividend></td><th></th><th></th></quotier<>	t target>= <dividend>/<divisor></divisor></dividend>				
CODE EXAMPLES					
VA Q1=25Setup sample user variables and assign valueVA Q2=30					
F1=Q2/Q1 PR F1 1.200000	Divide Q2 by Q1, store quotient in Floating Point Register 1 Read the Value of F1 F1 is 1.200000				

Symbol	Function		Function Group			
=	Equal		Comparison operator			
Compatibility:	Compatibility: LMD(C) LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM Notes: —					
DESCRIPTION						
Set a variable equal operations.	to another variable or number, co	omparison operator fo	r BR (Branch) and CL (Call Subroutine) program			
Syntax: <target th="" v<=""><th>/ar>=<source var=""/> [BR/CL] <lab< th=""><th>el/address>,<var flg="" ic<="" th=""><th>>=<var flg="" num=""></var></th></var></th></lab<></th></target>	/ar>= <source var=""/> [BR/CL] <lab< th=""><th>el/address>,<var flg="" ic<="" th=""><th>>=<var flg="" num=""></var></th></var></th></lab<>	el/address>, <var flg="" ic<="" th=""><th>>=<var flg="" num=""></var></th></var>	>= <var flg="" num=""></var>			
CODE EXAMPLES						
VA Q1=25	A Q1=25 Setup sample user variables and assign value					
A=Q1 Set acceleration equal to user variable Q1						
CL X1,I1=1	Call subroutine X1 when input is active					

Symbol	Function	Function Group				
<>	Not Equal	Comparison operator				
Compatibility:	0(0) LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM Notes: —					
DESCRIPTION	DESCRIPTION					
Compare two variable	les and execute stated action when the values are no	ot equal.				
Syntax: [BR/CL]	Syntax: [BR/CL] <label address="">,<var flg="" io=""><><var flg="" num=""></var></var></label>					
CODE EXAMPLES						
CL X1,Q1<>25	Call subroutine when user variable Q1 is not e	equal to 25				

	9					
Symbol	Function		Function Group			
<	Less Than		Comparison operator			
Compatibility:	D(O) LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM	Notes: —				
DESCRIPTION	DESCRIPTION					
Tests if Variable is le	ss than a second variable.					
Syntax: [BR/CL]	Syntax: [BR/CL] <label address="">,<var flg="" io=""><<var flg="" num=""></var></var></label>					
CODE EXAMPLES:						
CL X1,Q1<=25	Call subroutine when use	r variable Q1 is less than 25				

Symbol	Function		Function Group		
<=	Less Than or Equal		Comparison operator		
Compatibility:	D(O) LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM	Notes: —			
DESCRIPTION	DESCRIPTION				
Tests if Variable is le	ss than or equal to a second vari	iable			
Syntax: [BR/CL]	Syntax: [BR/CL] <label address="">,<var flg="" io=""><=<var flg="" num=""></var></var></label>				
CODE EXAMPLES					
CL X1,Q1<=25 Call subroutine when user variable Q1 is less than or equal to 25					

Symbol	Function		Function Group		
>	Greater Tha	an	Comparison operator		
Compatibility:	D(O) LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM	Notes: —			
DESCRIPTION	DESCRIPTION				
Tests if Variable is gr	reater than to a second variable				
Syntax: [BR/CL]	Syntax: [BR/CL] <label address="">,<var flg="" io="">><var flg="" num=""></var></var></label>				
CODE EXAMPLES					
CL X1,Q1>25	Call subroutine when user	r variable Q1 is greater	than 25		

Symbol	Function		Function Group			
>=	Greater Than or Equal		Comparison operator			
Compatibility:	D(O) LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM	Notes: —				
DESCRIPTION	DESCRIPTION					
Tests if Variable is gr	eater than or equal to a second	variable.				
Syntax: [BR/CL]	Syntax: [BR/CL] <label address="">,<var flg="" io="">>=<var flg="" num=""></var></var></label>					
CODE EXAMPLES						
CL X1,Q1>=25	Call subroutine when user	r variable Q1 is greate	r than or equal to 25			

Symbol	Function		Function Group			
&	AND		Logic operator			
Compatibility:	D(O) LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM	Notes: —				
DESCRIPTION						
Performs a Logic AN	ID operation on two variables.					
Syntax: <target td="" v<=""><td>/ar>=<var flg="">&<var flg="" num=""></var></var></td><th></th><td></td></target>	/ar>= <var flg="">&<var flg="" num=""></var></var>					
CODE EXAMPLES	CODE EXAMPLES					
R1=25 R2=30	Assign value to user registers					
R3=R1&R2	AND R1 and R2 together, store in R3					
PR R3 24	Read the value of R3 R3 is 24					

Symbol	Function		Function Group	
	OR		Logic operator	
Compatibility:	D(O) LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM	Notes: —		
DESCRIPTION				
Performs a Logic OF	R operation between two variable	s.		
Syntax: <target td="" v<=""><td colspan="4">Syntax: <target var="">=<var flg="">I<var flg="" num=""></var></var></target></td></target>	Syntax: <target var="">=<var flg="">I<var flg="" num=""></var></var></target>			
CODE EXAMPLES	CODE EXAMPLES			
R1=25 R2=30	Assign value to user registers			
R3=R1 R2	OR R1 and R2 together, store in R3			
PR R3 25	Read the value of R3 R3 is 31			

Symbol	Function		Function Group
^	XOR		Logic operator
Compatibility:	D(O) LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM	Notes: —	
DESCRIPTION			
Performs a Logic XC	OR operation between two variable	les.	
Syntax: <target td="" v<=""><td>var>=<var flg="">^<var flg="" num=""></var></var></td><th></th><td></td></target>	var>= <var flg="">^<var flg="" num=""></var></var>		
CODE EXAMPLES			
R1=25 R2=30	Assign value to user registers		
R3=R1^R2	XOR R1 and R2 together, store in R3		
PR R3 7	Read the value of R3 R3 is 7		

Symbol	Function		Function Group
1	NOT		Logic operator
Compatibility:	D(O) LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM	Notes: —	
DESCRIPTION			
Performs a Logic NC	DT operation.		
Syntax: <target td="" v<=""><td>/ar>=<var flg="">!<var flg=""></var></var></td><th></th><td></td></target>	/ar>= <var flg="">!<var flg=""></var></var>		
CODE EXAMPLES			
R1=25	Assign value to user registers		
R3=!R1	Evaluate the NOT value of R1.	Store the value in R3	
PR R3 -26	Read the value of R3 R3 is -26		
To invert a boolean o	or flag:		
R1=1	Assign a value of 1 to user register		
R2=!R1+2	Evaluate the NOT value of R1 a	nd add 2. Store the re	esult in R2
PR R2 0	Read the value of R2 R2 is 0		
R1=0	Assign a value of 0 to the user r	egister	
R2=!R1+2	Evaluate the NOT value of R2 a	nd add 2. Store the re	esult in R2
PR R2 1	Read the value of R2 R2 is 1		

Symbol	Function		Function Group
AB	Absolute Valu	le	Advanced Math/Trigonometry
Compatibility: LMD(O) LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM Notes: Firmware 6.0 Calculation should b registers F1-F8 (Flog		01+ e performed using the double-precision floating point ating Point Registers).	
DESCRIPTION			
Performs an Absolute on the specified register or variable.			
Syntax: <target f<="" th=""><td colspan="3">Syntax: <target fpreg="">=AB <var num=""></var></target></td></target>	Syntax: <target fpreg="">=AB <var num=""></var></target>		
CODE EXAMPLES			
MA -51200 PR P -51200	Move negative 51200 Read the position cou Position counter is	Move negative 51200 steps (1 Rev) Read the position counter Position counter is at -51000 steps	
F1=AB P	Perform absolute on	Perform absolute on position counter, store in F1	
PR F1 51200.00000	Read the value of F1 F1 is 51200.00000	Read the value of F1 F1 is 51200.00000	

Symbol	Function		Function Group
CS	Cosine		Advanced Math/Trigonometry
Compatibility: LMD(0) LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM Notes: Firmware 6.0 Calculation should be registers F1-F8 (Floa		01+ e performed using the double-precision floating point ating Point Registers).	
DESCRIPTION			
Performs cosine on t	he specified register.		
Syntax: <target fpreg="">=CS <var flg="" num=""></var></target>			
CODE EXAMPLES			
VA Q1=51200	Create and assign value to	Create and assign value to user register Q1	
F1=CS Q1	Store cosine of Q1 in F1		
PR F1 -0.106072	Read the value of F1 F1 is -0.106072		

Symbol	Function		Function Group
C_	Arc Cosine		Advanced Math/Trigonometry
Compatibility:	(O) LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM RC Ca re	otes: Firmware 6.00 alculation should be egisters <u>F1-F8 (Floa</u> t	01+ e performed using the double-precision floating point ting Point Registers).
DESCRIPTION			
Performs an arc cosi	ne on the specified register.		
Syntax: <target f<="" td=""><td>preg>=C_ <var flg="" num=""></var></td><td></td><td></td></target>	preg>=C_ <var flg="" num=""></var>		
CODE EXAMPLES			
VA Q1=51200	Create and assign value to us	ser register Q1	
F1=CS Q1	Store cosine of Q1 in F1		
PR F1 -0.106072	Read the value of F1 F1 is -0.106072		
F2=C_ F1	Store Arc Cosine of F1 in F2		
PR F2 1.677068	Return the value of F2 F2 is 1.677068		

Symbol	Function		Function Group
LO	Logarithm Bas	se e	Advanced Math/Trigonometry
Compatibility: LMD(O) LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM Notes: Firmware 6.0 Calculation should be registers F1-F8 (Floa		01+ e performed using the double-precision floating point ating Point Registers).	
DESCRIPTION			
Performs an logarith	m (base e) on the specified regis	ter.	
Syntax: <target fpreg="">=LO <var flg="" num=""></var></target>			
CODE EXAMPLES			
VA Q1=51200	Create and assign value to user register Q1		
F1=LO Q1	Store log (base e) of Q1 ir	Store log (base e) of Q1 in F1	
PR F1 10.843495	Read the value of F1 F1 is 10.843495		

Symbol	Function		Function Group
L_	Logarithm Base	e 10	Advanced Math/Trigonometry
Compatibility: LMD(O) LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM Notes: Firmware 6.0 Calculation should by registers F1-F8 (Floa		01+ e performed using the double-precision floating point <u>iting Point Registers)</u> .	
DESCRIPTION			
Performs an logarith	m (base 10) on the specified regi	ster.	
Syntax: <target fpreg="">=L_ <var flg="" num=""></var></target>			
CODE EXAMPLES			
VA Q1=51200	Create and assign value to user register Q1		
F1=L_ Q1	Store log (base 10) of Q1 in F1		
PR F1 4.709270	Read the value of F1 F1 is 4.7092705		

Symbol	Function		Function Group
PI	PI (3.1415926	54)	Advanced Math/Trigonometry
Compatibility: LMD(O) LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM Notes: Firmware 6.0 Calculation should be registers F1-F8 (Floa		01+ e performed using the double-precision floating point ting Point Registers).	
DESCRIPTION			
Holds the value of PI			
Syntax: <target fpreg="">=<reg var="">PI</reg></target>			
CODE EXAMPLES			
VA Q1=51200	Create and ass	Create and assign value to user register Q1	
F1=Q1*PI	Multiply User va	Multiply User var Q1 times PI	
PR F1 160849.54388	Read the value 5 F1 is 160849	Read the value of F1 F1 is 160849.543885	

Symbol	Function		Function Group
SI	Sine		Advanced Math/Trigonometry
Compatibility: LMD(0) LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM Ca		Notes : Firmware 6.001+ Calculation should be performed using the double-precision floating point registers F1-F8 (Floating Point Registers).	
DESCRIPTION			
Calculates the sine of	of the specified register.		
Syntax: <target fpreg="">=SI <var flg="" num=""></var></target>			
CODE EXAMPLES			
VA Q1=51200	Create and assign value to user register Q1		
F1=SI Q1	Store Sine of Q1 in F1		
PR F1 -0.994358	Read the value of F1 F1 is -0.994358		

Symbol	Function		Function Group
S_	Arc Sine		Advanced Math/Trigonometry
Compatibility:	(O) LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM	Notes : Firmware 6.0 Calculation should be registers <u>F1-F8 (Floa</u>	01+ e performed using the double-precision floating point <u>iting Point Registers)</u> .
DESCRIPTION			
Calculates the arc si	ne of the specified register.		
Syntax: <target f<="" th=""><td>preg>=S_ <var flg="" num=""></var></td><td></td><td></td></target>	preg>=S_ <var flg="" num=""></var>		
CODE EXAMPLES			
VA Q1=51200	Create and assign va	alue to user register Q	1
F1=SI Q1	Store Sine of Q1 in F	-1	
PR F1 -0.994358	Read the value of F1 F1 is -0.994358	l	
F2=S_ F1	Store Arc Sine of F1	in F2	
PR F2 -1.464524	Return the value of F F2 is -1.464524	-2	

Symbol	Function		Function Group
SQ	Square Root		Advanced Math/Trigonometry
Compatibility: LMD(O) LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM Notes: Firmwa Calculation sho registers F1-F6		Notes : Firmware 6.0 Calculation should be registers <u>F1-F8 (Floa</u>	01+ e performed using the double-precision floating point ating Point Registers).
DESCRIPTION			
Calculates the squar	e root of the specified register.		
Syntax: <target fpreg="">=SQ <var flg="" num=""></var></target>			
CODE EXAMPLES			
VA Q1=51200	Create and assign va	Create and assign value to user register Q1	
F1=SQ Q1	Store Square Root o	Store Square Root of Q1 in F1	
PR F1 226.274170	Read the value of F1 F1 is 226.274170	Read the value of F1 F1 is 226.274170	

Symbol	Function		Function Group
TG	Tangent		Advanced Math/Trigonometry
Compatibility: LMD(O) LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM Notes: Firmware 6.0 Calculation should b registers F1-F8 (Floa		01+ e performed using the double-precision floating point ating Point Registers).	
DESCRIPTION			
Calculates the tange	nt of the specified register.		
Syntax: <target fpreg="">=TG <var flg="" num=""></var></target>			
CODE EXAMPLES			
VA Q1=51200	A Q1=51200 Create and assign value to user register Q1		1
F1=TG Q1	Store Tangent of Q1	Store Tangent of Q1 in F1	
PR F1 9.374376	Read the value of F1 F1 is 9.374376		

Symbol	Function		Function Group
Τ_	Arc Tangen	t	Advanced Math/Trigonometry
Compatibility: 🗖 💵	atibility: LMD(O) LMD(C) LMD(A) LMM Notes: Firmware 6.00 Calculation should be registers F1-F8 (Floa		01+ e performed using the double-precision floating point ating Point Registers).
DESCRIPTION			
Calculates the arc ta	ngent of the specified register.		
Syntax: <target f<="" th=""><th colspan="2">Syntax: <target fpreg="">=T_ <var flg="" num=""></var></target></th><th></th></target>	Syntax: <target fpreg="">=T_ <var flg="" num=""></var></target>		
CODE EXAMPLES			
VA Q1=51200	Create and assign value to user register Q1		1
F1=T_ Q1	Store Tangent of Q1	Store Tangent of Q1 in F1	
PR F1 1.570777	Read the value of F1 F1 is 1.570777		

Chapter 3 Software, Programming, and Application Notes

What's in this Chapter?

This section will provide information on the LMD Software Suite (LSS) and LMD MCode Programming and Applications, including Party Mode communications, programming the Input/Output (I/O), and factors impacting motion commands.

This chapter includes the following topics:

Торіс	Page
LMD Software Suite (LSS)	132
Party Mode Communications	132
Programming the I/O	135
Factors Impacting Motion Commands	135

LMD Software Suite (LSS)

The software associated with LMD Motion products is contained within the LMD Software Suite (LSS). This software package is available for download https://novantaims.com/dloads/

Applicable modules include:

- 1. Motion Control Interface
 - Graphic User Interface (GUI) for developing and simulating LMD MCode programs.
 - ANSI Terminal emulation with the ability for multiple terminal tabs to be open on different COM ports.
 - Program editor tabs with color coding.
 - Programmable function keys
 - Program simulator allows for quick test and debugging of LMD MCode programs.
 - For RS-422/485 and Ethernet LMD Motion product products
 - Motion Control Firmware upgrade utility.

2. Ethernet Configuration Utility

- For LMD Motion product Ethernet products
- Configure basic TCP/IP parameters such as:
 - IP address
 - Subnet mask
 - Gateway address
- Firmware upgrades to Ethernet controller firmware

These modules are documented in the LSS Manual, available for download from:

https://novantaims.com/dloads/

Party Mode Communications

The following communication formats are used by LMD MCode compatible devices:

{}	The contents between the {} symbols are transmitted.
{0D}	Hex equivalent for an ASCII CR (Carriage Return).
{0A}	Hex equivalent for an ASCII LF (Line Feed).
{DN}	Represents the Device Name being sent.
{CS}	Check Sum; {ACK} 06 Hex; {NAK} 15 Hex
	EM = Echo Mode; PY = PartY Mode; CK= ChecK sum

The word {command} represents the immediate command sent to the device.

Command execution time (CET) is the time the device takes to execute a command. This varies from command to command and usually is less than 100 microseconds.

Response to Echo Mode

Dependent on how the echo mode (EM) is set in conjunction with party mode (PY) and check sum (CK), the device will respond differently. The following tables illustrate the various responses based on how the EM, PY and CK parameters are set.

Response to Echo Mode - Party and Check Sum are Zero (0)				
Parameter Setting	Transmission	Initial Response	Final Response	Notes
EM=0 & PY=0 CK=0	(command) (D)	(command) Echoed back one character at a time as the character is entered.	CET (0D) (0A)>	The last character sent is the prompt >
EM=1 & PY=0 CK=0	(command) (0D)	-	CET (0D) (0A)	The last character sent is LF
EM=2 & PY=0 CK=0	(command) (0D)	-	-	No response except to PR and L commands
EM=3 & PY=0 CK=0	(command) (0D)	-	CET command (0D) (0A)	Queued response. The last character sent is the LF

Response to Echo Mode - Party is One (1) and Check Sum is Zero (0)				
Parameter Setting	Transmission	Initial Response	Final Response	Notes
EM=0 & PY=1 CK=0	(DN) (command) (0A)	(command) Echoed back one character at a time as the character is entered.	CET (0D) (0A)>	The last character sent is the prompt >
EM=1 & PY=1 CK=0	(DN) (command) (0A)	-	CET (0D) (0A)	The last character sent is LF
EM=2 & PY=1 CK=0	(DN) (command) (0A)	-	-	No response except to PR and L commands
EM=3 & PY=1 CK=0	(DN) (command) (0A)	-	CET command (0D) (0A)	Queued response. The last character sent is the LF

Response to echo mode - party is zero (0) and check sum is one (1)				
Parameter Setting	Transmission	Initial Response	Final Response	Notes
EM=0 & PY=0 CK=1	(DN) (command) (0A)	(command) Echoed back one character at a time as the character is entered.	CET (0D) (0A)>	The last character sent is the prompt >
EM=1 & PY=0 CK=1	(DN) (command) (0A)	-	CET (0D) (0A)	The last character sent is LF
EM=2 & PY=0 CK=1	(DN) (command) (0A)	-	-	No response except to PR and L commands
EM=3 & PY=0 CK=1	(DN) (command) (0A)	-	CET command (0D) (0A)	Queued response. The last character sent is the LF

Response to echo mode - party and check sum are one (1)				
Parameter Setting	Transmission	Initial Response	Final Response	Notes
EM=0 & PY=1 CK=1	(DN) (command) (CS) (0A)	(command) Echoed back one character at a time as the character is entered.	CET (ACK) or (NAK)>	The last character sent is the prompt >
EM=1 & PY=1 CK=1	(DN) (command) (CS) (0A)	-	CET (ACK) or (NAK)>	The last character sent is ACK or NAK
EM=2 & PY=1 CK=1	(DN) (command) (CS) (0A)	-	-	No response except to PR and L commands
EM=3 & PY=1 CK=1	(DN) (command) (CS) (0A)	-	CET command (CS) (ACK) (NAK)	Queued response. The last character sent is ACK or NAK

Using Checksum

For communication using checksum, the following 2 commands demonstrate sending and receiving.

- 1. Check sum set to zero before first character is sent.
- 2. All characters (ASCII values) are added to check sum, including the device name DN (if PY=1), to the end of the command, but not including terminator.
- 3. Check sum is 2's complement, then "or" ed with hex 80 (prevents check sum from being seen as command terminator).
- 4. Terminator sent.

NOTE: Any combination of upper/lower case may be used. In this example, if a lower case <mr> were to be used, the decimal values will change to 109 and 114. Subsequently the result check sum value will change. (Possible entries: MR, mr, Mr, mR.) (M = 77, R =82, m = 109, r = 114) (See ASCII table in Section 9 of this document.)

77 82 32 49	Decimal value of M, R, \langle space \rangle and 1
4D 52 20 31	Hex
77+82+32+49 = 240	Add decimal values together
1111 0000 = 240	Change 240 decimal to binary
0000 1111	<pre>1's complement (invert binary)</pre>
0001 0000	Add 1 [2's complement]
1000 0000	OR result with 128 (Hex 80)
1001 0000 144	Result Check Sum value

Once the result is reached, add the check sum value (144 in this example) to the string by typing: MRr 1(ALT key + 0144) (use the symbol of 0144 in the string by holding down the ALT key and typing 0144).

NOTE: Type the numbers from the NumLock key pad to the right of the keyboard. The numbers at the top of the keyboard will not work.

- 1. Check sum set to zero.
- 2. All characters are added to check sum.
- 3. When receiving a command terminator, the lower 7 bits of the check sum should be equal to zero.
 - If not zero, the command is ignored and NAK echoed.
 - If zero, ACK is sent instead of CR/LF pair.
- 4. Responses to PR commands will be check summed as above, but the receiving device should not respond with ACK or NAK.

Immediate Party Mode Sample Codes

Once party mode has been defined and set up as previously described under the heading "multiple devices (party mode)", commands can be entered in immediate mode in the terminal window. Some examples follow.

Move device A, B or C 10000 steps

Assuming there are three devices set up in party mode.

- To move MDrive unit "A", press CTRL+J and then type: aMR^10000 and press CTRL+J. Device "A" will move 10000 steps.
- To print the position type: aPR p and press CTRL+J. The position of device "A" will be printed.
- To move device "B" type: bMR 10000 and press CTRL+J. Device "B" will move 10000 steps.

- To move all three devices at the same time type: *MR 10000 and press CTRL+J. All devices will move 10000 steps.
- To change a variable in the "C" unit type: cVA=<number> and press CTRL+J. The variable will be changed. To verify the change type: cPR <variable name> and press CTRL+J. The new value will be displayed.
- All commands and variables may be programmed in this manner.
- To take a device out of party mode type: <device name>PY=0 and press CTRL+J. That unit will be taken out of party mode. To take all units out of party mode type: *PY=0 and press CTRL+J. All units will be taken out of party mode.

Programming the I/O

I/O Availability per Device Type

The product families using the LMD MCode language may have different sets of I/O points and functions.

I/O Function	NEMA 17	NEMA 23	NEMA 34
	(42mm)	(57mm)	(85mm)
+5 to +24 isolated input points. Programmable to	3	4	4
multiple functions. Sink or source.			
Analog input	1	1	1
+5 to +24 VDC isolated (power) outputs, dry contact	_	2	2
configuration. Programmable to multiple functions			
High-speed, low current isolated output.	1	1	1
Programmable to multiple functions including Trip.			

Input Functions

The following table lists the programmable input functions.

Digital Input Functions				
Function	Description	Line	Туре	Active
General Purpose	General purpose input function used to control program branches, sub- routine calls or bcd functions when input bank is used as a group.	1 – 4	0	0/1
Home	Homing input. Will function as specified by the home (hm) command.	1 – 4	1	0/1
Limit +	Positive limit input. Will function as specified by the limit (Im) command.	1 – 4	2	0/1
Limit –	Negative limit input. Will function as specified by the limit (LM) command.	1 – 4	3	0/1
G0	G0 input. Will run program located at address 1 on activation.	1 – 4	4	0/1
Soft Stop	Soft stop input. Stops motion with deceleration and stops program execution.	1 – 4	5	0/1
Pause	Pause/resume program with motion.	1 – 4	6	0/1
Jog +	Will jog motor in the positive direction at max. velocity (VM). The jog enable (JE) flag must be set for this to function.	1 – 4	7	0/1
Jog –	Will jog motor in the negative direction at max. velocity (VM). The jog enable (JE) flag must be set for this to function.	1 – 4	8	0/1
Reset	When set as reset input, then the action is equivalent to a ^c entered into a terminal.	1 – 4	11	0/1
Capture	Capture input will operate with the Trip Capture (TC) trip to run a subrou- tine when active. Only applicable to input 1. Capture function not avail- able on the NEMA 17 (42 mm) LMD Motion product models.	1	12	0/1
Step/Direction	Step clock (IN3) and direction (IN4) inputs. Paired on inputs 3 and 4 only.	3 – 4	13	0/1
Encoder A/B	Encoder channel A (IN3) and B (IN4) inputs for following. Paired on inputs 3 and 4 only.	3 – 4	14	0/1
Step Up/Down	Step up (IN3) and down (IN4) inputs	3 – 4	15	0/1

Active HI/LO States Defined

Active HI/LO State Parameter Definition - Inputs

The Active HI/LO State parameter determines the relationship between an input's electrical activity and its state in the MCode software. Use the Active HI/LO State parameter of the IS command to change this relationship as shown in the examples below.

If the Active HI/LO State parameter of an input is 0, it will be high in the MCode when it is electrically active.

If the Active HI/LO State parameter of an input is 1, it will be low in the MCode when it is electrically inactive.

• To determine whether an input is electrically energized:

Measure the voltage between the input in question and the Opto Reference. If the voltage is below about 1 volt, that input is not electrically energized.

• To determine if that input is active in the MCode software in the drive: Send PR Ix where x is the input number. The return of a one (1) means it is high in software, a return of a zero (0) means it is low in software.

Examples:

Input Wiring: Opto Reference Low:



Input Wiring: Opto Reference High:



Active HI/LO State Parameter Definition - Outputs

The Active HI/LO State parameter determines the relationship between an output's state in the MCode software and its electrical conductivity. Use the Active HI/LO State parameter of the OS command to change this relationship as shown in the examples below.

If the Active HI/LO State parameter of an output is 0, it will conduct when Hi (1) in the software.

If the Active HI/LO State parameter of an output is 1, it will conduct when Lo (0) in the software.

Examples:





Output Setting	Output Conducting
OS = 1,0,0*	Output 1 will conduct when O1=1
OS = 1,0,1	Output 1 will conduct when O1=0
OS = 2,0,0*	Output 2 will conduct when O2=1
OS = 2,0,1	Output 2 will conduct when O2=0
*Default	

Output Wiring: IP65 Version



Output Setting	Output Conducting
OS = 1,0,0*	Output 1 will conduct when O1=1
OS = 1,0,0	Output 1 will conduct when O1=0
OS = 2,0,0*	Output 2 will conduct when O2=1
OS = 2,0,1	Output 2 will conduct when O2=0
*Default	

Digital Input Functions

The inputs may be interfaced as sourcing or sinking, but can not be mixed sourcing and sinking since the common is shared. An input may be programmed to be a general purpose user input, or to one of 11 dedicated input functions. These may then be programmed to have an active state of either high or low.

The inputs are configured using the "IS" variable (see Section 5: Command details). The command is entered into the terminal or program file as:

IS=<line number>,<type>,<active low/high>

Example:

IS=3,3,0 'set input 3 = limit-, active low
IS=2,0,1 'set input 2 = gen. purpose, active high

NOTE: The Sink/Source Function is defined by the bias of the Opto Reference input. Connecting the opto reference to a +5 to +24 VDC supply will provide for sinking inputs. Connecting the opto reference to Ground will provide for sourcing inputs. Refer to the LMD Motion Product's hardware manual for examples.

Digital Output Functions

The outputs may be configured as general purpose or set to dedicated functions, such as fault or moving. These outputs will sink up to 100 mA (one channel of two banks) and may be connected to an external VDC source.

The outputs are set using the "Os" command (see Section 5 of this document for precise details on this command). The command is entered into the terminal or program file as:

```
OS=<line>,<type>,<active low/high>

<u>Examples</u>:

OS=1,17,0 `set output 3 to moving, active high

OS=3,0,0 `set output 3 to be error, active low
```

Output Functions

Output functions may be programmed to be a general purpose user output with the following functions. Shaded areas apply only to units with an internal encoder installed.

Digital Output Functions					
Function	Description	Line	Туре	Active	
General Purpose User	A general purpose output can be set in a program or in immediate mode to trigger external events. When used as a group they can be a BCD output.	1 — 3	16	0/1	
Moving	Will be in the active state when the motor is moving.	1 — 3	17	0/1	
Software error	Will be in the Active State when a error occurs	1-3	18	0/1	
Stall	Will be in the active state when a stall is detected. Encoder required, stall detect mode (SM) must be enabled.	1 — 3	19	0/1	
Velocity Changing	Will be in the active state when the velocity is changing. Example: during acceleration and deceleration.	1 — 3	20	0/1	
Locked Rotor	Will be in an active state when the rotor is locked on MDrive Hybrid products	1 — 3	21	0/1	
Moving to Position	Will be active when the motor is indexing to a commanded position.	1 — 3	23	0/1	
Hybrid Active	Will be active when the Hybrid control circuitry is engaged.	1 — 3	24	0/1	
Make Up Active	Will be active when the Hybrid is correcting lead/lag conditions.	1 — 3	25	0/1	
Trip	Trip output applies to output 3 only, active low only	3	28	0	
Attention	When active, indicates a status or statuses as configured by the AO variable.	1 — 3	29	0/1	

Programmable Input/Output Usage Examples

The code examples below illustrate possible interface examples for using the digital I/O.

Reference the hardware manual of the device for connection and wiring information.

Example 1: Input Interface - Go Input

The following programming example applies when a switch connected to activate Input 3.

Code Sample:

For this code sample, the input will be set up as a G0 input, Active HI/LO State = 0. When electrically active, the input will launch the program beginning at address 1 in device memory:

```
'[VARIABLES]
\tt Is=3\,,4\,,0 'Set Input 3 TO Be A GO Input, ON In MCode When Electrically Active
        'Set Input 3 debounce to 50 milliseconds
D3=50
[PROGRAMS]
PG 1
                 'Enter Program Mode at location 1
 P=0
                 'Set P to zero
 MR 20000
                'Move +20000 Steps Relative TO Current Pos
                'Hold Program Execution Until Motion Completes
  н
  MR -20000
                'Move -20000 Steps
 н
                'Hold Program Execution Until Motion Completes
  PR " P=", P
                'Print position
  Е
                 'End Program
PG
                'Exit Program Mode
s
'[END]
```

Example 2: Input Interface - Soft Stop

The following programming example applies when a switch to activate Input 1.

Code Sample:

For this code sample, this input will be set up as a Soft Stop input, Active HI/LO State = 1. When electrically inactive, the input will stop the motor:

```
Is=2,5,1'Set Input 2 TO Soft Stop, on in MCode When electrically inactiveSL 200000'Slew the Motor At 200000 Steps/Sec
```

When the output is electrically inactive, the motor will decelerate to a stop.

Example 3: Output Interface - Velocity Changing

The following programming example applies when a load is connected to an output point configured for Velocity Changing.

Code Sample:

For this code sample, the load will be an LED. The motor is configured so the LED will be lit while the motor is stopped or at constant velocity. Input 2 will be set up as a Soft Stop input, Active HI/LO State = 1. When electrically inactive, the input will stop the motor:

While the motor is accelerating, the LED will be on. Once the motor reaches a constant velocity, the LED will turn off. When the Soft Stop input goes off, the motor will begin to decelerate. The LED will go on again while velocity is changing.

Example 4: Output Interface - General Purpose

The following programming example applies when a load is connected to output 1.

Code Sample:

For this code sample, the load is an LED. The output is configured to be a general purpose user output that will be turned on briefly when a range of motion is complete:

'[VARIABLES]				
Os = 1,16,0 'Set Output 1 = General Purpose, Electrically Active When Set TO 1				
'[PROGRAMS]				
PG 1 'Enter Prog	ram Mode At Address 1			
MR 2000000	'Move in The Positive Direction			
н	'Hold Execution Until Motion Completes			
MR -1000000	'Move X Distance Negative Direction			
H	'Hold Execution Until Motion Completes			
01 = 1	'Set Output 1 ON			
H 1500	'Hold for 1500 milliseconds			
01 = 0	'Set Output 1 OFF			
PG	'Exit Program Mode			
S	'Save to Flash			
'[END]				

Enter EX 1 to execute the program. The motion will occur, and the output will turn on.

Example 5: Reading Inputs as a Group

The inputs may be read as a group using the IN keyword. This will display as a decimal between 0 to 15, representing the 4 bit binary number. The IN keyword will function on the 42mm (NEMA 17) devices, but will only read inputs 2 - 4.

NOTE: Results of the IN keyword are not affected by debounce or setting of Active Hi/Lo State in the IS command.

PR IN 'Reads Inputs 4(MSB) - 1(LSB)

Example 6: Interfacing Outputs as a Group

Outputs may be written to as a group using the OT keywords. This will set the outputs as a binary number displaying a decimal between 0 to 7, representing the 3 bit binary number on the 57 mm (NEMA 23) and 85 mm (NEMA 34) devices, but will have no practical use on 42 mm (NEMA 17) devices. The outputs should be configured to the general purpose user type (OS=<line>,16).

OT=5 'set the binary state of the combined I/O to 101

Analog Input Usage

The analog input is configured from the factory as a 0 to 5V, 12 bit resolution input (IS = 5,9,0). This offers the user the ability to receive input from temperature, pressure, or other forms of sensors, and then control events based upon the input.

The value of this input will be read using the I5 instruction, which has a range of 0 to 4095, where 0 = 0 volts and 4095 = 5.0 volts. The analog input may also be configured as 0 to 10 vols (IS = 5,9,1) for a 4 to 20 mA (IS = 5,10,0) or 0 to 20 mA Analog Input (IS = 5,10,1). If used as a 4 to 20mA input the range is 0 to 3200 units.

Sample Usage:

`*********Main Program**********				
IS=5,9,0	'set analog to read voltage (0 to +5VDC)			
PG 100	'start prog. address 100			
LB A1	'label program A1			
CL A2, 15<500	'Call Sub A2, If I5 is less than 500			
CL A3, I5>524	'Call Sub A3, If I5 is greater than 524			
BR A1	'loop to Al			
*******Subroutines*********				
LB A2	'label subroutine A2			
MA 2000	'Move Absolute 2000 steps			
н	'Hold program execution until motion ceases			
RT	'return from subroutine			
LB A3	'label subroutine A3			
MA -2000	'Move Absolute -2000 steps			
н	'Hold program execution until motion ceases			
RT	'return from subroutine			
E	'End			
PG	'Exit program			

Factors Impacting Motion Commands

Motor Steps

All LMD MCode examples assume 200 step motors. They rotate at 1.8° per full step. 200 steps would equal 1 revolution.

Microsteps divide the 200 motor steps into smaller steps to improve smoothness and resolution of the LMD MCode compatible device. Using the default setting of 256 for MS, the 200 motor steps are increased to 51200 microsteps. One motor revolution requires 51200 microsteps with the ms set at 256. If MS is set to 128, one revolution of the motor would now require 25600 microsteps.

Move Command

The move absolute (MA) and the move relative (MR) commands are programmed in microsteps or if the encoder is enabled, encoder counts. If MS is set at 256 and programmed a move of 51200 microsteps, the motor would turn one full revolution. If the ms was set to 128, one full revolution of the motor would be 25600 microsteps (128 x 200). If programming a move of 51200, the motor would turn 2 full revolutions.

Control with Encoder Enabled (EE=1)

If the encoder is enabled the move commands use different values. The encoder has 1000 lines and yields 4000 counts or counts per revolution. Therefore, the MR and MA command values are programmed in encoder counts. One full revolution would be programmed as mr or ma 4000.

The value of MS will remain at its previous set value if the Encoder is enabled (EE=1).

When using an LMD with Encoder Enabled, the minimum setting for MS is 50. To determine the minimum value of MS when using an LMM, refer to EL to calculate.

Linear Movement

If using a rack and pinion or a ball screw to move a linear axis: The rack and pinion or ball screw moves the linear axis 0.1 inches for each revolution. To move 7.5 inches:

7.5 inches divided by 0.1 inches = 75 motor revolutions.

Assuming an MS of 256 (51200 Microsteps) is programmed, 51200 Microsteps x 75 revolutions requires a move of 3840000 microsteps.

Knowing the values of the variables as well as the required move, it is possible to calculate the actual time it takes to move the axis the required distance. This is done with a trapezoidal profile as shown below.



Calculating Axis Speed (Velocity)

There are several steps required to determine the actual axis speed. They are all based on the Trapezoidal Profile above.

Known Values and Parameters:

VM	
VI	
A	
D	
MA/MR	

Determine the Acceleration (A) and Deceleration (D) times (t1 and t3). Since the Deceleration (D) value is also 1000000 Steps/Sec. The Deceleration time (t3) will be the same as the Acceleration time (t1).

 $(t1 \text{ and } t3) = \frac{VM - VI}{A}$ OR $\frac{768000 - 1000}{1000000}$ = 0.767 Seconds

Determine the distance (Steps) traveled in t1 or t3.

Distance $\frac{VM + VI}{2}$ x t1 **OR** $\frac{768000 + 1000}{2}$ x 0.767 = 294911 steps Determine the t2 time.

The t2 time is calculated by dividing the remainder of MA/MR by VM.

The remainder of MA/MR = MA/MR - (t1 steps + t3 steps) or 3840000 - 589056 = 3250944.

 $t2 = \frac{3250944}{768000} = 4.233$ Seconds

Determine the total time. (t1 + t2 + t3) or (0.767 + 4.233 + 0.767) = 5.767 Seconds

The linear axis took 5.767 seconds to move 7.5 inches or an average speed of 78 inches/ minute.

Note that the average speed includes the Acceleration and Deceleration. The maximum axis speed attained is approximately 90 inches/minute.

768000 51200 x 0.1 x 60 = 90 IPM

Calculating Rotary Movement

Assume that MS is set to 256 and using the motor to drive a shaft with a timing belt and pulley arrangement. As shown below, the pulley is 1" in diameter and the shaft pulley is 2.5" in diameter. The shaft must turn 270°.

- The shaft will rotate 1 full revolution for every 2.5 revolutions of the motor.
- 270° is 0.75 of a revolution.
- 0.75 x 2.5 = 1.875 motor revolutions to turn the shaft 270°.
- If 51200 Microsteps is 1 motor revolution, then the device must be programmed to move 96000 Microsteps (51200 x 1.875).

Many of the calculations can be performed in reverse to calculate motor moves to meet a required move of the device. A linear or rotational move as well as speed may be translated into an LMD MCode command.



Rotary drive example 2

In the example above, the belt driven rotary table must be turned 110° at 3 RPM. How should the device be set up?

Bear in mind that all the numbers are approximate due to rounding.

Mechanical ratio between the motor and the rotary table is 2.666:1. That is, the motor must rotate 2.666 revolutions for the table to rotate 1 revolution and the table will rotate 2.666 times slower than the motor.

In order to move the table 110° the motor must move 293.3°.

110 x 2.66 = 293.3°

If 51200 steps = 1 revolution then 1° = 142.222 steps.

 $\frac{51200}{360}$ = 142.222 steps
The LMD MCode device must be programmed to move 41713 steps to rotate 293.3°.

142.222 steps x 293.3° = 41713 steps

In order to rotate the table at 3 RPM the motor must turn at 8 RPM.

3 RPM x 2.666 = 8 RPM

If VM is set at 51200 and MS set at 256 the motor will rotate 1 full revolution (51200 steps) in 1 second or 1 RPS. In order to rotate at 8 RPM, the motor must rotate at 0.13333 RPS.

 $\frac{8}{60}$ = 0.133333 RPS

In order to rotate at 0.13333 RPS the VM must be set at 6827 steps/sec.

51200 x 0.133333 = 6827 VM = 6827

NOTE: These numbers will vary slightly depending on Acceleration and Deceleration rates.

Programming with the Optional Encoder Enabled

An optional 1000 line magnetic encoder is available. When the Encoder is enabled (EE=1) the programming also changes. All motion must now be programmed by the encoder counts. The Encoder operates in the "Quadrature" format. That is, there are four Encoder counts for each Encoder line or 4000 counts per revolution (1000 × 4 = 4000). (See Figure below.) If programming motion using the MR (Move Relative) or MA (Move Absolute) commands the motor would rotate a distance equal to the encoder counts.



(4 Encoder Pulses per Encoder Line)

Example:

A programmed move of 14000 counts would result in the motor rotating 3.5 revolutions at a velocity controlled by VM.

$14000 \div 4000 = 3.5$ revolutions

If programming motion using the SL (Slew) command the motor would rotate at a "counts per second" rate based on the programmed value.

Example:

A SL (Slew) rate of 14000 counts was programed. The motor will rotate at 14000 counts/ sec., 3.5 RPS, or 210 RPM.

$$14000 \div 4000 = 3.5 \text{ RPS} \times 60 = 210 \text{ RPM}$$

When the Encoder is enabled, the parameters are also changed to be compatible with the 4000 counts.

If EE=0 and the device is at default settings, setting EE to 1 will cause the following parameters to be recalculated and set to the following values:

VM	
VI	
A	
D	

To enable the encoder the program syntax is $\langle EE=n \rangle$ where n is a zero (0) or a one (1). The default is zero (0) which is encoder disabled. To enable the encoder, program EE=1.

The encoder counts is continuously updated and stored in C2, regardless of the EE setting.

When EE=0, motion settings and commands are

NOTE:

- Once enabled, the encoder is always enabled and counting in C2

— Set EE at the beginning of the program and to avoid confusion during programming. Changing the EE setting will recalculate A, D, VI, and VM.

Any motion will now be programmed in encoder counts. It is possible to calculate the distance or velocity needed in a similar manner as done previously only with different factors.

NOTE: The microstep select is defaulted and locked at 256 in the encoder mode to ensure stable, high resolution.

Several Variables work in conjunction with Encoder Enable (EE). They are:

DB	Encoder Deadband
SF	The Stall Factor Variable
SM	The Stall Detection Mode
ST	Stall Flag
PM	Position Maintenance
EE	Encoder Enabled

When the encoder is enabled, all motion is "closed loop". That is, motion steps are delivered from the LMD MCode device to the motor which turns the encoder. The encoder sends counts back to the drive to complete the motion. If programming a move of 2048 counts, the device would output an appropriate number of microsteps provided the stall factor (SF) value or other fault is not encountered. If no faults were encountered, the device would output the full amount of microsteps. Depending on which variables were set, the driver would then wait until the position (plus or minus the encoder deadband) was read and confirmed.

DB - Encoder Deadband

The Encoder Deadband is a Variable that is set in Encoder Counts. Motion will be deemed complete when the Encoder Counts are within \pm the Deadband variable. With DB=5 the motion of 2048 counts would be complete between 2043 and 2053 counts.

SF - Stall Factor

The Stall Factor is a Variable which is entered in Encoder Counts. The Stall Factor is active only in the EE=1 mode. The Stall Factor might be compared to the "following error" or "lag error" of a servo drive. The Stall Factor is triggered by the number of steps output from the device to the motor as compared to the number of counts returned by the encoder. The comparison should always be within the value of the Stall Factor, otherwise a fault will occur and the Stall Flag (ST) will be set. If the Stall Detection Mode is active (SM=0), the motion will be stopped.

Example:

A Stall Factor of 30 counts (SF=30) is programmed. A motion command of 2048 counts is programmed. The device reaches a mechanical bind at 2000 counts. The device will keep outputting steps equivalent to 2030 counts (present position plus the SF value) and then the Stall Flag (ST) will be set. The motor will be stopped if the Stall Detection Mode (SM=0) is active.

SM - Stall Detection Mode

The Stall Detection Mode can be programmed to stop the device (SM=0) or to allow the device to continue (SM=1) when the Stall Factor (SF) is reached. Whether SM is active or not, the Stall Flag will always be set when the SF is encountered.

ST - Stall Flag

The Stall Flag will be set any time the SF is reached regardless of the state of the Stall Detection Mode (SM). If the Stall Flag is set, the user must reset it to zero (0).

PM - Position Maintenance

Position maintenance (PM) is active only after the motion has completed. Position maintenance is used to maintain position when there might be an external force on the drive. If position maintenance is enabled (PM=1) and the stall detection mode is enabled (SM=0), the motor will be driven back to its final position if it was forced out of position provided the stall factor (SF) was not reached.

If position maintenance is enabled (PM=1) and the stall detection mode is disabled (SM=1), the motor will be driven back to its final position if it was forced out of position regardless of whether the stall factor (SF) was reached or not.

There are three other variables, although not directly conned to EE, that do affect the overall operation when in encoder mode, they are:

HC	Motor Hold Current
HT	Motor Hold Current Delay Time
MT	Motor Settling Delay Time
НС	

When motion is complete, the device will switch from motor run current (RC) to motor hold current (HC). The hold current is set at a lower percentage than the run current (rc). However, the hold current must be sufficient to overcome an outside force such as driving a vertical slide which maintains a load on the motor at all times. Actual hold current values will vary depending on the application and the load on the motor when it is at rest.

HT - Motor Hold Current Delay Time

The motor hold current delay time (HT) is a variable that delays the change from run current (RC) to hold current (HC) at the end of a move. The end of the move is triggered by the device when it has completed outputting the correct number of steps. Depending on the application, including velocity, deceleration, load and inertia, the device may lag behind a few counts. The HT will allow the device to finish its move before applying the lower HC.

MT - Motor Settling Delay Time

A stepping motor may ring or oscillate in minuscule amounts at the completion of a move until it satisfies the target position. The amount of this "ringing" is dependent on the application including velocity, deceleration, inertia, friction and load. The motor settling delay time (MT) allows the motor to stop "ringing" before checking the position count. If the device tried to check the position count during this ringing, it would assume a position error and try to correct an already moving motor and possibly cause ringing of a larger magnitude and longevity. Typically, the MT is set between 50 and 100 milliseconds. It is recommended that there is always a Motor Settling Time programmed any time EE=1 mode.

NOTE: If MT has no value, the motor may hunt and never satisfy the position check.

LMM PWM Configuration

Description

This variable defines the parameter settings for the PWM and should not be used unless problems with motion, such as smoothness or positional accuracy, are experienced.

The PW variable consists of four components: <mask>, <period>, <sfrq> and <ctrl>.

PWM Mask <mask> Parameter

The PWM mask signal prevents the premature end of the forward period caused by switching transients when the motor phase current is at low levels. Adjusting this value can impact the zero-crossing performance of the motor. If experiencing the "tick", which is inherent in stepper motor systems, this may be minimized or eliminated by adjusting this value. The range of this value is 0 to 255 and will be entered as a decimal value. The Mask will act as a filter on the PWM signal to allow time for any ringing in the output circuitry to settle. This range represents a 8-bit Hex value that specifies the Bridge Reverse Measure Time (REVTM) and the Minimum Bridge Forward On Time (FORTM) ranging from 600 nS to 3.4 μ S each (see table and diagram below). Typically these values would be balanced. The table below shows the decimal value for each time.

NOTE: These are typical values and the currents may be unbalanced to fine tune the motor performance. The default value for this parameter is 204 (0xCC), which represents a Reverse Measure Time and Minimum Forward On Time of 2.5 μ S.

	PWM Mask Settings								
Hex	Time	Hex	Time	Π	Hex	Time		Hex	Time
0x0	600 ns	0x4	1.0 µs		0x8	1.6 µs		0xC	2.5 µs
0x1	700 ns	0x5	1.1 µs		0x9	1.8 µs		0xD	2.8 µs
0x2	800 ns	0x6	1.2 µs		0xA	2.0 µs		0xE	3.1 µs
0x3	900 ns	0x7	1.4 µs		0xB	2.2 µs	Ī	0xF	3.4 µs



	Typical PWM Mask Settings							
Mask (hex)	Mask (dec)	REVTM	FORTM	Ma (he	ısk ∋x)	Mask (dec)	REVTM	FORTM
0x00	0	600 ns	600 ns	0x8	88	136	1.6 µs	1.6 µs
0x11	17	700 ns	700 ns	0x9	9	153	1.8 µs	1.8 µs
0x22	34	800 ns	800 ns	0x/	١A	170	2.0 µs	2.0 µs
0x33	51	900 ns	900 ns	0xE	BB	187	2.2 µs	2.2 µs
0x44	68	1.0 µs	1.0 µs	0x0	CC	204	2.5 µs	2.5 µs
0x55	85	1.1 µs	1.1 µs	0xD	DD	221	2.8 µs	2.8 µs
0x66	102	1.2 µs	1.2 µs	0xE	E	238	3.1 µs	3.1 µs
0x77	119	1.4 µs	1.4 µs	0xF	F	255	3.4 µs	3.4 µs

Maximum PWM Duty Cycle (%) <period> Parameter

This parameter sets the maximum duty cycle as a percentage of the bridge PWM oscillator period. The range for this parameter is 0 to 95%. Entries above 95% will generate an out of range error (Error 21) and will not allow the setting to be written to the boot.

The default value for this parameter is 95%

The PWM Frequency Parameter sets the initial and maximum frequencies for the PWM. As with the MASK parameter, the PWM Frequency is a two part 8-bit hex number which is entered as a decimal value ranging from 0 to 255.

The default for this 170 (0xAA) with an initial PWM Frequency of 20 kHz and a Maximum of 60 kHz.

PWM Frequency <sfrq> Parameter

	Initial PWM Frequency, kHz									
Hex	Freq.		Hex	Freq.		Hex	Freq.		Hex	Freq.
0x0	10		0x4	14		0x8	18		0xC	22
0x1	11		0x5	15		0x9	19		0xD	23
0x2	12		0x6	16		0xA	20]	0xE	24
0x3	13		0x7	17		0xB	21		0xF	25

	Maximum PWM Frequency, kHz							
Hex	Freq.	Hex	Freq.	Hex	Freq.	Hex	Freq.	
0x0	40	0x4	48	0x8	56	0xC	2.5 µs	
0x1	42	0x5	50	0x9	58	0xD	2.8 µs	
0x2	44	0x6	52	0xA	60	0xE	3.1 µs	
0x3	46	0x7	54	0xB	62	0xF	3.4 µs	



PWM Frequency Range 24 to 50 kHz

PWM Control <pwm_ctl> Parameter

Quiet		SYNC-EN	Recirc		TODLY		Enable	
0	-	1	0	0	0	1	1	

	PWM Control Settings							
Parameter	Description	Settings						
Quiet	 Minimal bridge activity to electrically "quiet" 	0 = Disabled (Default) 1 = Enabled						
	 Only useful stopped or at very low speed 							
SYNC-EN	 Synchronizes phase current to step once per cycle. 	0 = Disabled 1 = Enabled (Default)						
	 Prevents audible "beating" of step to PWM 							
Recirc	 Designates where bridge current recirculates 	0 = Lower Half (Default) 1 = Upper Half						
TODLY	 Delay before any bridge FET turns on 	0 = 350 ns, 50 ns resolution 1 = 50 ns (Default)						
Enable:	 May be cleared by an external event 	0 - Bridge Disabled 1 = Bridge Enabled (Default)						

Example PWM Settings by Motor Specifications

The following settings are based upon settings per motor specifications and should serve as a baseline to work from with regard to the manufacturer specifications of the motor being utilized. **NOTE**: These are example settings ONLY!

			Examp	le PWM Settings				
Frame Size	Stack Size	Phase Current (ARMS)	Phase Resistance (Ω)	Phase Inductance (mH)	MASK <mask></mask>	Duty Cycle <period></period>	Frequency <sfreq></sfreq>	Control <pwm_ctl></pwm_ctl>
	Single	1.0	3.5	2.3	204	95	170	37
11	Double	1.4	1.77	1.56	136	95	170	37
	Triple	1.5	1.65	1.48	136	95	170	37
14	Single	0.75	4.30	4	102	90	170	35
	Single	1.5	1.30	2.1	136	90	170	35
17	Double	1.5	2.10	5.0	136	90	170	35
	Triple	1.5	2.00	3.85	136	90	170	35
	Single	2.4	0.95	2.4	136	90	170	35
23	Double	2.4	1.20	4.0	136	90	170	35
	Triple	2.4	1.50	5.4	136	90	170	35
			<u>^</u>	•	^	1	а 	
	Single	6.3	0.25	1.6	168	95	170	35
34	Double	6.3	0.35	3.3	220	95	170	35
	Triple	6.3	0.50	6.6	253	95	170	35
LMM Default		-			204	95	170	

Chapter 4 Hybrid Motion Technology (hMT)

NOTE: This section only applies to LMD Motion Control and LMD Ethernet Closed Loop products.

What's in this Chapter?

This chapter includes the following topics:

Торіс	Page
hMT Overview	153
hMT Modes of Operation	155
Position Make-up	157
Locked Rotor	159
hMT Specific Error Codes	159
Glossary of Terms	159

hMT Overview

hMT is a proprietary closed loop technology combining stepper motors with servo control that prevents the loss of synchronization due to transient or continued overload, extreme acceleration or deceleration, or excessive slew speed.

hMT Basics

hMT control technology enables the multi-mode functionality of the LMD by overcoming two major limitations inherent to stepper motor systems:

- Loss of motor synchronization and subsequent stalling.
- Excessive motor heated due to limited current control options

Loss of Synchronization

Synchronized motion in a stepper motor requires that the lead/lag relationship between the rotor and stator be within +/- 2 motor full steps. As this relationship drifts toward the 2 step point the torque available to the load is reduced, with maximum constant torque available at the <= 1 full step point.

Conditions that can cause the stepper motor to lose synchronization and stall are:

Rotor lags stator:

- Acceleration is too rapid to apply enough torque to overcome the inertia of the load.
- Transient load condition at velocity; i.e., load being increased on a conveyor.

Rotor leads stator:

- Deceleration is too rapid to hold the load within the +/- 2 full step range.
- Overhauling load condition where the momentum of the load is greater than the torque supplied to maintain constant velocity.



Variable Current Control

Historically, stepper motor drivers operate at two adjustable current levels:

- 1. Running current (the current level in use when the shaft is moving).
- 2. Holding or reduction current (the current level in use when the shaft is at rest).

Variable current control uses hMT to accurately measure and track the rotor-stator relationship and apply current as needed, such as during acceleration or deceleration, then reducing the current to the level required to move the load when the axis is at velocity. This can lead to greater power efficiency and a cooler running motor.

Position Make-up

When active, the position make-up function stores the difference between commended pulses and actual motor steps in a register. At the completion of the move, the lead or lag pulses will be reinserted into the profile and moved to the commanded position at one of two velocity presets.

Overview of Motor Phase Current

The motor phase current of the drive is influenced by the following factors:

- The setting of <u>RC (Run Current)</u>.
- The setting of <u>HC (Hold Current)</u>.
- The setting of HT (Hold Current Delay Time).
- Current control defined as fixed or variable.



hMT Modes of Operation

There are four (4) operational modes for the hMT, which is configured using <u>AS (hMTechnol-ogy Mode)</u>:

- 1. hMT Off (AS=0)
- 2. hMT On (AS=1) fixed current
- 3. hMT On (AS=2) variable current)
- 4. Torque control (AS=3)

The selected mode will have a major effect on how the device will operate during a move.

The hMT operating mode may also be changed either through programming or immediately, provided a move is not in progress.

If AS=1, 2, or 3, the encoder should not be enabled. Ensure that EE=0.

hMT Off (AS=0)

With the hMT disabled (**As=0**), the motion block of the device will operate as a standard integrated stepper controller/drive/motor.

Commands for absolute (<u>MA</u>) or relative (<u>MR</u>) positioning, or slew at velocity (<u>SL</u>) are received via the communications port and processed as commanded, bypassing the hMT logic block.



The current control will be fixed at the set <u>RC (Run Current)</u> and <u>HC (Hold Current)</u> percent levels.

NOTE: Encoder functions are not available in this mode.

hMT On (Fixed Current) (As=1)

In fixed current mode (AS=1) the rotor/stator relationship is maintained within set control bounds using the integrated encoder.

Commands for absolute (<u>MA</u>) or relative (<u>MR</u>) positioning, or slew at velocity (<u>SL</u>) are received via the communications port and processed through the hMT logic block. Feedback from the encoder is compared with commanded clock pulses from the velocity generator. The output of this comparison is used to keep the rotor-stator relationship within the control bounds, thus eliminating loss of synchronization. The variance between commanded position and actual position is stored in the lead/lag register (<u>LL</u>) and is used to perform a position correction move if make-up (<u>MU</u>) is enabled.

The device will use the RC (Run Current) and HC (Hold Current) settings for bridge current.

Common encoder functions, such as stall detection and position maintenance, are disabled when fixed current mode is selected.



hMT On (Variable Current) (As=2)

With hMT enabled in variable current mode (AS=2), the hMT will function as described for hMT On (Fixed Current), with the exception that current control will be in variable mode.

In variable current mode, the hMT will adjust the bridge current to the amount required to move the load. The set run current (\underline{RC}) will be used as the maximum threshold.

Using hMT Mode 2 can significantly increase the energy efficiency and reduce the motor heating. The following graphic shows thermal performance of an LMDCM572 NEMA 23 (57 mm) running at 25% current at a speed of 2000 motor steps per second.

The first set of measurements reflect the motor running at a constant velocity. The second set show the motor running back and forth at a duty cycle of 50%.



With hMT in variable current mode, the device will use less power and run cooler, depending on load and duty cycle.

Common encoder functions, such as stall detection and position maintenance, are disabled when variable current mode is selected.

hMT On (Torque Mode) (As=3)

With hMT in torque mode (AS=3), the hMT will maintain constant torque on the load at the speed required to maintain that torque.

The amount of torque used is set using the torque percent (\underline{TQ}) parameter. The maximum speed for torque mode is set using the torque speed (\underline{TS}) parameter. The torque direction (\underline{TD}) flag may be used to control the direction of rotation.

Common encoder functions such as stall detection and position maintenance are disabled when torque mode is selected.

Make-up (MU) is disabled when in torque mode.

Position Make-up

Make-up mode is active whenever hMT is on in fixed (AS=1) or variable (AS=2) current mode. Make-up compensates for position errors resulting from a disturbance during a move by reinserting missed steps into a motion profile as conditions allow. The MU mode selected defines how that compensation occurs.

MU=0: Make-up happens without regard to time. In this mode missed steps are added to the motion profile to end the move at the commanded position. The speed at which the error compensation occurs is determined by the point in which the disturbance leading to the error occurs.

As shown in the diagram below, should the disturbance occur at during acceleration or at velocity, steps are added at the set maximum velocity (\underline{VM}). Should the disturbance occur during deceleration, the axis will creep into position at the set initial velocity (\underline{VI}).



MU=1: Make-up occurs as the load allows with regard to the timing of the move. In this mode, error compensation occurs by missed steps being inserted into the profile. The hMT algorithm will integrate steps into the move, attempting to complete the motion profile on time. Missed steps are reinserted when the lead/lag relationship of the rotor and stator is <=1.1 motor full steps.

As shown in the diagram below, during make-up active in mode 1, the steps will be generated at a rate (frequency) that is a composite of the maximum velocity (\underline{VM}) or commanded slew rate (<u>SL</u>) and the set make-up (<u>MU</u>) frequency. This frequency will be the greater of 2 X (VM or SL) or MU.



MU=2: In mode 2 error compensation will occur similar to mode 1 at the highest velocity the load will allow without regard to VM, but at a velocity not exceeding 2560000 steps/sec (3000 RPM).

NOTE: When the motor shaft is torqued out of position without any commanded motion, make-up will occur at \leq MF (MU=1) or at \leq 3000 RPM (MU=2).

Acceleration During Make-up

Make-up acceleration occurs at 16,763,806 steps/sec². The VI setting for make-up is 916 steps/sec. These are fixed values that cannot be changed by the user.

Locked Rotor

A locked rotor is defined as no rotor movement while at the maximum allowed lag for a specified period of time, after which a <u>LR (Locked Rotor</u>) condition is activated and results in an Error code. When lag becomes equal to the bounds, a timer starts to count down. Upon reaching zero, a locked rotor will be indicated by a status flag. The timer reloads on any encoder movement. The timer timeout period is user selectable from 2mS to 65.5 seconds using the <u>LT (Locked Rotor Timeout)</u> variable.

When configured as a step/direction drive or in speed control mode, a locked rotor will also cause an internal fault disabling the motor bridges. The bridges may be re-enabled by cycling power, cycling the enable input, or via software command.

In torque mode, a locked rotor does not disable the bridges. The locked rotor flag can be used to indicate the rotor has been stopped at the specified torque for a pre-set amount of time.

100	Configuration test done, encoder resolution mismatch
101	Configuration test done, encoder direction incorrect
102	Configuration test done, encoder resolution and direction incorrect
103	Configuration not done, drive not enabled
104	Locked rotor. The Locked Rotor flag will also be active (LR=1). Clear by issuing a CF (Clear Locked Rotor Fault).
105	Maximum position count reached
106	Lead limit reached
107	Lag limit reached
108	Lead/lag not zero at the end of a move
109	Calibration failed because drive not enabled.
110	Make-up disabled.
111	Factory calibration failed

hMT Specific Error Codes

Glossary of Terms

Control bounds: Control bounds establish the rotor/stator lead and lag relationship. Control bounds may be set to one of 4 parameters ranging from 1.1 to 1.7 motor full steps. When hMT is active, the technology will maintain the relationship within those boundaries, eliminating motor stalls.

Lag: The amount (in full motor steps) that the rotor lags the stator. Lag conditions are caused by loading on the motor shaft, as during transient loading or rapid acceleration.

Lead: The amount (in full motor steps) that the rotor leads the stator. Lead conditions are caused by an overhauling load, as during periods of rapid deceleration.

Loss of synchronization: In traditional stepper systems, when the lead/lag relationship of the rotor and stator reaches two full motor steps, the alignment of the magnetic fields is broken and the motor will stall in a freewheeling state. hMT eliminates this.

Locked rotor: When the lag/lead limit is reached, a timer starts a countdown that is determined by the user. The locked rotor will assert itself by triggering a flag and, depending on the selected mode, by disabling the output bridge.

Position lead/lag: hMT continually tracks the position lead or lag error, and may use it to correct position.

Position make-up: When active, the position make-up can correct for position errors occurring due to transient loads. The lost steps may be interleaved with incoming steps, or reinserted into the profile at the end of a move.

Variable current control: When active, variable current control will control the motor current as such to maintain the torque and speed on the load to what is required by the profile. This leads to reduced motor heating and greater system efficiency.

Appendix A Sample Programs

This appendix contains example programs designed to aid the user in discovering the LMD MCode programming language.

Additional sample programs and resources are available from the following website: <u>https://novantaims.com/resources/</u>

NOTE: Each of the programs can be copied and pasted into the Motion Control Programmer. However, confirm that the program pasted correctly before downloading and running it on the device. If a line return is missed or punctuation does not appear as expected, the program will not run correctly and errors may occur.

Move on an Input

```
'[VARIABLES]
'This block contains the global variable and system
'configuration information.
Is=1,0,0
Ms=256
Vi=200000
Vm=2500000
A=1000000
D=A
H_{C}=2
Rc=75
P=0
'[PROGRAMS]
'The program block for this application sets the event
'that triggers the subroutine call when input 1 is active
'and loops when I1=inactive
PG 1
LB Ga
              'Program execution label
  P=0
LB G1
              'Loop back label
  CL Kb, 11=1
  H 10
  BR G1
Е
'Subroutine from trigger event will execute a ten
'revolution positive move, hold, then return to 0 in the
'negative direction and repeat as long I1=1
LB Kb
             'subroutine label
  MA 512000
  н
  MA 0
  н
  RT
PG
              'exit program
S
'Keep this line to save program on load
'[END]
```

Enter EX Ga or EX 1 in the terminal tab to run.

Change Velocity During a Move

This program will demonstrate ability to change speed during move. The device does not have ability to change speed during point to point move, so we use the slew command with position trips. End position trip, decel and slew speed determine actual ending position. Program is written to print ending position to serial port 10 times for averaging, expected end position = 102400.

```
'[VARIABLES]
'This block contains the global variable and system
'configuration information.
Hc=20
Rc=100
'[PROGRAMS]
PG 1
'Program label Ga sets local variables and register
'values. These are re-initialized each time the program
'is executed.
LB Ga
  Vi=20000
  Vm=500000
  A=500000
  D=800000000
  R1=0
  R2=0
'Label Gx sets the trip response and Performs Register
'Math to print final position
LB Gx
  P=0
  Tp=51200,Kb
  Te=2
  SL 101200
  н
  H 250
  IC R1
  R2=R2+P
  BR Gx,R1<10
  R2=R2/100
  PR "Average end pos = ",R2
  Е
'[SUBROUTINES]
'Subroutine Kb, when called by Tp=51200 increases the 'axis ve-
locity by 50%
LB Kb
  SL 202400
  Tp=102290,Kc
  Te=2
  RT
'Subroutine Kc, when called from Kb ends the motion
'sequence
LB Kc
  SL 0
  н
  RT
PG
S
'Keep this line to save program on load
[END]
```



Binary Mask

This program will demonstrate ability to execute various subroutines depending on the binary value of inputs 1-3 while masking all i/o above input 3.

```
'[VARIABLES]
'Define I/O configuration
Is=1,0,0
Is=2,0,0
Is=3,0,0
Is=4,0,0
Os=1,16,0
'Set up system variables
Vi=20000
Vm=1000000
A=500000
D=A
Hc=20
Rc=75
'[PROGRAMS]
'The main program block is labeled SU 'a keyword which
'will execute the program on power up.
PG 1
LB Su
  P=0
'The block G1 will call various subroutines based upon
'the weight of the inputs which is stored in register R1
LB G1
  R1=In
  R1=R1 & 7
  01=0
  CL K0,R1 = 0
  CL K1,R1 = 1
  CL K2,R1 = 2
  CL K3, R1 = 3
  CL K4,R1 = 4
  CL K5, R1 = 5
  CL K6, R1 = 6
  CL K7, R1 = 7
  H 10
  BR G1
  E
'[SUBROUTINES]
'These 8 routines will rotate the motor
'1 time for each input bit and repeat
'the input weight changes
LB KO
  PR "Logic 000"
  MR R1*51200
  н
  01=1
  H 2000
  RT
LB K1
  PR "Logic 001"
  MR R1*51200
  н
  H 200
  RT
```

LB K2 PR "Logic 010" MR R1*51200 н H 200 \mathbf{RT} LB K3 PR "Logic 011" MR R1*51200 н н 200 RT LB K4 PR "Logic 100" MR R1*51200 н H 200 RT LB K5 PR "Logic 101" MR R1*51200 н H 200 RT LB K6 PR "Logic 110" MR R1*51200 н H 200 \mathbf{RT} LB K7 PR "Logic 111" MR R1*51200 н H 200 RT PG s 'Keep this line to save program on load '[END]

Program will execute on power on or software reset (CTRL+C)

Closed Loop

This program illustrates closed loop control with an On Error (OE) routine which will perform math functions on the counters to display the position error.

```
'[VARIABLES]
Rc=80
Mt=50
'hMT off and encoder functions enabled and configured
As=0
Ee=1
Sf=15
Sm=0
'motion variables are scaled to encoder counts instead of 'micro-
steps
A=20000
D=A
Vi=2048
Vm=15000
'user variable created to hold move count
VA Q1
'[PROGRAMS]
'program block Ga sets the on error handle routine to
'call K1
PG 1
LB Ga
  OE K1
  P=0
'program block Gb contains the motion loop which will run
'100 times
LB Gb
  MR 51200
  н
  H 500
  MR -51200
  н
  H 500
  IC Q1
  BR Gb,Q1<100
  CL K1
Е
'[SUBROUTINES]
'Subroutine K1 sets the response for the on-error
'handler. It will perform some math to 'determine the
'position error in encoder counts, as well as display the
'error # if one occurs.
LB k1
  R3=C1/25
  R1=R3 - C2
  PR "Counts error = ",R1
  PR "Error = ",Er
  Er=0
  H 20
  RT
PG
S
'Keep this line to save program on load
'[END]
```

User Input into Variables

This program demonstrates the ability to hold up program execution while the user enters multiple variables. Uses variable K1 and K2 to enter the amount and direction of motor rotation.

```
'[VARIABLES]
'System configuration variables
Ms=256
Vi=200000
Vm=2500000
A=1000000
D=A
Hc=10
Rc=75
'Globally defined user variables to contain 'input data
VA K1=0
VA K2=0
VA K3=51200
VA K4=0
'[PROGRAMS]
'Program labeled Su will start on power on 'or software reset.
Will zero the position 'counter and wait 2 sec before dropping to
'program block Z1
PG 1
    LB Su
    P=-0
    PR "At Home Position"
    H 2000
'Block will request a number of desired 'revolutions and insert
the number into 'variable K1
LB Z1
     PR "Enter the number of revolutions in whole numbers"
     TV K1
     LB X1
     BR X1, If=1
     H 50
'Block will request a direction of 'rotation and insert the num-
ber into 'variable K2, then call the appropriate 'subroutine
with error checking for 'invalid entries
 LB X4
     PR "Enter rotation direction (0) neg. (1) pos."
     IV K2
     LB X2
     BR X2, If=1
     H 50
     BR Y1,K2=0
     BR Y2,K2=1
     PR "Invalid Entry"
     BR X4
'X6 will orient the final position of the axis
'to the terminal screen
LB X6
     VA K5
     K5=P/K3
     PR "Axis position is ", K5, " absolute from home"
     H 3000
'Block X5 will initiate following the commanded
'move with an option to re-run or quit
LB X5
     PR "Repeat program (1) or quit (0)"
     IV K4
     LB X3
     BR X3, If=1
```

```
BR Z1, K4=1
BR Z2, K4=0
     PR "Invalid Entry"
     BR X5
'[SUBROUTINES]
'The following branch routines will
'calculate the move distance and
'direction and execute the move
LB Y1
     MR -K3*K1
     н
     BR X6
LB Y2
     MR K3*K1
     н
     BR X6
'[END]
LB Z2
PR "Program Ended"
Е
PG
s
'Keep this line to save program on load
```

Closed Loop with Homing

This program demonstrates the use of the home to home switch instruction (HM) in closed loop, also there is a move on input routine.

The Homing method used is HM1, which will slew at VM (Max Velocity) in the negative direction, when input 1 is activated, the axis will creep in the plus direction at VI (Initial Velocity). See the MCode Home to home switch command and change the homing method to experiment with different methods of homing. Output 1 is set to activate when the axis is moving. Stalling the motor will generate an error, activating output 2.

```
'[VARIABLES]
'Global variable declarations
Ee=1
Vm=4096
Vi=Vm/50
A=20480
D=A
H_{C}=50
Rc=50
Mt=50
'Encoder setup
Sf=20
Sm=0
Db=5
'I/O setup
Is = 1, 1, 0 'Homing input
Is = 2, 0, 1 'General purpose input
Os = 1, 17, 1 'Moving output
Os = 2, 18, 1 'Error output
D1=100
'[PROGRAMS]
'Main program will home in mode 1 Slew minus @ VM until 'to find
home switch then creep plus @ VI
PG 1
LB G1
   H 1000
   PR C1 ,C1
   PR C2 ,C2
   Pm=1
   PR "Position counter: " C1
   PR "Encoder counter: " C2
   H 5000
   HM 1
   н
   P=0
'After homing, motor will move @ 7186 steps each move
'printing position each time
 LB G2
   BR G2, I2=1
   MR 7186
   н
   PR "Position: " P
   BR G2
Е
PG
S
'Keep this line to save program on load on load
```

Input Trip

This program demonstrates the use input trips. The LMD Motion product will perform a short 1 revolution move in each direction repeating four times when input 1 is toggled.

When using a mechanical switch, remember to set the input filtering to avoid erroneous trips.

IMPORTANT! Trip Rules:

- 1. Trip must be enabled using Te=<num> following the trip definition.
- 2. Only a single input trip may be defined in a program.
- 3. Trip must be re-enabled to re-execute trip.

```
'LMD Motion Module DEMO PROGRAM
'Last modified 12/13/12
'[VARIABLES]
VA Q1
D1=255
'[PROGRAMS]
'Program will run a motion
'profile on an input toggle
PG 1
LB G1
  Ti = 1, X1
  Te = 1
  LB G2
  Q1 = 0
  BR G2
Е
'Motion profile
LB X1
  IC Q1
  MR 51200
  н
  MR -51200
  н
  BR X1, Q1 < 4
  Te = 1
  RT
  Е
        ' End of Program
PG
S
'Keep this line to save program on load
```

Position Teach (Encoder Required)

This program allows the user to "teach" the LMD Motion product a +/- move profile based on manually positioning the motor shaft. The shaft is manually moved to a position, then an input is toggled to store that position in encoder counts to a user variable. The shaft is moved to second position, the input is again toggled to store the second position in a second variable.

The motor will then move between the two stored positions.

```
'LMD Motion Module DEMO PROGRAM
'Last modified 12/14/12
'[VARIABLES]
VA Q1 = 0
VA Q2 = 0
D1 = 255
D2 = 255
'hMT off, encoder enabled
As=0
Ee=1
'[PROGRAMS]
'Program stores a +/- move p profile based on encoder
'counts set by manually positioning the motor shaft
'An input toggle stores the encoder counts to a user 'variable.
PG 1
LB Su
   \mathbf{Er} = \mathbf{0}
   C2=0
   Q1 = 0
   02 = 0
   PR "Move motor to position 1"
   PR "Toggle switch 1 when ready"
LB X1
   BR X1, I1 = 0
   Q1 = C2
   PR Q1
LB X2
   BR X2, I1 = 1
   PR "Move motor to position 2"
   PR "Toggle switch 1 when ready"
LB X3
   BR X3, I1 = 0
   Q2 = C2
   PR Q2
LB X4
   BR X4, I1=1
   PR "Toggle Sw 2 to start cycle"
LB X5
   BR X5, I2 = 0
   LB X6
   MA Q1
   н
   PR P
   H 250
   MA Q2
   н
   PR P
   H 250
   BR X5
Е
PG
                  ' End of Program
S
'Keep this line to save program on load
```

Analog Speed Control

This program demonstrates the use of the analog input in a speed control application.

The program subroutine performs calculations using the user registers R1-R4 and slews the axis bidirectionally based upon the value seen on the analog input.

Hardware requirement: $10k\Omega$ potentiometer connected to the Analog input.

```
'LMD Motion Module DEMO PROGRAM
'Last modified 12/14/12
'[VARIABLES]
Os = 1, 20, 1 'Velocity changing output
A=2000000
D=2000000
R4=80
'[PROGRAMS]
'The main program block calls
'subroutine to calculate a slew rate
'based on the value of I5
PG 1
LB G1
   R1 = I5
   CL Z1
   SL R3
   H 10
   BR G1
Е
'Subroutine performs calculation
'to vary the velocity based upon
'the analog input
LB Z1
   R1 = R1 - 2032
   R2 = 1
   BR Z2, R1>=0
   R2 = -1
   R1 = R1 * R2
LB Z2
   BR Z3,R1<R4
   R1 = R1 * 625
   R3 = R1 * R2
RT
LB Z3
   R3=0
RT
Е
PG
S
'Keep this line to save program on load
```

Analog Slew with Stall Detect

This program will use the analog input reading to ram the velocity until the motor stalls. When the stall occurs, an error is generated.

A subroutine is triggered by the error to:

Print the Error number and stalled sate of the motor,

```
'LMD Motion Module DEMO PROGRAM
'Last modified 12/13/12
'[VARIABLES]
As=0
Ee=1
Sf=30
'[PROGRAMS]
'Main program will assign
'a register to do math on the value of the analog
'input and slew the register value. An on-error event
'calls a subroutine to register stall
PG 1
LB Su
   OE X1
   Er=0
   R1=I5
   R1=R1*50
   SL R1
   PR V
   H 250
   BR Su
Е
'[SUBROUTINES]
'on error routine
LB X1
   PR "Error! " Er
LB Y1
   BR Y2,Er <> 86
   PR "Stall"
LB Y2
   Er=0
Е
PG
                       ' End of Program
s
'Keep this line to save program on load
```

Multiple Position Trips

This program will use the position trip function multiple times to change position and velocity, each time printing the position and velocity to the terminal screen.

```
'LMD Motion Module DEMO PROGRAM
'Last modified 02/21/2013
'Distance traveled is V * 12 sec.
' 33 RPM * 0.2 min = 6.6 revs. X 51200 uSteps = 337920 uStp.
' 66 RPM * 0.2 min = 13.2 revs. X 51200 uSteps = 675840 uStp.
'100 RPM * 0.2 min = 19.8 revs. X 51200 uSteps = 1013760 uStp.
' Slew Rate is V/60 * 51200 uSteps/sec.
' 33 RPM /60 Sec. X 51200 uSteps = 28160 uStp./Sec.
' 66 RPM /60 Sec. X 51200 uSteps = 56320 uStp./Sec.
'100 RPM /60 Sec. X 51200 uSteps = 85333 uStp./Sec.
'Step 1 V=33RPM
'Step 2 V=66RPM
'Step 3
         V=100RPM
'Step 4
         V=66RPM
'Step 5
         V=33RPM
'Step 6 V=-33RPM
'Step 7 V=-66RPM
'Step 8 V=-100RPM
'Step 9 V=-66RPM
'Step 10 V=-33RPM
'STEPS
    1
        2
             3
                  4
                      5
                           6
                                7
                                    8
                                          9
                                              10
                                                         Ds
'[VARIABLES]
VA SP=33*51200/60 'Step 1 speed 33 RPM * 51200 Stp/rev /60 s/m
VA DS=50000 'Length of first step.
'[PROGRAMS]
PG 1
  R1=0
  P=0
            'set position counter to 0
  LB AA
    PR ""
    PR "Starting Step 1
                          P=",P,"
                                     V=",V
    Tp DS,X1
    Te=2
    Vm=SP
                'Step 1 speed 33 RPM * 51200 Stp/rev /60 s/m
    MA DS*9,0,1
    LB G1
      BR G1,R1=0
      R1=0
      BR Aa
    Е
```

```
'[SUBROUTINES]
'Each sub will move a dist at a velocity
'then redefine and re-enable the trip
'Step 2 speed 66 RPM * 51200 Stp/rev /60 s/m
 LB X1
   PR " Starting Step 2 P=",P," V=",V
   Vm= SP*2
   MA DS*9,0,1
   Tp DS*3,X2
   Te=2
   RT
'Step 3 speed 100 RPM * 51200 Stp/rev /60 s/m
 LB X2
   PR " Starting Step 3 P=",P," V=",V
   Vm= SP*3
   MA DS*9,0,1
   Tp DS*6,X3
   Te=2
   RT
'Step 4 speed 66 RPM * 51200 Stp/rev /60 s/m
 LB X3
   PR " Starting Step 4 P=", P, " V=", V
   Vm= SP*2
   MA DS*9,0,1
   Tp DS*8,X4
   Te=2
   RT
'Step 5 speed 33 RPM * 51200 Stp/rev /60 s/m
 LB X4
          Starting Step 5 P=",P," V=",V
   PR "
   Vm= SP
   MA DS*9 ',0,1
   Tp DS*9,X5
   Te=2
   RT
'Step 6 speed 33 RPM * 51200 Stp/rev /60 s/m
 LB X5
   PR "
            Starting Step 6 P=",P," V=",V
   Vm= SP
   MA 0,0,1
   Tp DS*8,X6
   Te=2
   RT
'Step 7 speed 66 RPM * 51200 Stp/rev /60 s/m
 LB X6
             Starting Step 7 P=",P," V=",V
   PR "
   Vm= SP*2
   MA 0,0,1
   Tp DS*6,X7
   Te=2
   RT
'Step 8 speed 100 RPM * 51200 Stp/rev /60 s/m
 LB X7
   PR "
             Starting Step 8 P=",P," V=",V
   Vm= SP*3
   MA 0,0,1
   Tp DS*3,X8
   Te=2
   RT
```

```
'Step 9 speed 66 RPM * 51200 Stp/rev /60 s/m
 LB X8
   PR "
               Starting Step 9 P=",P," V=",V
   Vm= SP*2
   MA 0,0,1
   Tp DS,X9
    Te=2
   RT
'Step 10 speed 33 RPM * 51200 Stp/rev /60 s/m
  LB X9
                Starting Step 10 P=",P," V=",V
    PR "
   Vm= SP
   MA 0
   н
   PR "
                                  P=", P, " V=", V
                 Back at Start
   R1=1
   RT
 \mathbf{PG}
s
'Keep this line.
```

Analog to Time Delay

This program demonstrates setting a delay rate based on the analog input.

```
PG 1
OE G1
S1 = 16, 0, 0
S2 = 16, 0, 0
LB G2
 PR "Change the analog voltage to show a changing repeat rate"
 H 50
LB G3
 R1=I5
                   'Save I5 to R1
 R2=R1/10
                   'Scale the analog input value
 R4=!R4+2
                   'Toggle R4 (invert it)
                  'Toggle output 1
 01=R4
 02=!R4+2
                  'Toggle output 2
 PR "R2 =",R2 'Test print string
 H R2
                  'Hold for the milliseconds in R2
 H 30
                   'Hold for thirty milliseconds
 BR G3
                   'Branch back to G3
 Е
LB G1
 PR "Error =",Er
 Er=0
 RT
PG
S
'Keep this line
```

MDrive Input Test

This program demonstrates and tests the MDrive Inputs.

```
PG 1
OE G1
R1=0
R2=0
LB G0
   S1=0,0,0
   S2=0,0,0
   S3=0,0,0
   S4=0,0,0
   PR "Toggle inputs to see change of state"
   PR
   PR
LB G6
   PR "I1=",I1," I2=",I2," I3=",I3," I4=",I4
   H 250
   BR G6
   Е
LB G1
 PR "Error =",Er
  Er=0
  RT
PG
S
'Keep this line
```

MDrive Output Test

'Program demonstrates and tests the MDrive Outputs.

NOTE: Verify that outputs are not shorted or overloaded before running

PG 1 OE G1 R1=0 R2=0 LB GO IV R2 PR "VERIFY THAT OUTPUTS ARE NOT SHORTED OR OVERLOADED BEFORE " PR " Running this test" PR PR "type 1<enter> to test Outputs" LB G10 BR G10, If=1 LB G2 PR "Program is now test cycling the Outputs" H 1000 R1=0 **S1=**16,0,0 S2=16,0,0 s3=16,0,0 S4=16,0,0 LB G4 BR G3,R1<16 R1=0 LB G3 PR "R1=",R1 н 250 Ot=R1 IC R1 BR G4 Е LB G1 PR "Error =",Er Er=0 RT PG s 'Keep this line

Trip on Falling and Rising Edge

Program will trip on both falling and rising edge of Trip/Capture input

```
Ee=1
R1=0
R2=0
A=400000
D=A
PG 1
LB KO
   BR K2,11=0
   PR " Input 1 is on, it should be off."
LB K2
   BR K2, I1=1
   S13 = 60, 0
   Tc=K1
   Te=4
   SL 40000
   R2=0
LB G1
   BR G1
   Е
LB K1
   R1 = Pc
   PR "Tripped R1= ",R1, " Is=",Is
   PR "R1=",R1
   BR K11, R2=1
   S13 = 60, 1
   Te=4
   R2=1
   RT
LB K11
   R2=0
   S13 = 60, 0
   Te=4
   RT
PG
S
'Keep this line.
```

Trip on Time

'Program slews the motor at 60 RPM = 1 RPS, sets a trip on time for 1 second, then slews at 2 RPS and re-enables the trip and repeats.

```
PG 1
  Tt 1000,X1
              'Set up trip on time
 R1=0
LB G1
 SL 51200
               'Slew at 1 revolution per second
  Te 8
               'Enable trip on time
LB G2
               'Other program functions
 BR G2
               'Loop to keep program running
LB X1
              'Trip on time subroutine
 IC R1
               'Increment R1
 SL 0
               'Stop
              'Wait for Mv=0
 н
              'Move absolute back to zero
 MA 0
 н
              'Wait for Mv=0
 SL 102400
             'Slew at 2 revolutions per second
 PR "Tripped ",R1," Times" 'Send text to update trip count
 Te 8
               'Enable trip on time
 RT
PG
S
'Keep this line
```

A question mark <?> displayed as a cursor indicates an error. To determine what the error is, type <pr er> in the terminal window. The device will respond with an error number displayed in the terminal window. The error number may then be referenced to this list.

LMD Error Codes

Error Code	Description				
0	no error				
I/O Errors					
1	OUT 1 fault				
2	OUT 2 fault				
6	An IO already set to this Type				
7	Tried to SET an Input or Defined I/O not used				
8	Tried to SET IO to an incorrect I/O type				
9	Tried to Write to IO set as Input or is "TYPED"				
10	Illegal I/O number				
11	Incorrect CLOCK type				
12	INPUT 1 not set to Capture Input type				
Data Errors					
20	Tried to SET Unknown Variable/Flag				
21	Tried to SET to an incorrect value				
22	VI set greater than or equal to VM				
23	VM set less than or equal to VI				
24	Illegal Data Entered.				
25	Variable or Flag is Read Only				
26	Variable or Flag not allowed to be Incremented or Decremented				
27	Trip Not Defined				
28	Trying to Redefine a Program Label or GLOBAL User Variable				
29	Trying to Redefine an Embedded Command or Variable				
30	Unknown Label or User Variable				
31	Program Label/User Variable Table is Full				
32	Trying to SET a Label				
33	Trying to SET an Instruction				
34	Trying to Exec a Variable or Flag				
35	Trying to Print Illegal variable or flag				
36	Illegal Motor Count to Encoder Count Ratio				
37	Command/Variable/Flag Not Available in Drive				
38	Missing parameter separator				
39	Trip on Position and Trip on Relative distance not allowed together				
Error Code	Description				
------------	--	--	--	--	--
	Program Errors				
40	Program Not Running				
41	Program Running				
42	Illegal Program Address				
43	Tried to OverFlow Program STACK				
44	Program Locked				
45	Trying to Overflow Program Space				
46	Not in Program Mode				
47	Tried to write to illegal Flash Address				
48	Program Execution Stopped by IO set as STOP				
	Communication Errors				
60	Tried to Enter Unknown Command				
61	Trying to set illegal baudrate				
62	An INPUT is already pending.				
63	Character Over Run				
65	SPI Bus Error.				
66	Transmit buffer filled while a program is running.				
67	(Ethernet Interface Only) Firmware mismatch between Ethernet and Motion Control firmware. This error will be displayed in the TCP/IP App Ver. box.				
	System Errors				
70	FLASH Check Sum Fault				
71	Internal Temperature Warning				
72	Internal OVER TEMP Fault. Disabling Drive				
73	Tried to SAVE/RTFD/PG while Moving				
74	Tried to IP or CP while Moving				
75	ASIC STAT/FAULT = true (current/temp/other)				
76	MakeUp Frequency is out of range. Must be >= 92 and <= 3000 RPM.				
77	VM or VI or SL or TS too large for selected MSEL.				
78	Aux V out of range (too high or too low)				
79	Plus V out of range (too high or too low)				
	Motion Errors				
80	HOME Sw. not defined				
81	HOME type not defined				
82	Went to both LIMITs and didn't find HOME				
83	Reached Positive LIMIT Sw				
84	Reached Minus LIMIT Sw				
85	MOVES not allowed while HOMING and HOME not allowed while MOVING				
86	Stall Detected				
87	Not allowed to change AS Mode while in motion				
88	MOVES not allowed while Calibration in progress.				
89	Calibration not allowed while in Motion.				
90	Motion Variables (VI and/or VM) are too low				
91	Motion Stopped by IO set as STOP				
92	Position Error				
93	New MR or MA not allowed while correcting position at end of previous MR or MA				

Error Code	Description			
94	Motion Commanded while Drive Disabled.			
95	Not allowed to change Rotation Direction (Rd) while in motion.			
96	Not allowed to start motion with no +V.			
97	Calculated Final Velocity less than VI.			
98	Move generates illegal s-curve Accel Data.			
99	Move generates illegal s-curve Decel Data.			
	hMTechnology Errors			
100	Config Test Done - Encoder Res Mismatch			
101	Config Test Done - Encoder Dir Wrong			
102	Config Test Done - Encoder Res + Dir Wrong			
103	Config NOT Done - Drive not enabled			
104	hMT Locked Rotor			
105	hMT Reached Max P Count			
106	hMT Reached Lead Limit Count			
107	hMT Reached Lag Limit Count			
108	hMT Lead/lag not zero at end of move			
109	hMT Calibration failed because Drive Not Enabled.			
110	hMT Make Up Disabled.			
111	hMT Factory Calibration failed.			
	Absolute Encoder Errors			
120	Absolute encoder factory calibration failed			
121	Absolute encoder communication failed.			
122	Absolute encoder was reset and position was lost.			
123	Unable to compute new absolute encoder Count.			
124	Status Error.			
125	Battery hardware failure, Magnetics.			
126	External battery overvoltage			

LMD Motion Module Error Codes

Error Code	Description		
0	no error		
I/O Errors			
1	OUT 1 fault		
2	OUT 2 fault		
6	An IO already set to this Type		
7	Tried to SET an Input or Defined I/O not used		
8	Tried to SET IO to an incorrect I/O type		
9	Tried to Write to IO set as Input or is «TYPED»		
10	Illegal I/O number		
11	Incorrect CLOCK type		
12	INPUT 1 not set to Capture Input type		
13	LMM Motor Phase Over Current Fault		
14	LMM Enable Pin set to Disable		
Data Errors			
20	Tried to SET Unknown Variable/Flag		
21	Tried to SET to an incorrect value		

Error Code	Description				
22	VI set greater than or equal to VM				
23	VM set less than or equal to VI				
24	Illegal Data Entered.				
25	Variable or Flag is Read Only				
26	Variable or Flag not allowed to be Incremented or Decremented				
27	Trip Not Defined				
28	Trying to Redefine a Program Label or GLOBAL User Variable				
29	Trying to Redefine an Embedded Command or Variable				
30	Unknown Label or User Variable				
31	Program Label/User Variable Table is Full				
32	Trying to SET a Label				
33	Trying to SET an Instruction				
34	Trying to Exec a Variable or Flag				
35	Trying to Print Illegal variable or flag				
36	Illegal Motor Count to Encoder Count Ratio				
37	Command/Variable/Flag Not Available in Drive				
38	Missing parameter separator				
39	Trip on Position and Trip on Relative distance not allowed together				
	Program Errors				
40	Program Not Running				
41	Program Running				
42	Illegal Program Address				
43	Tried to OverFlow Program STACK				
44	Program Locked				
45	Trying to Overflow Program Space				
46	Not in Program Mode				
47	Tried to write to illegal Flash Address				
48	Program Execution Stopped by IO set as STOP				
	Communication Errors				
60	Tried to Enter Unknown Command				
61	Trying to set illegal baudrate				
62	An INPUT is already pending.				
63	Character Over Run				
65	SPI Bus Error.				
66	Transmit buffer filled while a program is running.				
	System Errors				
70	FLASH Check Sum Fault				
71	Internal Temperature Warning				
72	Internal OVER TEMP Fault. Disabling Drive				
73	Tried to SAVE/RTFD/PG while Moving				
74	Tried to IP or CP while Moving				
75	ASIC STAT/FAULT = true (current/temp/other)				
76	MakeUp Frequency is out of range. Must be >= 92 and <= 3000 RPM.				
77	VM or VI or SL or TS too large for selected MSEL.				
79	Plus V out of range (too high or too low)				
	Motion Errors				
80	HOME Sw. not defined				
81	HOME type not defined				
82	Went to both LIMITs and didn't find HOME				
83	Reached Positive LIMIT Sw				
84	Reached Minus LIMIT Sw				

	·		
Error Code	Description		
85	MOVES not allowed while HOMING and HOME not allowed while MOVING		
86	Stall Detected		
90	Motion Variables (VI and/or VM) are too low		
91	Motion Stopped by IO set as STOP		
92	Position Error		
93	New MR or MA not allowed while correcting position at end of previous MR or MA		
94	Motion Commanded while Drive Disabled.		
95	Not allowed to change Rotation Direction (Rd) while in motion.		
96	Not allowed to start motion with no +V.		
97	Calculated Final Velocity less than VI.		
98	Move generates illegal s-curve Accel Data.		
99	Move generates illegal s-curve Decel Data.		

Index

Symbols

^ (XOR) 124
<= (Less Than or Equal) 123
<> (Not Equal) 122
< (Less Than) 123
= (Equal) 122
>= (Greater Than or Equal) 123
> (Greater Than) 123
| (OR) 124
& (AND) 124
/ (Division) 122
* (Multiplication) 121
! (NOT) 125
- (Subtraction) 121

A

A (Acceleration) 33 AB (Absolute Value) 125 Addition (+) 121 AF (hMT Status) 33 AJ (Acceleration Jerk) 34 AL (List All Parameters) 34 AND (&) 124 AO (Attention Output Mask) 35 Arc Cosine 126 Arc Tangent 129 AS (hMTechnology Mode Select) 36 AT (Acceleration Type) 37 AV (Approximate hMT Velocity) 37

B

BD (BAUD Rate) 38 BE (Backlash Enable) 39 BL (Backlash Amount) 39 BM (Backlash Mode) 40 BP (Break Point) 41 BR (Branch) 41 BY (Program Busy) 42

С

C1 (Motor Step Counter 1) 43 C2 (Encoder Counter 2) 44 Calculating Rotary Movement 142 C_ (Arc Cosine) 126 CB (Control Bounds) 45 CE (Software Reset Enable) 46 CF (Clear Locked Rotor) 46 CK (Checksum Mode) 47 Using Checksum 133 CL (Call Subroutine) 48 Command Compatibility 27 All Products 27 hMTechnology Specific 31 LMD Motion Module 31 LMD Serial Products 30 Commands 33 **Common Variables and Instructions** 17 I/O Instructions 20 Motion Instructions 19 Program Instructions 23 System Instructions 23 Variables 17 Compatible Product List 10 CP (Clear Program Memory) 48 **CS (Cosine)** 126 CW (Clock Width) 49

D

D1 - D4 (Digital Input Filter) 50 D5 (Analog Input Filter) 50 DB (Encoder Deadband) 51, 145 DC (Decrement Variable) 51 D (Deceleration) 49 DE (Drive Enable/Disable) 52 DG (Disable Global) 52 Division (/) 122 DJ (Deceleration Jerk) 53 DN (Device Name) 54 DT (Deceleration Type) 54

Ε

Echo Mode 132 EE (Encoder Enable) 19, 55 E (End Program) 55 EF (Error Flag) 56 EL (Encoder Lines) 56 EM (Echo Mode) 57 Encoder Deadband 145 Equal (=) 122 ER (Error Register) 58 Error Codes 179 hMT Specific 158 LMD 179 LMM 181 ES (Escape Mode) 59 Ethernet Protocols 10 EX (Execute Program) 59

F

F1 — F8 (Floating Point Registers) 60
Factory Defined Flags

Read Only 14
Read/Writable 14

Factory Defined Variables

Read Only 14
Read/Write 14

FC (Filter Capture) 61
FD (Factory Defaults) 61
Flags 14

Factory Defined Flags 14

FL (Following Mode Enable) 62
FM (Filter Motion Inputs) 63
FS (Index Offset Setting) 64
FT (Reserved) 64

G

Greater Than (>) 123 Greater Than or Equal (>=) 123

Н

HC (Hold Current) 65 HF (Home to Offset) 66 H (Hold Program Execution) 65 HI (Home to Index Mark) 67 HM (Home to Home Switch) 67 hMTechnology 19 Homing Types 68 HT (Holding Current Delay) 69, 147 Hybrid Motion Technology (hMT) 151 Basics 152 Glossary of Terms 158 hMT Off (Bypass) 154 hMT On (Fixed Current) 154 hMT On (Torque Mode) 156 hMT On (Variable Current) 155 Modes of Operation 154 Motor Phase Current 153

11 - 14 (Read Input 1-4) 69 15 (Read Analog Input) 70 16 (Read Encoder Index) 70 IC (Increment Variable) 71 IN (Read Inputs as Group) 72 Instruction Types 13 I/O 13 Motion 13 Program 13 System 13 I/O Active States 135 Analog Input Usage 140 Availability per Device Type 134 **Digital Input Functions 136 Digital Output Functions 137** Input/Output Usage Examples 138 Programming 134 IP (Initialize Parameters) 72 IS <1-4> (Input Setup IN1-IN4) 73 IS <5> (Analog Input Setup) 74 IS <6> (Encoder Index Setup) 74 IT (Read Internal Temperature) 75 IV (Input to Variable) 75

J

JE (Jog Enable) 76

K

Keywords 15

L

LB (Declare User Label) 77 LD (Lead Limit) 77 Less Than (<) 123 Less Than or Equal (<=) 123 LG (Lag Limit) 78 Linear Movement 141 LK (Lock User Program) 79 L (List Program Space) 76 L_ (Logarithm Base 10) 127 LL (Position Lead/Lag Count) 78 LMD MCode Components 13 LMD Software Suite 10 LM (Limit Response Mode) 80 Locked Rotor 158 LO (Logarithm Base 2) 126 LR (Locked Rotor) 81 LSS 10 LS (Software Limits) 82 LT (Locked Rotor Timeout) 82

Μ

MA (Move Absolute) 83 Math Functions 15, 32 Math, Logic, and Trigonometric Operators 121 MD (Motion Mode) 84 MF (Make-up Frequency) 84 Motor Hold Current Delay Time 147 Motor Settling Delay Time 147 Motor Steps 140 Move Command 140 MP (Moving to Position) 85 MR (Move Relative) 86 MS (Microstep Resolution) 87 MT (Motor Settling Delay) 88, 147 Multiplication (*) 121 MU (Position Makeup) 88 MV (Moving) 89

Ν

NE (Numeric Enable/Disable) 89 NOT (!) 125 Not Equal (<>) 122

0

O1, O2, O3 (Set Output) 90 OE (On Error Handler) 90 OF (Output Fault) 91 Operational Modes 13 Immediate Mode 13 Program Execution Mode 13 OR (|) 124 OS <1-3> (Output Setup OUT1 - OUT3) 92

Ρ

Party Mode 46
Party Mode Communications 131

Echo Mode Response 132
Sample Codes 133

PC (Position Capture at Trip) 94
PF (Print Format) 94
PG (Program Mode) 95

PI (3.141592654) 127 PM (Position Maintenance) 96, 146 PN (Part Number) 96 Position Maintenance 146 Position Make-up 156 P (Position Counter) 93 Programming Aids 16 Comments 17 Motion Control Interface 16 Programming Reference 17 User labels 16 Program Structuring 16 PR (Print Specified Data and/or Text) 97 PS (Pause Program) 98 **PWM Configuration** 147 Maximum PWM Duty Cycle 148 PWM Control 149 PWM Frequency 149 PWM Mask 147 PWM Settings 150 PW (PWM Mask) 98 PY (Party Mode) 46, 99

Q

QD (Queued) 100

R

R1-R4 (User Register) 100 RA (Radians or Degrees) 101 RC (Run Current) 101 RD (Rotation of Direction) 102 RP (Referenced Position) 102 RS (Resume Program Execution) 103 RT (Return From Subroutine) 103

S

Sample Programs 160 Analog Slew with Stall Detect 171 Analog Speed Control 170 Binary Mask 162 Change Velocity During a Move 161 Closed Loop 164 Closed Loop with Homing 167 Input Trip 168 Move on an Input 160 Multiple Position Trips 172 Position Teach (Encoder Required) 169

User Input into Variables 165 S_ (Arc Sine) 128 SA (Step Angle) 105 SF (Stall Factor) 106, 146 SI (Sine) 127 SL (Slew at Velocity) 106 SM (Stall Detection Mode) 107, 146 SN (Serial Number) 107 SQ (Square Root) 128 Square Root 128 S (Save to FLASH) 104 Stall Detection Mode 146 Stall Factor 146 ST (Stall Flag) 108, 146 Subtraction (-) 121 SU (Execute Program on Startup) 108

Т

Tangent 129 T_ (Arc Tangent) 129 TA (Trip on hMT Status) 109 TC (Trip on Capture) 109 TD (Torque Direction) 110 TE (Trip Enable) 110 TG (Tangent) 129 TI (Trip on Input) 111 TM (Trip on Main Power Loss) 111 TP (Trip on Position) 112 TQ (Torque Percent) 112 TR (Trip on Relative Position) 113 TS (Torque Speed) 113 TT (Trip on Time) 114

U

UG (Firmware Upgrade) 114 User Defined Variables Global variables 14 Local variables 14 User Labels 16 UV (Read User Variable) 115

V

VA (Define User Variable) 116
Variables 13

Factory Defined Variables 14
User Defined Variables 14

VB (Abs. Encoder Backup Voltage) 116

VC (Velocity Changing) 117 VF (hMT Velocity Filter) 117 VI (Initial Velocity) 118 VM (Maximum Velocity) 118 V (Read Axis Velocity) 115 VR (Version) 119 VT (Read Voltage) 119

W

WT (Warning Temperature) 120

X

XOR (^) 124

Warranty

For the latest warranty and product information, visit <u>https://novantaims.com/warranty-and-disclaimer/</u>.

Document Revision History

Document Number: LMD-MCODE-V2.06					
Date	Revision	Changes			
05/02/2013	V1.00, 02.2013	Initial Release			
01/10/2013	V1.00, 10.2013	Lexium MDrive Motion Control and Ethernet support release.			
04/07/2014	V1.00, 01.2014	Support for firmware release 5.007 - Added status marker for the read voltage level (VT) command.			
04/24/2014	V1.00, 04.2014	Support for firmware release 5.009			
08/15/2014	V1.00, 08.2014	Support for firmware release 5.010, minor corrections and additions throughout.			
12/15/2014	V1.00, 12.2014	Support for firmware release 5.013, minor corrections and additions throughout.			
06/04/2015	V1.00, 06.2015	Corrected multiple Ethernet/IP cross-references.			
05/26/2016	V2.00, 05.2016	Added support for advanced math functions. Added support for the Lexium Motion Module. Reorganized to optimize usability.			
10/12/2018	V2.01, 03.2018	Added RP (Referenced Position) command, added support for LMD with absolute encoder, which adds the read-only variable VB (Backup Voltage).			
10/12/2018	V2.02, 01.2019	Updated current to LMDA firmware release 7.003. Added Error Codes for Absolute MDrive products.			
07/24/2020	V2.03, 07.2020	Updated document format, added additional sample programs, updated EtherNet and Mod- bus information per code. Updated Active States info and example programs.			
08/03/2020	V2.04, 08.2020	Updated NEMA 11 PWM settings.			
09/09/2020	V2.05, 09.2020	Corrected IT command and updated FM default.			
03/02/2022	V2.06 03.2022	Corrections to PR, TC, EM, and TR. updated command summary, added compat. to the sum- mary tables. Corrected VT parameter information. Updated to brand Novanta			

Novanta IMS is a part of the Precision Motion Group within Novanta, a leading technology company that delivers innovation to medical and advanced industrial OEMS.

As standards, specifications, and designs may change, confirmation of the information given in this publication can be found in the product disclaimer and most recent product information, available online. <u>https://novantaims.com/all-products/</u>

© 2022 Novanta IMS. All rights reserved. Photos: Novanta IMS Print: Novanta IMS To provide feedback on Novanta IMS documentation, send an e-mail to: <u>documentation@imshome.com</u>

Novanta IMS 370 North Main Street Marlborough, CT 06447 Phone: (860) 295-6102 www.novantaims.com